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Explanatory Note

Pursuant to Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X Rule 3-09 we are required to provide in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Form 10-K audited financial

statements for the CB Portfolio for the period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013 However we are unable to file the audited fmancial information

required by Rule 3-09 and have omitted such information in reliance on Rule l2b-2l promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the

Exchange Act and Rule 409 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended In connection with our acquisition of the CB Portfolio we were

required to rely upon the sellers of the CB Portfolio to provide the
necessary

information to complete the audited fmancial statements as required under Rule 3-

09 We requested such information and the former owners of the CB Portfolio cooperated in responding to such
requests however they were not able to produce

the records necessary to prepare
the required audited financial statements under Rule 3-09 As result we have included in this Form 10-K an unaudited

combined statement of revenues and certain
expenses

for the CB Portfolio for the period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013 As result of includmg

such financial information for the CB Portfolio we do not believe that the omission of the audited financial statements in accordance with Rule 3-09 will have

material impact on readers understanding of our financial condition or our results of operations
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Secunties Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act

and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe

harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and include this statement for the
purpose

of

complying with these safe harbor provisions Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by use of forward-looking terminology such as may will

should potential intend expect seek anticipate estimate approximately believe could project predict continue plan or other

similar words or expressions Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions discuss future expectations
describe future plans and strategies

contain financial and operating projections or state other forward-looking information Our ability to predict
results or the actual effect of future events actions

plans or strategies is inherently uncertain Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable

assumptions our actual results and performance
could differ materially from those set forth in or implied by the forward-looking statements Factors that may

cause our actual results performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements include but are not

limited to the following

the factors discussed in this report including those set forth under the headings Business Risk Factors and Managements Discussion of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

the performance of the student housing industry in general

decreased occupancy or rental rates at our properties resulting from competition or other factors

the operating performance of our properties

the availability of attractive development and/or acquisition opportunities in properties that satisf our investment criteria and the success of our

acquisition development and construction activities including satisfaction of conditions to closing for pending acquisitions and in some cases the

negotiation and execution of definitive documents and satisfaction of the conditions therein

changes in the admissions or housing policies of the colleges and universities from which we draw student-tenants

changes in our business and growth strategies and in our ability to consummate acquisitions or dispositions or additional joint venture transactions

our ability to manage effectively our growth and expansion into new markets including
international markets or to integrate acquisitions

successfully including our acquisition of the CB Portfolio as defined herein

changes in exchange rates for foreign currencies

our capitalization
and leverage level

our capital expenditures

the degree and nature of our competition in terms of developing properties consummating acquisitions and in obtaining student-tenants to fill our

properties

volatility
in the real estate industry interest rates and

spreads
the debt or equity markets the economy generally or the local markets in which our

properties are located whether the result of market events or otherwise

events or circumstances that undermine confidence in the financial markets or otherwise have broad impact on financial markets such as the

sudden instability or collapse of large financial institutions or other significant corporations
terrorist attacks natural or man-made disasters or

threatened or actual armed conflicts

the availability
and terms of short-term and long-term financing including financing for development and construction activities

our ability to extend the maturity of or refinance our existing debt or comply with the financial and other covenants of the agreements that govern

our existing debt

the credit quality
of our student-tenants and parental guarantors

changes in personnel including
the departure of key members of our senior management and lack of availability of or our inability to attract and

retain qualified personnel

unanticipated increases in financing and other costs including rise in interest rates



estimates relating to our ability to make distributions to our stockholders in the future and our expectations as to the form of
any

such distributions

development and construction Costs and timing

environmental costs uncertainties and risks especially
those related to natural disasters

changes in governmental regulations accounting treatment tax rates and similar matters

legislative and regulatory changes including Changes to laws governing the taxation of real estate investments trusts REIT and

limitations imposed on our business and our ability to satisi Complex rules in order for us to qualif as REIT for U.S federal income tax

purposes
and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to qualify as taxable REIT subsidiaries for U.S federal income tax purposes and our ability

and the ability of our subsidiaries to operate effectively within the limitations imposed by these rules

When considering forward-looking statements you should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary statements in this report Readers are cautioned

not to place undue reliance on any of these forward-looking statements which reflect our views as of the date of this report The matters summarized in this

report including the factors set forth under the headings Business Risk Factors Properties and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations could cause our actual results and performance to differ materially from those set forth in or implied by our forward-

looking statements Accordingly we cannot guarantee future results or performance Furthermore except as required by law we are under no duty to and we do

not intend to update any of our forward-looking statements after the date of this report whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

PART

Item Business

Our Company

Campus Crest Communities Inc together
with its subsidiaries referred to herein as the Company we us our and Campus Crest is self-

managed self-administered and vertically-integrated REIT focused on developing building owning and managing diversified portfolio of high-quality

residence life student housing properties We were incorporated in the State of Maryland on March 12010 On October 19 2010 we completed an initial public

offering the Offering of our common stock As result of the Offering and certain formation transactions entered into in connection therewith the Formation

Transactions we currently own the sole general partner
interest and own limited partner interests in Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP the

Operating Partnership We hold substantially all of our assets and conduct substantially all of our business through the Operating Partnership The Offering

and Formation Transactions were designed to continue the operations of Campus Crest Communities Predecessor the Predecessor ii reduce outstanding

mortgage and construction loan indebtedness iii enable us to acquire
additional interests in certain of our student housing properties iv fund development

costs fund joint venture capital requirements and vi establish sufficient working capital for general corporate purposes The exchange of entities or interests

in the Predecessor for units of limited partnership
interests in the Operating Partnership OP units has been accounted for as reorganization

of entities under

common control As result our assets and liabilities have been reflected at their historical cost basis

In February 2013 we entered into purchase and sale agreements to acquire an approximate 48.0% interest in portfolio of 35 student housing properties one

undeveloped land parcel and corporate office building held by the members of Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC CBTC and Copper Beech

Townhome Communities PA LLC the CB Portfolio and fully integrated platform and brand with management development and construction teams for

an initial purchase price of approximately
$230.2 million including the repayment of $106.7 million of debt The remaining interests in the CB Portfolio are held

by certain of the former members of CBTC and CBTC PA the CB Investors In September 2013 we entered into an amendment to the above referenced

purchase and sale agreements for consideration of $4.0 million whereby we will transfer our 48.0% interest in five properties in the Copper Beech Portfolio back

to the CB Investors and defer the acquisition of two development properties as consideration for an additional 19.0% interest in each of the remaining 30

properties
in the Copper Beech Portfolio See Note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

We believe that we are one of the largest vertically-integrated developers builders owners and managers of high-quality residence life focused student

housing properties in the United States based on beds owned and under management As of December 31 2013 we owned mterests in 41 operating student

housing The Grove properties containing approximately 8151 apartment units and 22303 beds Thirty-one of our The Grove properties are wholly-owned and

ten of our The Grove properties are owned through joint ventures with Harrison Street Real Estate Capital HSRE We also owned interests in 28 operating

student housing Copper Beech branded properties containing approximately 5047 apartment units and 13177 beds Our Copper Beech properties are owned by

us and the CB Investors As of December 31 2013 our portfolio was as follows



Properties in Number Number

Operation Ownership of Units of Beds

Wholly ownedOrove properties
31 100.0% 6065 16571

Joint venture Grove properties

HSRE 499 544 1508

HSREIV 20.0% 216 584

HSREV 10.0% 662 1856

HSREVI 20.0% 664 1784

Total Grove properties
41 8151 22303

CS Portfoliot2 28 67.0 5047 13177

Tota1Portfolio1
69 13198 35480

In January 2014 we acquired the remaining ownership interest in The Grove at Denton Texas

As of December 31 2013 we had an effective interest in the CR Portfolio of 67%

The redevelopment of our 100% owned property
in Toledo OH which was acquired in March 2013 is excluded We expect to announce more details on the

redevelopment
in 2014

As of December 31 2013 the average occupancy for our 41 The Grovee properties was approximately
90.1% and the

average monthly total revenue per

occupied bed was approximately $519 Our operating properties are located in 19 states contain modem apartment units with many resort-style amenities and

had an average age
of approximately 3.7 years as of December 31 2013 As of December 31 2013 the average occupancy for our 28 Copper Beech branded

properties was approximately 96.1% and the average monthly total revenue
per occupied bed was approximately $493 Our properties are pnmarily located in

medium-sized college and university markets which we define as markets located outside of major U.S cities that have nearby schools generally with overall

enrollment of approximately 5000 to 20000 students We believe such markets are underserved and are generally experiencing enrollment growth

We have developed built and managed substantially all of our wholly-owned properties and several of our unconsolidated joint venture properties which are

based upon common prototypical residential building design We believe that our use of this prototypical building design which we have built approximately

675 times at our student housing properties approximately 15 of such residential buildings comprise one student housing property allows us to efficiently

deliver uniform and
proven

student housing product in multiple markets The majority of our operating properties other than those in the CB Portfolio evo and

Toledo operate under The Grove5 brand and we believe that our brand and the associated lifestyle are effective differentiators that create higher visibility and

appeal for our properties within their markets both with the student as well as the universities we serve

In addition to our existing properties we actively seek organic growth opportunities
We commenced building or redeveloping nine new student housing

properties in 2013 one of which is owned by ajoint venture with HSRE and Brandywine Realty Trust Brandywine in which we own 30.0% interest and act

as the co-developer one of which is owned by joint venture with Beaumont Partners SA Beaumont in which we owned 20.0% interest at December 31

2013 two of which are owned by joint venture with HSRE in which we own 30% interest one of which is being built as Copper Beech branded property in

which our ownership interest is commensurate with the remainder of the CB Portfolio and four of which are wholly-owned by us In January 2014 we began

redevelopment of one student housing property
which is owned by joint venture with Beaumont in which we own 35.0% interest The following is summary

of these developments



Eniim.tnd Scheduled

Project Opening for

Project Locution Primury university Served Omnership Unfit Bedn Cast Occopnncy

Wholly Owaude

The Grove at Slippery

Rock Slippery Rock PA Slippery Rock University 00.0 20 603 29.9 Aognst 2014

The irovu atCzaud

IrandPattkaND UlvcstyofNoethDakotn 100.0% 224 600 28.2 Aogost 2014

The Grove at Mt

Pleasant Mt Pleasant ML Ceotral Michigan University 100.0 216 554 24 August 2014

The Grove

Gaituesnitte Gatouvil1tEL Uulgtltyoflledd 100.0% 25y 676 414 AugustZOI4

Joint Venture

The Grove us University of North

Orcenshoto GrccusbnnvNC CortttinaatGpeensboro 30.0% 216 564 21.9 Aogust 2014

The Grove at Louisville Louisville KY University of Lonisville 30.0 202 656 41.2 August 2014

evo st CteaCcotee tjttlvesstty of P0005ylsanial

South Philadelphia PA Deuxei1Jnivrsity 30.0 344 85 158.5 August 2014

Copper Beech at Ames Ames IA Iowa Slate University 67.0 219 660 33.6 August 2014

MoGUl Ustecosityi

ron it Stati0tn.Satou CnneugdisUnlvenstty/

VictorIa MaistrtalQttebce LEtsiedeTechnologlc 20.0 715 1.290 82.9 August2014

evo Sheebrooke Montreal Quebec McGill University 35.0 %o3 400 952 83.5 Angsst 2014

3128 7465 551.2

Estimated project cost amounts are in millions

At December 31 2013 our ownership percentage in CSH Montreal the holding company that owns ourjoint Venture with Beaumont DCV Holdings

was 20.0% Effective January 2014 with the closing of additional property our ownership percentage increased to 35.0% See Note 18 to the

accompanying consolidated financial statements

Re-development property acquired by DCV Holdings on January 15 2014 See Note 18 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

For each of these projects we conducted significant pre-development
activities and obtained necessary zoning and site plan approvals In total we have

identified over 250 markets and approximately
80 specific sites within these markets as potential future development opportunities

REIT Status and Taxable REIT Subsidiaries

We have made an election to quality and we believe we are operating so as to quality as REIT under Sections 856 through 859 of the Internal Revenue

Code of 1986 as amended the Internal Revenue Code commencing with our taxable year ended on December 31 2010 As REIT we generally will not be

subject to U.S federal income tax to the extent that we meet the organizational and operational requirements and our distributions equal or exceed 90% of our

REIT taxable income For all periods subsequent to the REIT election we have met the organizational and operational requirements and distributions have

exceeded 90% of our REIT taxable income

We have elected to treat Campus Crest TRS Holdings Inc TRS Holdings our wholly-owned subsidiary as taxable REIT subsidiary TRS IRS

Holdings holds the development construction and management companies that provide services to entities in which we do not own 100% of the equity interests

As TRS the operations of TRS Holdings and its subsidiaries are generally subject to federal state and local income and franchise taxes

Our Business and Growth Strategies

Our objective is to maximize total returns to our stockholders through the pursuit of the following
business and growth strategies

Utilize Our Vertically-Integrated Platform Our vertically-integrated platform performs each key
function in the student housing value chain project

development project construction property management and asset management Campus Crest Development LLC North Carolina limited liability company

Campus Crest Development identifies markets selects sites and
acquires

all entitlements Campus Crest Construction LLC North Carolina limited liability

company Campus Crest Construction oversees the design and construction of each project The Grove Student Properties LLC North Carolina limited

liability company doing business as Campus Crest Real Estate Management The Grove Student Properties serves as our marketing leasing and property

management arm and Campus Crest Asset Management division of Campus Crest Group Campus Crest Asset Management oversees our capital structure

investment underwriting and investor relations Our vertically-integrated platform allows us to become familiar with
every

facet of our student housing properties

We believe that the ongoing feedback and accountability facilitated by our vertically-integrated platform allow us to improve efficiency
reduce costs control

project timing and enhance the overall quality of our properties

Target Attractive Markets Prior to investing in market we conduct detailed due diligence to assess the markets attractiveness e.g demographics and

student population trends as well as the available supply of on- and off-campus housing alternatives We utilize proprietary underwriting model to evaluate the

relative attractiveness of each potential development market While our market strategy
considers variety of factors we generally focus on markets where

total student enrollment exceeds 5000 ii majority
of the student population resides off-campun and iii sites that are in close proximity to campus can be

purchased or leased at reasonable cost Our due diligence process
is designed to identity markets in which we can operate successfully



Optimize
Our Properties and Brand Value key element of our strategy is to optimize the student lifestyle experience at our properties and enhance the

value and recognition
of our brand The Grovex through consistent set of operating principles We strive to offer properties that are designed to meet the unique

needs of student-tenants and to offer variety of social activities and other programs that build sense of community at our properties Our property management

group The Grove Student Properties continually works with our community assistant teams to design student lifestyle programs involving social cultural

outreach recreational educational and sustairiability activities which we refer to as our SCORES program We believe that our focus on student lifestyle

promotes sense of community at our properties which in turn improves occupancy and reduces demand elasticity

Development Growth We believe that our vertically-integrated platform generally allows us to generate more favorable returns by developing new properties

or redeveloping existing properties We anticipate that in-house development will be key driver of our growth Our current business plan contemplates the

development of approximately six to eight new student housing properties per year

Acquisition
Growth We may also seek to grow by selectively acquiring student housing properties and established multi-property portfolios from third

parties and by making strategic investments in other student housing companies As part of our investment strategy we evaluate whether
any properties acquired

from third parties
would meet our investment criteria for development properties and fit into our overall strategy

in terms of property quality proximity to

campus bed-bath parity availability of amenities and return on investment In addition we may also seek to make opportunistic acquisitions of properties
that we

believe we can purchase at attractive pricing reposition and operate successfully

Property Management and Monitoring

We maintain an On-site staff at each property including General Manager Sales Manager and Maintenance Supervisor The on-site staff is responsible for

all aspects of the propertys operations including marketing leasing administration customer service lifestyle expense control business administration ongoing

property maintenance capital projects
and residence life and student development In addition each

property typically has student-tenants that live on-site and

work for us on part-time basis These individuals act as Community Assistants or CAs and Leasing Consultants or LCs that assist in developing lifestyle

programming building community and ensuring all Tenants and guests
needs are taken care and pursuing and closing all potential leads for continued leasing

efforts We also have full time Senior Leasing Consultant that offers support to the Sales Manager and Maintenance Tech that offers support
to the

Maintenance Supervisor We provide oversight to each property
on an area basis with each area typically comprised of six to eight properties Each area is

staffed with an Area Manager and Area Sales Manager and our area team is supported by Regional Manager and Regional Sales Manager respectively The

roles of our various staff members are described in greater detail below

General Managers Sales Managers and Maintenance Supervisor
The General Manager is responsible for all facets of propertys operation including the

development and implementation of student lifestyle programs expense control collection of rents administration of accounts payable customer service

implementation of the annual marketing plan administration of all leasing and marketing functions coordination of property maintenance asset preservation and

capital improvement projects The General Manager also supervises the residence life program and conducts all hiring termination and staff development of on

site personnel The Sales Manager supports the General Manager and focuses on the leasing and lifestyle programs at the property
The Maintenance Supervisor

is responsible for coordinating all maintenance activity at the property and serving as liaison for larger capital projects in concert with our in-house facilities

group

CA and LCr At each of our The Grovex properties we also have work/live program typically consisting of part-time positions for student staff

members At each property we generally
maintain ratio of 50-70 students per employee living on site Our CAs and LC5 are selected by our management based

upon set of criteria including interpersonal skills leadership capabilities responsibility maturity and willingness to meet the challenges and expectations of the

position We use these positions to interface on peer
basis with our student-tenants and to assist with various duties at the properties Further we use this

position as feeder for us which allows us to evaluate these part-time employees for potential full-time managerial positions
with us after they graduate It is

position
that fits well with many students academic goals while affording them opportunities for personal growth and leadership development The CA5 and LC5

perform the duties of their position
in exchange for their room and stipend CAs and LCs are trained to provide support and assistance to our student-tenants on

variety of issues The CA5 and LCs act as community facilitators by developing an atmosphere that promotes sense of belongmg support and affiliation In

addition the CAs and LCs participate actively in developing and implementing the propertys programs and events in connection with our SCORES program At

all times our CAs and LCs are expected to be role models and maintain the highest standards of personal conduct Through observation and interaction with the

community the CA5 and LCs help to identify potential problems and make appropriate
referrals so that students may overcome obstacles to their academic

achievement Through their efforts to provide timely accurate and thorough information in the appropriate format CAs and LCs contribute to the smooth and

effective operations of our properties We believe that these positions are important to the success of our properties



Senior Leasing Consultani At each of properties we now have Senior Leasing
Consultant who

supports
the leasing efforts driven by the Sales

Manager The Senior Leasing Consultants are responsible for achieving sales performance goals for their respective site They are actively engaged in gaining

new prospects following up with prospects and closing on sales to meet or exceed set goals This position also assists in hiring and developing leasing

consultants and community assistant personnel Much like the CA and LC position the Senior Leasing Consultant position is one developed to be feeder for us

to use at Sales Manager openings within our portfolio

Area Managers and Area Sales Managers The Area Manager is responsible for all facets of the operations
of

properties
in his or her area typically six to

eight properties per area He or she monitors the performance of the properties and the compliance of each of the General Managers with our programs and

policies to
preserve operational standards across all of the properties in his or her area The Area Manager is the conduit between centralized planning at our

corporate
level and decentralized execution at each of the properties Similar to the property-level

Sales Manager the Area Sales Manager provides support for

leasing and lifestyle programming at all the properties in his or her area As the
corporate marketing departments liaison to area and property operations the Area

Sales Manager monitors the consistency of The Grovex brand across the properties and collaborates with the Area Managers and General Managers to market

each property effectively

Regional Managers and Regional Sales Managers The Regional Manager is responsible
for all facets of the operations of properties in his or her region

typically areas accounting for 12-16 properties He or she monitors the performance of his or her area to ensure compliance of all operational standards across

their region The Regional Manager is part of the conduit between the centralized planning at our corporate level and decentralized execution within each of

their areas The Regional Manager is also someone who works on the training and development of each of their Area Managers to improve the performance

metrics for the overall company The Regional Sales Manager much like the Regional Manager is responsible to support the teasing and lifestyle planning

within each of their respective areas

Leasing and Marketing

Student housing properties are typically leased by the bed on an individual lease liability basis unlike multi-family housing where leasing is by the unit

Individual lease liability
limits each student-tenants liability to his or her own rent without liability for roommates rent parent or guardian is required to

execute each tease as guarantor unless the student-tenant provides adequate proof of income The number of lease contracts that we administer is therefore

equivalent to the number of beds occupied rather than the number of units occupied

Unlike traditional multi-family housing most of our leases commence and terminate on the same dates each year In the case of our typical 11.5-month lease

these dates coincide with the commencement of the universities fall academic term and typically terminate at the completion of the last summer school session

As such we must re-lease each property in its entirety each year resulting in significant turnover in our tenant population from year to year As result we are

highly dependent upon the effectiveness of our marketing and leasing efforts during the annual leasing season which typically begins each October and ends in

September of the following year As of the start of the fall term for the 2013-2014 and 2012-2013 academic years we had approximately 41.7% and 41.9%

respectively of our current tenants renew their lease for the upcoming academic year

Each
year

we implement marketing and leasing plan to re-lease each
property

We advertise through various media including print advertising in

newspapers magazines and trade publications direct mailers radio advertising promotional events and public relation campaigns We typically compete in the

off-campus student housing market on the basis of

the quality of our facilities including their proximity to college and university campuses the size and layout of units and the types of amenities

offered

rental terms including price which varies based on the market in which the property
is located and per-bed rental individual lease liability which

allows individual student-tenants to avoid responsibility for the rental of an entire apartment unit

community environment including community facilities amenities and programming which is overseen by our staff of CA5 and

our relationships with colleges and universities which may result in our properties being
recommended or listed in recruiting and admissions

literature provided to incoming and prospective
students



Student Programming/SCORES Program

We believe that our success has been driven in part by our focus on student lifestyle programming including our SCORES program Our SCORES program

is designed to enhance the student lifestyle by facilitating activities at our properties in the following areas

Social parties group events movie nights bonfires concerts tavern/game nights tailgating and homecoming events

Cultural attending plays concerts readings art galleries and open microphone nights

Outreach blood drives big brother/big sister programs mentoring food drives/themed activities

Recreational intramural sports teams and volleyball and basketball tournaments

Educational CPR training resume writing workshops nutrition classes self-defense training and job interview rehearsals and

Sustainabilily recycling drives tree planting initiatives beautification and restoration projects green living tips and green cleaning programs

We believe that our student programming enhances the lifestyle of our student-tenants and helps to create an environment that is conducive to academic and

social success We do not approach our properties as simply place for students to live but rather we seek to assist our student-tenants in building connections

with their fellow student-tenants their communities and the colleges and universities that they attend We believe that our focus on student lifestyle programming

differentiates us from our competitors and makes our properties more attractive to prospective student-tenants and their parents

NEXT INITIATIVE

NEXT is our commitment to the triple bottom line business philosophy that balances economic success with social and environmental stewardship We

believe we can do well by doing good and we do well when we focus on people planet and prosperity NEXT is our one-word commitment to progress

Building Innovation Advancing building design and construction for efficiency and resident well being

Operate Responsibly Responsible property management and sustainable lifestyle programming for residents

Serving Communities Giving back to communities through philanthropic social initiatives

Balanced Living Empowering residents and employees to make healthy choices in their own lives



Business Segments

We define business segments by their distinct customer base and services provided We have identified two reportable business segments student housing

operations and ii development construction and management services We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on operating income

loss All inter-segment sales pricing is based on current market conditions Unallocated corporate amounts include general expenses associated with managing

our two reportable operating segments See Note 15 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

Competition

Competition from Universities and Colleges

We are subject to competition for student-tenants from on-campus housing owned by universities and colleges On-campus student housing has inherent

advantages over off-campus student housing such as the majority of our properties in integrating with the academic community which may cause student-

tenants to prefer on-campus housing to off-campus housing Additionally colleges and universities may have financial advantages that allow them to provide

student housing on more attractive terms than we are able to For example colleges and universities can generally avoid real estate taxes and borrow funds at

lower interest rates than private for profit real estate concerns such as us Residence halls owned and operated by the primary colleges and universities in the

markets in which we operate typically charge lower rental rates but offer fewer amenities than those offered at our properties

Despite the inherent advantages of on-campus housing most universities are able to house only small percentage of their overall enrollment and are

therefore highly dependent on the off-campus market to provide housing for their students High-quality and well run off-campus student housing can therefore be

critical component of an institutions ability to attract and retain students Accordingly universities and colleges oflen have an interest in encouraging and

facilitating the construction of modern off-campus housing alternatives

Competition from Pri vale Owners

We also compete with other regional and national
owner-operators

of off-campus student housing as well as with smaller local owner-operators Currently

the industry is fragmented with no participant holding dominant market share There are number of student housing properties that are located near or in the

same general vicinity of many of our properties and that compete directly with our properties We believe that number of other large national companies with

substantial financial and marketing resources may be potential entrants in the student housing business The activities of any of these companies could cause an

increase in competition for student-tenants and for the acquisition development and management of other student housing properties which could reduce the

demand for our properties

Insurance

We carry comprehensive liability fire extended coverage terrorism and rental loss insurance covering all of the properties in our portfolio Our insurance

includes
coverage

for earthquake damage to properties located in seismically active areas windstorm damage to properties exposed to hurricanes and terrorism

insurance on all of our properties Our insurance policies are subject to coverage limits and applicable deductibles and if we suffer substantial loss our

coverage may be insufficient All insurance policies are also subject to
coverage

extensions that we believe are typical for our business We do not carry insurance

for generally uninsured losses such as loss from riots or acts of God

Regulation

General

Student housing properties are subject to various laws ordinances and regulations including regulations relating to common areas We believe that each of

our operating properties has the
necessary permits and approvals to operate its business In addition apartment community properties are subject to various laws

ordinances and regulations including regulations relating to recreational facilities such as swimming poo1s activity centers and other common areas

Americans With Disabilities Act

Our properties must comply with Title Ill of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended or the ADA to the extent that such properties are

public accommodations as defined by the ADA The ADA may require removal of structural barriers to access by persons
with disabilities in certain public

areas of our properties where such removal is readily achievable

Fair Housing Act

The Fair Housing Act or the FHA its state law counterparts and the regulations promulgated by the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development

or HUD and various state agencies prohibit discrimination in housing on the basis of race or color national origin religion sex familial status including

children under the age of 18 living with parents or legal custodians pregnant women and people securing custody of children under 18 or handicap disability

and in some states on financial capability
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Environmental Mailers

Some of our properties contain or may have contained or are adjacent to or near other properties that have contained or currently contain storage tanks for

the storage of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances These operations create potential for the release of petroleum products or other

hazardous or toxic substances Third parties may be permitted by law to seek recovery from owners or operators for personal injury or property damages arising

from releases from such tanks Additionally third parties may be permitted by law to seek recovery from owners or operators for personal injury or property

damage associated with
exposure

to other contaminants that may be present on at or under the properties including but not limited to petroleum products and

hazardous or toxic substances Also some of the properties include regulated wetlands on undeveloped portions of such properties and mitigated wetlands on or

near our properties the existence of which can delay or impede development or require costs to be incurred to mitigate the impact of any disturbance Absent

appropriate permits we can be held responsible for restoring wetlands and be required to pay fines and penalties

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials mold growth may occur particularly if the moisture problem remains

undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants Concern about indoor exposure to mold has been

increasing as exposure to mold may cause variety of adverse health effects and symptoms including allergic or other reactions Some of our properties may

contain microbial matter such as mold and mildew The
presence

of significant mold at any of our properties could require us to undertake costly remediation

program to contain or remove the mold from the affected property The presence of significant mold could expose us to liability from student-tenants employees

and others if property damage or health concerns arise

If
any property in our portfolio is not properly connected to water or sewer system or if the integrity of such systems is breached microbial matter or other

contamination can develop If this were to occur we could incur significant remedial costs and we may also be subject to private damage claims and awards

which could be material If we become subject to claims in this regard it could materially and adversely affect us and our insurability for such matters in the

future

Employees

As of December 31 2013 we had approximately 522 employees Our employees are not represented by labor union

Offices and Website

Our principal executive offices are located at 2100 Rexford Road Suite 414 Charlotte NC 28211 We also have management offices at each of our

properties

Our website is www.campuscrest.com We make available free of charge through our website our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form

lO-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these
reports

filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as soon as

reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Our website also

contains copies of our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as well as the charters of our Nominating and Corporate

Governance Audit and Compensation Committees The information on our website is not part of this report

Item 1A Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk factors the occurrence of any of which may materially and adversely affect us The risks described below

are not the only ones we face Additional risks not presently known to us or that we may currently deem immaterial also may impair our financial condition or

operations or otherwise harm us

Risks Related to Our Business and Properties

Developing properties will expose us to risks beyond those associated with owning and operating student housing properties and could materially and

adversely affect our profitability

Our future growth will depend in part upon our ability to successfully complete our current properties under development and to identife plan and execute

additional development opportunities Our development activities may be adversely affected by

abandonment of development opportunities after expending significant cash and other resources to determine feasibility requiring us to expense

costs or to be unable to realize return on costs incurred in connection with the abandoned project

construction costs of project exceeding our original estimates

failure to complete development projects in conformity with building plans and specifications

failure to complete construction and lease-up of development projects on schedule resulting in increased construction and financing costs and

decrease in expected revenues
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lower than anticipated occupancy and rental rates at newly completed property
which occupancy and rental rates may not be sufficient to make

the property profitable

failure to obtain or delays in obtaining
construction fmancing on favorable terms or at all which could result in delays

in closing on acquisitions
of

undeveloped land and

failure to obtain or delays in obtaining necessary zoning land use building occupancy and other required governmental permits
and

authorizations

The construction activities at our student housing properties espose us to liabilities and risks beyond those associated with the ownership and operation of

student housing properties
which could materially and adversely affect our profitability

The construction of our student housing properties including our current properties
under development involves risks associated with construction activities

including liability for workplace safety such as injuries and accidents to persons
and property occurring dunng the construction process Construction activities

also subject us to obligations relating to environmental compliance such as management of storm water discharge
and mn-off material handling On-site storage

of construction materials and off-site disposal of construction materials These risks are in addition to those associated with owning or operating
student housing

properties

Our development activities are subject to delays and cost overruns which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and inhibit growth

Our development activities including those related to our properties currently under development may be adversely affected by circumstances beyond our

control including work stoppages labor disputes shortages of qualified
trades people such as carpenters roofers electricians and plumbers changes in laws or

other governmental regulations such as those relating to union organizing activity
lack of adequate utility infrastructure and services our reliance on local

subcontractors who may not be adequately capitalized or insured inclement weather and shortages delay in availability or fluctuations in prices of building

materials Any of these circumstances could give rise to delays in the start or completion of or could increase the cost of developing one or more of our

properties
If we are unable to deliver development properties on schedule or to recover these increased costs by raising our lease rates our financial performance

and liquidity could be materially and adversely affected Additionally if we do not complete the construction of properties on schedule we may be required to

provide alternative housing to the student-tenants with whom we have signed leases We generally do not make any arrangements for such alternative housing for

these properties and we would likely incur significant expenses
in the event we had to provide such housing If construction is not completed on schedule

student-tenants may attempt to break their leases and our occupancy at such properties for that academic
year may suffer

We may not realize return on our development activities in timely manner which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results

of operations

Due to the amount of time required
for planning constructing and leasing of development properties we may not realize significant cash return for many

years Therefore if any of our development activities are subject to delays or cost overruns our growth may be hindered and our results of operations and cash

flows may be adversely affected In addition new development activities regardless
of whether or not they are ultimately successful typically require substantial

time and attention from management Furthermore maintaining our development capabilities involves significant expenses including compensation expense for

our development personnel
and related overhead To the extent we cease or limit our development activity these expenses

will not be offset by revenues from our

development activity Therefore if we do not realize return on our development activities in timely manner in order to offset these costs and expenses our

financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

Adverse economic conditions and dislocation in the credit markets have had material and adverse effect on us and may continue to materially and adversely

affect us

We experienced unprecedented levels of volatility in the capital markets reduction in the availability of credit and intense recessionary pressures
which

had an adverse effect on our results of operations and our ability to borrow funds from 2007 through 2010 For example lenders were generally imposing more

stringent lending standards and applying more conservative valuations to properties This limited the amount of indebtedness we were able to obtain and impeded

our ability to develop new properties and to replace
construction financing with permanent financing If these conditions were to develop again in the future our

business and our growth strategy may be materially and adversely affected Although our business strategy contemplates access to debt financing including our

revolving credit facility term loans and construction debt to fund future development and working capital requirements there can be no assurance that we will

be able to obtain such financing on favorable terms or at all As of December 31 2013 we had approximately $58.5 million outstanding under our revolving

credit facility and $50.0 million outstanding under the related term loan The amounts outstanding under our revolving credit facility and term loan will reduce the

amount that we may be able to borrow under this facility for other purposes We have approximately $154.1 million in borrowing capacity under our revolving

credit facility and amounts borrowed under the facility will be due at its maturity in January 2017 subject toa one-year
extension which we may exercise at our

option provided we comply with certain terms and conditions including the payment of an extension fee This indebtedness as well as our mortgage

constmction and other debt of approximately $205.0 million as of December 31 2013 and the $100.0 million outstanding principal amount of the Operating

Partnerships 4.75% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2018 will subject us to risks associated with debt financing as described below under Our indebtedness

exposes
us to risk of default and reduces our free cash flow which could materially and adversely affect us
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subsequent
recession or challenging economic environment may adversely affect us by among other things limiting or eliminating our access to

financing which would adversely affect our ability to develop and refsnance properties and pursue acquisition opportunities Significantly more stringent lending

standards and higher interest rates may reduce our returns on investment and increase our interest expense which could adversely affect our financial

performance and liquidity Additionally limited availability of fmancing may reduce the value of our properties limit our ability to borrow against such

properties and should we choose to sell
property impair our ability to dispose of such property at an attractive price or at all which could materially and

adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Certain 010w properties may be subject to liens or other claims which could materially and adversely affect ow profitability

We may be subject to liens or claims for materials or labor relating to disputes with subcontractors or other parties that are or were involved in the

development and construction process There can be no assurance that we will not be required to pay amounts greater than currently
recorded liabilities in order to

settle these claims

Failure to succeed in new markets or with new brands and comm unity form ass may materially and adversely affrct us

We may develop or acquire properties in markets in which we do not currently operate including our properties currently under development We may be

exposed to variety of risks if we choose to enter new markets including an inability to accurately evaluate local student housing market conditions an inability

to obtain land for development or to identif appropriate acquisition opportunities an inability to hire and retain key personnel and lack of familiarity with local

governmental and permitting procedures To the extent we choose to develop or acquire properties in new markets we will not
possess

the same level of

familiarity with development or operation in these markets as we do in our current markets which could adversely affect our ability to develop such properties

successfully or at all or to achieve expected performance Any of the above risks could adversely affect our financial condition results of operations
and cash

flows

As of December 31 2013 40 of our The Grove5 brand properties had been developed built and managed generally based upon common prototypical

Campus Crest building design which we have built approximately 675 times at our student housing properties approximately 15 of such residential buildings

comprise one student housing property As of December 31 2013 24 of our Copper Beech brand properties had been developed built and managed generally

based upon common prototypical Copper Beech Townhome Sleeve design which have been built approximately 3432 times at our student housing properties

averaging 143 of such residential Townhomes per market In addition as of December 31 2013 41 of our properties operate under The Grove5 brand and 28

operate under the Copper Beech brand In the fissure we may continue to develop properties using new building designs including high rise buildings and new

brands of communities to target various customer preferences We cannot assure that these new building designs or brands will be successful or that our costs in

developing and implementing the new building designs or brands will result in incremental revenue and earnings

We rely on our relationships with the colleges and universities from which our properties draw student-tenants and on the policies and reputations of these

schools any deterioration in our relationships with such schools or changes in the schools admissions or residency policies or reputations could materially

and adversely affrct our results of operations

We rely on our relationships with colleges and universities for referrals of prospective
student-tenants or for mailing lists of prospective student-tenants and

their parents The failure to maintain good relationships with these schools could therefore have material adverse effect on us Many of these schools own and

operate on-campus student housing which competes with our properties for student-tenants and if schools refuse to provide us with referrals or to make lists of

prospective student-tenants and their parents
available to us or increase the cost of these lists the lack of such referrals lists or increased cost could have

material adverse effect on us

Changes in admission and housing policies could adversely affect us For example if school reduces the number of student admissions or requires that

certain class of students e.g freshman live in on-campus housing the demand for beds at our properties may be reduced and our occupancy rates may decline

While we may engage in marketing
efforts to compensate for

any
such policy changes we may not be able to effect such marketing efforts prior to the

commencement of the annual lease-up period or our additional marketing efforts may not be successful which could reduce the demand for our properties and

materially and adversely affect us

It is also important that the schools from which our properties draw student-tenants maintain good reputations and are able to attract the desired number of

incoming students Any degradation in schools reputation could inhibit its ability to attract students and reduce the demand for our properties
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Competition from other student housing properties including on-campus housing and traditional multi-family housing located in close proximity to the

colleges and universities from which we draw student-tenants may reduce the demand for our properties which could materially and adversely affect our

cash flows financi condition and results of operationx

Our properties compete with properties owned by universities colleges national and regional student housing businesses and local real estate concerns On-

campus student housing has inherent advantages over off-campus student housing such as the majority of our properties due to its physical location on the

campus and integration
into the academic community which may cause student-tenants to prefer on-campus housing to off-campus housing Additionally

colleges and universities may have financial advantages that allow them to provide student housing on terms more attractive than our terms For example

colleges and universities can generally avoid real estate taxes and borrow funds at lower interest rates than private for-profit real estate concerns such as our

company

There are number of student housing properties located near or in the same general vicinity of many of our properties
that compete directly with our

properties Such competing student housing properties may be newer located closer to campus charge less rent possess more attractive amenities offer more

services or offer shorter lease terms or more flexible lease terms than our properties Competing properties could reduce demand for our properties and materially

and adversely affect our rental income

Revenue at particular property
could also be adversely affected by number of other factors including the construction of new on-campus and off-campus

housing decreases in the general levels of rents for housing at competing properties decreases in the number of students enrolled at one or more of the colleges

or universities from which the
property

draws student-tenants and other general economic conditions

Although we believe no participant in the student housing industiy holds dominant market share we compete with larger national companies colleges and

universities with greater resources and superior access to capital Furthermore number of other large national companies with substantial financial and

marketing resources may enter the student housing business The activities of any of these companies colleges or universities could cause an increase in

competition for student-tenants and for the acquisition development and management of other student housing properties which could reduce the demand for our

properties

Our results of operations are subject to risks inherent in the student housing industry such as an annual leasing cycle and limited leasing period which

could materially and adversely affect us

We generally lease our properties for 1.5-month terms and the related leases provide for 12 equal monthly payments of rent Therefore our properties must

be entirely re-leased each year exposing us to more leasing risk than property lessors that lease their properties for longer terms Student housing properties are

also typically leased during limited leasing period that generally begins each October and ends in September of the following year We are therefore highly

dependent on the effectiveness of our marketing and leasing efforts and personnel during this leasing period We will be subject to heightened leasing risk at

properties under development and at properties we may acquire in the future due to our lack of experience leasing such properties Any significant difficulty in

leasing our properties would adversely affect our results of operations financial condition and ability to pay
distributions on our securities and would likely have

negative impact on the trading price of our securities As of the start of the fall term for the 2013-2014 and 2012-2013 academic years we had approximately

41.7% and 41.9% respectively of our current tenants renew their previous lease for the upcoming term

Additionally student-tenants may be more likely to default on their lease obligations during the summer months which could further reduce our revenues

during this period Although we typically require student-tenants lease obligations to be guaranteed by parent we may have to spend considerable effort and

expense in pursuing payment upon defaulted lease and our efforts may not be successful

Our success depends on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed

We are dependent upon the efforts of our key personnel particularly those of Ted Rollins our chairman and chief executive officer Michael Hartnett

our vice chainnan of special projects Donald Bobbiti our chief financial officer Robert Dann our chief operating
officer and Brian Sharpe our chief

facilities and construction officer These individuals have extensive experience in our business and are responsible for sourcing attractive investment

opportunities development activities financing activities university relations and leasing Messrs Rollins and Hartnett have directed the operations of our

predecessor
entities and each hanover 28

years
of experience in providing service-enriched housing

and
approximately

nine
years

of student housing experience

The loss of the services of one or more of these executives could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results

The current economic environment could reduce enrollments and limit the demand for our properties which could materially and adversely affrct our cash

flows profitability and results of operations

continuation of ongoing economic conditions that adversely affect household disposable income such as high unemployment levels weak business

conditions reduced access to credit increasing tax rates and high fuel and
energy costs could reduce overall student leasing or cause student-tenants to shift their

leasing practices as students may determine to forego college or live at home and commute to college



As result of general economic weakness many students may be unable to obtain student loans on favorable terms In addition despite the recent economic

weakness tuition and other costs associated with attending college have continued to rise If student loans are not available or their costs are prohibitively high

enrollment numbers for schools from which we draw student-tenants may decrease resulting in decrease in the demand for and consequently the occupancy

rates at and rental revenue from our properties Accordingly the continuation or deterioration of current economic conditions could materially and adversely

affect our cash flows profitability and results of operations

In the past we have experienced significant net losses if this trend continues we could be materially and adversely affectetL

For the years
ended December 31 2013 2010 and 2009 we incurred significant net losses These results have had negative impact on our financial

condition While we experienced net income for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 and believe that we are adequately capitalized and able to

continue our development activity there can be no assurance that our business will be profitable in the future and additional losses will not be incurred If the

trend of incurring significant net losses continues in the future our financial performance liquidity and our ability to operate our business as going concern

could be materially and adversely affected

If we are unable to acquire properties on favorable terms our future growth could be materially and adversely affecteiL

Our future growth will depend in part upon our ability to acquire new properties on favorable terms Acquisition opportunities may not be available to us on

terms that we deem acceptable and we may be unsuccessful in consummating acquisition opportunities Our ability to acquire properties on favorable terms and

successfully operate them may be adversely affected by

an inability to obtain financing on attractive terms or at all

increased purchase prices and decreased expected yields due to competition from other potential acquirers and real estate investors

the need to make significant
and unexpected capital expenditures to improve or renovate acquired properties

an inability to quickly and efficiently integrate acquisitions particularly any acquisitions of portfolios of properties into our existing operations

market conditions resulting in higher than expected vacancy rates and lower than expected rental rates at acquired properties and

acquisition of properties subject to liabilities but without
any recourse or with only limited recourse to the sellers or with liabilities that are

unknown to us such as liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination claims by tenants vendors or other persons dealing

with the former owners of our properties

Our failure to identity and consummate property acquisitions on attractive terms or the failure of any acquired properties to meet our expectations could

materially and adversely affect our future growth

Our business strategy contemplates expansion through acquisitions and we may not be able to adapt our management and operational systems including

leasing and property management to successfully integrate new properties Into oar portfolio without unanticipated disruption or expense which could have

material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial conditions

Our business strategy contemplates expansion through the acquisition of student housing properties and established multi-property portfolios as well as

through strategic investments in other student housing companies We expect the size of our portfolio to meaningfully increase as we execute our business plan

As we increase the size of our portfolio we cannot assure you that we will be able to adapt our management administrative accounting and operational systems

or hire and retain sufficient operational staff to integrate new properties into our portfolio or manage any future acquisitions of properties without operating

disruptions or unanticipated costs In particular we cannot assure you that our leasing and property management functions will successfully and efficiently lease

and operate properties we acquire Our acquisitions of properties will generate additional operating expenses that we will be required to pay Our past growth has

required and our growth will continue to require increased investment in management personnel professional fees other personnel financial and management

systems and controls and facilities which could cause our operating margins to decline from historical levels especially in the absence of revenue growth As we

acquire additional properties we will be subject to risks associated with managing new properties including tenant retention and mortgage default Our failure to

successfully integrate acquisitions into our portfolio and manage our growth could have material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial

condition
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Our strategy of investing in properties
located in medium-sized college and university

markets may not be successful which could materially and adversely

affect us

Our business strategy involves investing in properties located in medium-sized college and university markets which are smaller than larger educational

markets Larger educational markets such as Boston Massachusetts or Washington D.C often have multiple colleges and universities that have larger

enrollments than schools located in medium-sized college and university markets and attract students nationally and internationally The colleges and universities

that our properties draw student-tenants from typically have smaller enrollments than schools in larger educational markets and tend to attract students from

within the region in which the school is located If the schools in our markets experience reduced enrollment for example due to adverse economic conditions or

rising tuition costs or are unable to attract sufficient students to achieve desired clans size the pool of prospective student-tenants for our properties
will be

reduced This could have the result of reducing our occupancy and lowering the revenue from our properties which could materially and adversely
affect our

financial performance and liquidity

Our indebtedness exposes us to risk of default and reduces our free cash flow which could materially and adversely affrct us

As of December 31 2013 our total consolidated indebtedness was approximately $413.5 million Our debt service obligations expose us to the risk of default

and reduce cash available to invest in our business or pay
distributions that are necessary to qualifi and remain qualified as REIT Our ability to meet the

ongoing payment obligations
of our indebtedness depends on our ability to generate significant cash flow in the future Our ability to generate cash flow to some

extent is subject to general economic financial competitive legislative
and regulatory factors as well as other factors that are beyond our control We cannot

assure you that our business will generate cash flow from operations or that capital will be available to us in amounts sufficient to enable us to meet our payment

obligations under our exchangeable senior notes our credit
agreements

and our outstanding preferred stock and to fund our other liquidity needs If we are not

able to generate sufficient cash flow to service these obligations we may need to refinance or restructure our debt sell assets which we may be limited in doing

in light of the relatively illiquid nature of our properties reduce or delay capital investments or seek to raise additional capital If we are unable to implement

one or more of these alternatives we may not be able to meet these payment obligations which could materially and adversely affect our liquidity

Although we intend to limit the sum of the outstanding principal
amount of our consolidated indebtedness to not more than 50% of our total market

capitalization our board of directors may modity or eliminate this limitation at any time without the approval of our stockholders Furthermore our charter does

not contain any limitation on the amount of indebtedness that we may incur In the future we may incur substantial indebtedness in connection with the

development or acquisition
of additional properties and for other working capital needs or to fund the payment of distributions to our stockholders

In addition tax protection agreement to which we are party requires us to maintain minimum level of indebtedness of $56.0 million throughout 10-

year tax protection period which ends in October 2020 in order to allow sufficient amount of debt to be allocable to MXT Capital LLC Delaware limited

liability company MXT Capital which is wholly-owned and controlled by Ted Rollins our chairman and chief executive officer and Michael Hartnett

our vice chairman of
special projects and certain members of their families to avoid certain adverse tax consequences If we fail to maintain such minimum

indebtedness throughout the 10-year tax protection period we will be required to make indemniing payments to MXT Capital in an amount equal to the

federal state and local taxes if any imposed on its members as result of any income or gain recognized by them by reason of such failure The amount of such

taxes will be computed based on the highest applicable federal state and local marginal lax rates as well as any grossed up taxes imposed on such payments

This requirement may restrict our ability to reduce leverage when we otherwise might wish to do so and generally
reduce our flexibility in managing our capital

structure

Our indebtedness and the limitations imposed on us by our indebtedness could have significant adverse consequences including the following

we may be unable to borrow additional funds as needed or on favorable terms

we may be unable to renew repay or refinance our indebtedness at maturity or the renewal or refinancing terms may be less favorable than the

terms of the indebtedness being renewed or refinanced

we may be forced to dispose
of certain of our properties possibly on disadvantageous terms

we may default on our payment or other obligations as result of insufficient cash flow or otherwise which may result in cross-default on our

other obligations and the lenders or mortgagees may foreclose on our properties that secure their loans and receive an assignment of rents and

leases

to the extent that we incur unhedged floating rate debt we will have exposure to interest rate risk and

foreclosures could create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds circumstance which could hinder our ability to meet the

distribution requirements necessary to enable us to qualify and remain qualified for taxation as REIT
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Compliance with the provisions of our debt agreements including financial and other covenants such as the maintenance of specified
fmancial ratios could

limit our flexibility and default under these agreements could result in requirement that we repay indebtedness which could severely affect our liquidity and

increase our financing costs which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

The documents that govern our outstanding indebtedness restrict our ability to engage in some business activities

The documents that govern our outstanding indebtedness contain customary negative covenants and other financial and operating covenants that among

other things

restrict our ability to incur certain additional indebtedness

restrict our ability to make certain investments

restrict our ability to effect certain mergers

restrict our ability to make distributions to stockholders and

require us to maintain certain financial coverage ratios

These limitations restrict our sbility to engage in some business activities which could adversely affect our financial condition results of
operations

cash

flow and the per share trading price
of our securities In addition failure to comply with any of these covenants including the financial coverage ratios could

cause an event of default under and/or accelerate some or all of our indebtedness which would have material adverse effect on us Furthermore the documents

that govern our outstanding indebtedness contain certain cross-default provisions with respect to specified other indebtedness giving the lenders the nght to

declare default if we are in default under other loans in some circumstances

We may be unable to satisfy our debt obligations upon change of control of us

Under the documents that
govern

our indebtedness if we experience change of control we could be required to repay
the entire principal balance of our

outstanding indebtedness Under our Exchangeable Senior Notes indenture if we experience change of control as defined in the indenture we must offer to

purchase the notes at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued interest Under the credit agreement that
governs

our revolving credit facility if we experience

change of control as defined in the credit agreement the lenders may declare an event of default and accelerate payment of the entire principle balance of the

facility We might not have sufficient flinds to
repay

the amounts due under the revolving credit facility or pay the required price for the notes following change

of control

Variable rate debt is subject to interest rate risk

As of December 31 2013 approximately $148.6 million of our aggregate indebtedness approximately 35.9% of total indebtedness was subject to variable

interest rates In addition we may incur additional variable rate debt in the fliture While we have entered into arrangements that hedge the risk of rising interest

rates there can be no assurance that such arrangements will adequately protect against rising interest rates or that we will be able to enter into interest rate

hedging arrangements in the future If we are unable to enter into
arrangements

that hedge the risk of rising interest rates increases in interest rates on variable

rate debt would increase our interest expense which would adversely affect net income and cash available for payment of our debt obligations and distributions to

stockholders

Joint venture investments could be materially and adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority our reliance on our co-venturers

financial condition and disputes between our co-venturers and us

Our properties located in Lawrence Kansas San Angelo Texas and Conway Arkansas comprising approximately 3.4% of our beds are held in joint

venture with HSRE in which we own 49.9% interest Our properties located in Fayetteville Arkansas Laramie Wyoming and Stillwater Oklahoma

comprising approximately 4.2% of our beds are held in joint venture with HSRE in which we own 10.0% interest Our properties located in Indiana

Pennsylvania State College Pennsylvania and Norman Oklahoma comprising approximately 4.1% of our beds are held in ajoint venture with HSRE in which

we own 20.0% interest Additionally we entered into one joint venture with HSRE in 2013 in which we own 30.0% interest and through
which we are

developing two properties with completion targeted for the 2014-2015 academic year Our property
located in Philadelphia Pennsylvania comprising 1.9% of

our beds is held in joint venture with HSRE and Brandywine in which we own 30.0% interest with completion targeted for the 2014-2015 academic year

Our properties located in Montreal Quebec comprising 5.1% of our beds is held in joint venture with Beaumont Partners in which we own 20.0% interest

in January 2014 our ownership interest increased to 35% see Note 18 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with completion targeted for the

2014-2015 academic year In addition we currently hold an effective 67.0% investment in the CB Portfolio comprising 31.5% of our beds and pursuant to the

terms of the agreements governing this investment share decision making authority with the CB Investors
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We anticipate that we may enter into other jomt ventures with other parties in the future We may not have controlling interest in ajoint venture and may

share responsibility with our co-venturer for managing the property held by the joint venture Under such circumstances we may not have sole decision-making

authority regarding
the joint ventures

property
Investments in joint ventures under certain circumstances involve risks not present when we invest in property

without the involvement of third party For example our co-venturer may have economic or other business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our

business interests or goals and may be in position to take actions contrary to our preferences policies or objectives Additionally it is possible that our co

venturer might become bankrupt fail to fund its share of required capital contributions or block or delay decisions that we believe are necessary
Such

investments may also have the potential risk of impasses on decisions such as sales because neither we nor our co-venturers may have full control over the joint

venture Disputes between us and our co-venturer may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our
expenses

and divert the attention of our officers

and directors from other aspects of our business Consequently actions by or disputes with our co-venturers might result in subjecting properties owned by the

joint venture to additional risk In addition we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party co-venturers Any of the foregoing factors

could materially and adversely affect the financial condition and results of operations of ourjoint-venture investments

We could be negatively impacted by the condition of Fannie Mae or Freddie Mo

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are major source of secured financing to the student housing industry and we have used Freddie Mac for portion of our

financing needs In February 2011 the U.S Treasury along with the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development released report calling for the

winding down of the role that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac play in the mortgage market In February 2012 the Federal Housing Finance Agency delivered

strategic plan to Congress to wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac over the next several years This proposal includes building new infrastructure for the

secondary mortgage market continuing to shrink Fannie Maes and Freddie Macs operations by eliminating the direct funding of mortgages and shifting

mortgage credit risk to private investors In addition in August 2012 the U.S Treasury announced further steps to expedite the winding down of Fannie Mae and

Freddie Mac by accelerating the rate at which Fannie Maes and Freddie Macs investment portfolios will be reduced to target levels agreed to with the U.S

Treasury Pursuant to these steps Fannie Maes and Freddie Macs investment portfolios must be reduced to the agreed target four
years

earlier than previously

scheduled final decision by the government to eliminate Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or reduce their
acquisitions or guarantees

of student housing property

loans may adversely affect interest rates capital availability and the value of student housing properties If we are unable to react effectively and quickly to

changes in the mortgage industry our business could be harmed

We have limited operating history as REIT and as publicly traded company and may not be able to successfully operate as REIT or publicly traded

company

We have limited operating history as REIT and as publicly traded company We cannot assure you that the past experience of our senior management

team will be sufficient to successfully operate our company as REIT or publicly traded company including the requirements to timely meet disclosure

requirements of the SEC and comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Since our initial public offering we have been subject to various requirements related

to REITs and publicly traded companies including requirements to develop and implement control systems and procedures in order to quality and maintain our

qualification as REIT and satisty our periodic and current reporting requirements under applicable SEC regulations and comply with New York Stock Exchange

NYSE listing standards Our continued compliance with these requirements could place significant strain on our management systems infrastructure and

other resources Failure to operate successfully as public company or quality and maintain our qualification as REIT would have an adverse effect on our

financial condition results of operations cash flow and the per share trading price of our securities

lfwefail to maintain an effective system of integrated internal controls ice may not be able to accurately report our financial results

Effective internal and disclosure controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud and to operate successfully as

public company If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud our reputation and operating
results would be harmed As part

of our ongoing

monitoring of internal controls we may discover material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls As result of weaknesses that may be

identified in our internal controls we may also identity certain deficiencies in some of our disclosure controls and procedures that we believe require remediation

If we discover weaknesses we will make efforts to improve our internal and disclosure controls However there is no assurance that we will be successful Any

failure to maintain effective controls or timely effect
any necessary improvement of our internal and disclosure controls could harm operating results or cause us

to fail to meet our reporting obligations which could affect the eligibility of our stock to remain listed on the NYSE Ineffective internal and disclosure controls

could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported fmancial information which would likely have negative effect on the per share trading price of our

securities
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Breaches 010w data security could materially harm our business and reputation

We collect and retain certain personal information provided by our student-tenants and employees While we have implemented variety of security

meaaures to protect
the confidentiality of this information and periodically review and improve our security measures there can be no assurance that we will be

able to prevent unauthorized access to this information Any breach of our data security measures and loss of this information may result in legal liability and

costs including damages and penalties as well as damage to our reputation that could materially and adversely affect our business and financial performance

Our investment in properties subject to ground leases with unaffihtated thi rd parties exposes us to the potential loss of such properties upon the expiration or

termination of the ground leases and the realization of such loss could materially and adversely affect us Our properties at the University of South Alabama

and Colorado State University are also subject to tight offirsi refusal that may inhibit our ability to sell them

Our properties located on the campuses of the University of South Alabama and Colorado State University are subject to ground leases with unaffiliated third

parties
In addition we may invest in additional properties that are subject to ground leases with unaffiliated third parties As the lessee under ground lease with

an unaffiliated third party we are exposed to the possibility of losing our leasehold interest in the land on which our buildings are located ground lease may

not be renewed upon the expiration of its current term or may be terminated by the lessor pursuant to the terms of the lease if we do not meet our obligations

thereunder

In the event of an uncured default under any of our existing ground leases the lessor may terminate our leasehold interest in the land on which our buildings

are located Any termination of our existing ground leases with unaffiliated third parties unless in conjunction with the exercise of purchase option would also

result in termination of our management agreement relating to the property If we lose the leasehold interest in any of our properties we could be materially and

adversely affected

Our properties located at the University of South Alabama and Colorado State University are also subject to right of first refusal pursuant to which the

ground lessor entity related to the land has right to purchase our leasehold interest in the relevant property in the event we decide to accept an offer to sell either

property to third party
This may inhibit our ability to sell these properties Further our right to transfer one of the on-campus properties

is subject to the consent

of the ground lessor which consent may not be unreasonably withheld

We may incur losses on interest rate swap and hedging arrangements which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of

operations

We currently use and may in the future enter into additional interest rate swap and hedging agreements Although these agreements may partially protect

against rising interest rates they also may reduce the benefits to us if interest rates decline If an arrangement is not indexed to the same rate as the indebtedness

that is hedged we may be exposed to losses to the extent the rate governing the indebtedness and the rate governing the hedging arrangement change

independently
of each other Finally nonperformance by the other party to the arrangement may subject us to increased credit risks The occurrence of

any
of the

foregoing could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Our inability to pass-through
increases in taxes or other real estate costs to our student-tenants could materially and adversely affect our financial

performance and liquidity

Each of our properties is subject to real and personal property taxes These taxes may increase as tax rates change and as the properties are assessed or

reassessed by taxing authorities We generally are not able to
pass through to our student-tenants under existing leases any increases in taxes including real estate

and income taxes or other real estate related costs such as insurance or maintenance Consequently unless we are able to off-set any such increases with

sufficient revenues we may be materially and adversely affected by any such increases

The prior performance of ow properties may not be indicative of our fulure performance

All of our properties have been acquired or developed by us and/or our predecessor entities within the past
nine

years
and have limited operating histories

Consequently the historical operating results of our properties and the fmancial data we have disclosed may not be indicative of our future performance The

operating performance of the properties may decline and we could be materially and adversely
affected

Reporting of on-campus crime statistics required of colleges and universities may negatively impact our properties

Federal and state laws require colleges and universities to publish and distribute reports of on-campus crime statistics which may result in negative publicity

and media
coverage

associated with crimes occurring in the vicinity of or on the premises of our on-campus properties Reports of crime or other negative

publicity regarding the safety of the students residing on or near our properties may have an adverse effect on both our on-campus and off-campus properties

We maybe subject to liabilities from litigation which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations

We have been involved in legal proceedings in connection with our business and may become involved in additional legal proceedings including consumer

employment tort or commercial litigation that if decided adversely to or senled by us and not adequately covered by insurance could result in liabilities that

could materially and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations
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We face risks associated with land holdings

We hold land for future development and may in the fUture acquire additional land holdings The risks inherent in owning or purchasing and developing land

increase as demand for student housing or rental rates decrease As result we hold certain land and may in the future acquire additional land in our

development pipeline at cost we may not be able to recover fully or on which we cannot build and develop into profitable student housing project In addition

real estate markets are highly uncertain and as result the value of undeveloped land lisa fluctuated significantly and may continue to increase as result of

changing market conditions Further carrying costs associated with land holdings can be significant and can result in losses or reduced margins in poorly

performing project Under current market conditions we may have impairments of our land held for development

Our issuance of common stock under our At- The-Market offering program may be dilutive and there may be future dilution of our common stock

After giving effect to the issuance of common stock under our At-The-Market offering program and the receipt of the expected net proceeds and the use of

those proceeds there may be dilutive effect on our estimated earnings per share and funds from operations per share for the year ending December 31 2013 or

subsequent years during which the offering is ongoing The actual amount of potential dilution cannot be determined at this time and will be based on numerous

factors Additionally we are not restricted by our organizational documents contractual arrangements or otherwise from issuing additional common stock or

preferred stock including any securities that are convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for or that represent the right to receive common stock or

preferred stock or any substantially similar securities in the future The market price of our common stock could decline as result of issuances of large number

of shares of our common stock after this offering or the perception that such issuances could occur

Our management will have broad discretion with respect to the use of the proceeds resulting from the issuance of common stock under our At-The-Market

offering program

Our management has significant flexibility in applying the net proceeds we expect to receive from the issuance of common stock under the Equity

listribution Agreements We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes which may include repaying debt including our

revolving credit facility However because the net proceeds are not required to be allocated to any specific investment or transaction investors cannot determine

at the time of issuance the value or propriety of our application of the net proceeds and investors may not agree with our decisions In addition our use of the net

proceeds from the offering may not yield significant return or any return at all The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could have an

adverse effect on our fmancial condition results of operations or the trading price of our common stock

Our intern ational expansion may subject us to different or greater risk from those associated with our domestic operaiion

We have wholly-owned property management subsidiary and we hold interests in two joint venture properties that operate in Canada and we may pursue

additional expansion and development opportunities outside the United States tnternational development and ownership activities carry risks that are different

from those we face with our domestic properties and operations These risks include

adverse effects of changes in exchange rates for foreign currencies

changes in foreign political and economic environments regionally nationally and locally

costs associated with complying with wide variety of foreign laws including corporate governance operations taxes and litigation

difficulties in managing international operations including difficulties that arise from ambiguities in contracts written in foreign languages and

difficulties that arise in enforcing such contracts

differing lending practices

differing employment and labor issues

changes in applicable laws and regulations in the United States that affect foreign operations

difficulties in managing international operations

obstacles to the repatriation of earnings and cash

obstacles to hiring appropriately trained staff and
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differences in cultures including adapting practices and strategies that have been successful in the U.S student housing business to retail needs and

expectations in new markets

Although our international activities currently are relatively small portion of our business to the extent that we expand our international activities

these risks could increase in significance which in turn could adversely affect our results of operations and fmancial condition

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry

Our performance and the value of our properties are subject to risks associated with real estate and with the real estate industry which could materially and

adversely affect our cash flows financi condition and results of operations

Our ability to make distributions to our stockholders depends on our ability to generate cash revenues in excess of our expenses including expenses

associated with our development activities indebtedness and capital expenditure requirements The occurrence of certain events and conditions that are generally

applicable to owners and operators of real estate many of which are beyond our control could materially and adversely affect us These events and conditions

include

adverse national regional and local economic conditions

rising interest rates

oversupply of student housing in our markets increased competition for student-tenants or reduction in demand for student housing

inability to collect rent from student-tenants

vacancies at our properties or an inability to lease our properties on favorable terms

inability to finance property development and acquisitions on favorable terms

increased operating costs including insurance premiums utilities and real estate taxes

the need for capital expenditures at our properties

costs of complying with changes in governmental regulations

the relative illiquidity of real estate investments and

civil unrest acts of God including earthquakes floods hurricanes and other natural disasters which may result in uninsured losses and acts of war

or terrorism

In addition periods of economic slowdown or recession such as the one the global economy experienced from 2007 through 2011 rising interest rates or

declining demand for real estate or the public perception that any of these events may occur could result in general decline in occupancy rates and rental

revenue or an increased incidence of defaults under our existing leases which could impair the value of our properties or reduce our cash flow

Illiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to sell our properties or otherwise respond to adverse changes in the performance

itf our properties which could materially and adversely affect us

From time to time we may determine that it is in our best interest to sell one or more of our properties However because real estate investments are

relatively illiquid we may encounter difficulty in finding buyer in timely manner should we desire to sell one of our properties especially if market conditions

are poor at such time Selling real estate has been difficult recently since the availability of credit has become more limited and as lending standards have

become more stringent As result potential buyers have experienced difficulty in obtaining financing necessary to purchase property
In addition our

properties are specifically designed for use as student housing which could limit their marketability or affect their values for alternative uses Consequently

should we desire to sell one or more of our properties our ability to do so promptly or on terms that we deem to be acceptable may be limited which could

materially and adversely affect our cash flows financial condition results of operations and ability to
pay

distributions on our securities and would likely have

negative impact on the trading price of our securities

We also may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to make improvements before property can be sold We cannot assure you that we will have

funds available to correct any such defects or to make any such improvements In connection with any future property acquisitions we may agree to provisions

that materially restrict our ability to sell the property for period of time or impose other restrictions such as limitation on the amount of debt that can be

secured by or repaid with respect to such property
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In addition our ability to sell properties may be limited by our need to avoid the 100% prohibited transactions tax that is imposed on gain recognized by

REIT from the sale of property characterized as dealer property Any such limitation may cause us to incur losses thereby reducing our cash flows See Federal

Income Tax Risk FactorsThe tax imposed on REITs engaging in prohibited transactions may limit our ability to engage in transactions which would be

treated as sales for federal income tax purposes These factors and any others that would impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance of

any of our properties or need for liquidity could materially and adversely affect our cash flows financial condition results of operations and ability to pay

distributions on our securities and would likely have negative impact on the trading price of our securities

We could incur significant costs related to government regulation and private litigation over environmental matters which could materially and adversely

affect our financiai condition and results of operations

Under various environmental laws including
the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act CERCLA current or

previous owner or operator of real estate may be liable for contamination resulting from the release or threatened release of hazardous or toxic substances or

petroleum at that property Additionally an entity that arranges for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substance or petroleum at another property

may be held jointly and severally liable for the cost of investigating and cleaning up such property or other affected property Such parties are known as

potentially responsible parties PRPs These environmental laws often impose liability regardless of whether the PRP knew of or was responsible for the

presence of the contaminants and the costs of any required investigation or cleanup of these substances can be substantial PRPs may also be liable to parties who

have claims for contribution in connection with any such contamination such as other PRPs or state and federal governmental agencies The liability is generally

not limited under such laws and therefore could easily exceed the propertys value and the assets of the liable party

The presence of contamination hazardous materials or environmental issues or the failure to remediste such conditions at property may expose us to third-

party liability for personal injury or property damage remediation costs or adversely affect our ability to sell lease or develop the property or to borrow using the

property as collateral which could materially and adversely affect our fmancial condition and results of operations

Environmental laws also impose ongoing compliance requirements on owners and operators of real estate Environmental laws potentially affecting us

address wide variety of matters including but not limited to asbestos-containing building
materials ACBMs storage tanks Storm water and wastewater

discharges lead-based paint radon wetlands and hazardous wastes Failure to comply with these laws could result in fines and penalties or expose us to third-

party liability which could materially and adversely affect us Some of our properties may have conditions that are subject to these requirements and we could be

liable for such fines or penalties or could be liable to third parties

The conditions at some of our properties may expose us to liability and remediatlon costs related to environmental matters which could materially and

adversely affect us

Certain of our properties may contain or may have contained ACI3Ms Environmental laws require that ACBMs be properly managed and maintained and

regulators may impose fines and penalties on building owners and operators for failure to comply with these requirements Also some of our properties may

contain or may have contained or are adjacent to or near other properties that may contain or may have contained
storage

tanks for the storage of petroleum

products or other hazardous or toxic substances Any of these conditions create the potential for the release of these contaminants Third parties may be permitted

by law to seek
recovery

from owners or operators for personal injury or property damage arising from such tanks Additionally third parties may be permitted by

law to seek
recovery

from owners or operators for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to these or other contaminants that may be present

on at or under the properties Furthermore some of our properties include regulated wetlands on undeveloped portions of such properties and mitigated wetlands

on or near our properties the existence of which can delay or impede development or require costs to be incurred to mitigate the impact of any disturbance

Absent appropriate permits we can be held responsible for restoring wetlands and be required to pay fmes and penalties which could materially and adversely

affect our cash flows financial condition results of operations and ability to pay distributions on our securities

Over the past several years there have been an increasing number of lawsuits against owners and operators of properties alleging personal injury and property

damage caused by the presence
of mold in real estate Mold growth can occur when excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials

particularly if the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time Concern about indoor
exposure

to mold has been increasing

as some molds have been shown to produce airborne toxins and irritants and
exposure to these and other types of molds may lead to adverse health effects and

symptoms including allergic or other reactions Some of our properties may contain microbial matter such as mold and mildew The presence of significant mold

at any of our properties could require us to undertake costly remediation program to contain or remove the mold from the affected property and could expose us

to liability from student-tenants employees and others if property damage or health concerns arise which could materially and adversely affect our cash flows

financial condition results of operations and ability to pay distributions on our securities
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If any of our properties are not properly connected to water or sewer system or if the integrity of such systems is breached microbial matter or other

contamination can develop If this were to occur we could incur significant remedial costs and we could also be subject to private damage claims and awards

shich could be material If we become subject to claims in this regard it could materially and adversely affect our business and our insurability
for such matters

in the future

Independent
environmental consultants have conducted Phase environmental site assessments on all of our properties These Phase environmental site

assessments are intended to evaluate information regarding the environmental condition of the surveyed property and surrounding properties based generally on

visual observations interviews and the review of publicly available information These assessments do not typically take into account all environmental issues

including but not limited to testing of soil or groundwater comprehensive asbestos survey or an invasive inspection for the presence of lead-based
paint

radon

or mold contamination As result these assessments may have failed to reveal all environmental conditions liabilities or other compliance issues affecting our

properties
Material environmental conditions liabilities or compliance issues may have arisen after the assessments were conducted or may arise in the future

In addition future laws ordinances or regulations may impose material additional environmental liabilities We cannot assure you that the cost of fisSure

environmental compliance or remedial measures will not affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders or that such costs or other remedial measures

will not be material to us

We may incur significant costs complying with the Americans with Disabilities Ac4 the Fair Housing Act and similar laws which could materially and

adversely affect us

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act ADA all public accommodations must meet various federal requirements related to access and use by

disabled persons Compliance with the ADAs requirements may require modifications to our properties such as the removal of access barriers or restrict our

ability to renovate or develop our properties in the manner we desire Additional federal state and local laws may also require us to make similar modifications or

impose similar restrictions on us For example the Fair Housing Act FFIA requires apartment properties first occupied after March 13 1990 to be accessible

to the handicapped

We have not conducted an audit or investigation of all of our properties to determine our compliance with present requirements of the ADA FHA or any

similar laws Noncompliance with
any

of these laws could result in us incurring significant costs to make substantial modifications to our properties or in the

imposition of fines or an award or damages to private litigants We cannot predict the ultimate amount of the cost of compliance with the ADA FHA or other

legislation
If we incur substantial costs to comply with the ADA FHA or any other legislation our results of operations financial condition and our ability to

make distributions on our securities could be materially and adversely affected

We may incur sign fl cant costa complying with other regulatory requirements which could materially and adversely affect us

Our properties are subject to various federal state and local regulatory requirements such as State and local fire and life safety requirements If we fail to

comply with these various requirements we might
incur governmental fines or private damage awards Furthermore existing requirements could change and

require us to make significant unanticipated expenditures which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition and our

ability to make distributions on our securities

Uninsured losses or losses in excess of insured limits could materially and adversely affect us

We
carsy comprehensive liability fire extended coverage terrorism and rental loss insurance covering all of the properties in our portfolio Our insurance

includes
coverage

for earthquake damage to properties located in seismically active areas windstorm damage to properties exposed to hurricanes and terrorism

insurance on all of our properties Our insurance policies are subject to
coverage

limits and applicable deductibles and if we suffer substantial loss our

coverage may be insufficient All insurance policies are also subject to coverage
extensions that we believe are typical for our business We do not carry insurance

for generally uninsured losses such as loss from riots or other acts of God

In the event we experience loss which is uninsured or which exceeds our policy limits we could lose the capital invested in the damaged property as well as

the anticipated future cash flows from such property In addition we might nevertheless remain obligated for any mortgage debt or other financial obligations

related to the
property Inflation changes in building codes and ordinances environmental considerations and other factors might also keep us from using

insurance proceeds to replace or renovate property after it has been damaged or destroyed Under such circumstances the insurance proceeds we receive might

be inadequate to restore our economic position with
respect to the damaged or destroyed property Furthermore in the event of substantial loss at one or more of

our properties that is covered by one or more policies the remaining insurance under these policies if any could be insufficient to adequately insure our other

properties In such event securing additional insurance policies if possible could be significantly more expensive than our current policies Any loss of these

types may materially and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

Future terrorist attacks in the United States or an increase in incidents of violence on college campuses could reduce the demand for and the value of our

properties which could materially and adversely affect us

Fttture terrorist attacks in the United States such as the attacks that occurred in New York and Washington D.C on September Il 2001 and acts of war or

threats of the same could reduce the demand for and the value of our properties Any such event in any of the markets in which our properties are located would

make it difficult for us to maintain the affected propertys occupancy or to re-lease the property at rates equal to or above historical rates which could materially

and adversely
affect our results of operations and the market price of our capital stock and could also materially adversely affect our ability to make distributions

on our securities
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Incidents of violence on college campuses could pose
similar problems if such an incident were to occur on college campus in one of our markets Such an

event in any of our markets could not only adversely affect our occupancy rates but would also likely lead to increased operating expenses
for such properties

due so increased security costs which would likely be necessaay to reassure our student-tenants in the wake of such an incident Any such increase in operating

expenses may have material adverse effect on the results of operations of the affected property

In addition terrorist attacks or violent incidents could directly impact the value of our properties through damage destruction or loss and the availability of

insurance for such acts may be limited or prohibitively expensive If we receive casualty proceeds we may not be able to reinvest such proceeds profitably or at

all and we may be forced to recognize taxable gain on the affected
property

which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition and

results of operations

Risks Related to Our Company and Structure

Provisions of our charter allow our board of directors to authorize the issuance of additional securities which may limit the ability of thi rdparty to acquire

control of us thro ugh transaction that our stockholders believe to be in their best interest

Our charter authorizes our board of directors to issue up to 500000000 shares of common stock and up to 50000000 shares of preferred stock In addition

subject to the rights of holders of Series Preferred Stock to approve
the classification or issuance of any class or series of stock ranking senior to the Series

Preferred Stock our board of directors may without stockholder approval amend our charter to increase the aggregate
number of our shares or the number of

shares of
any

class or series that we have the authority to issue and to classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred
stock and to set the

preferences rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified stock As result our board of directors may authorize the issuance of additional stock or

establish series of common or preferred stock that may have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing change in control of us including through

transaction at premium over the market price of our securities even if our stockholders believe that change in control through such transaction is in their best

interest

Provisions of Maryland law may limit the ability of third
party

to acquire control of us which in turn may negatively affect our stockholders ability to

realize premium over the market price of our securities

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law the MGCL may have the effect of inhibiting third party from making proposal to acquire

us or of impeding change in control under circumstances that otherwise could provide our stockholders with the opportunity to realize premium over the

market price of our securities including

The Maryland Business Combination Act which subject to limitations prohibits certain business combinations between us and an interested

stockholder defined generally as any person
who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our voting capital stock or an affiliate of

any interested stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder and thereafter

imposes special appraisal rights and special stockholder voting requirements on these combinations and

The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act which provides that our control shares defined as shares which when aggregated with other shares

controlled by the stockholder entitle the stockholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges
of voting power in electing directors acquired in

control share acquisition defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of ownership or control ofcontrol shares have no voting rights except to

the extent approved by our stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter excluding all

interested shares

By resolution of our board of directors we have opted out of the business combination provisions of the MGCL and provided that any business combination

between us and
any

other
person

is exempt from the business combination provisions of the MGCL provided that the business combination is first approved by

our board of directors including majority of directors who are not affiliates or associates of such persons Pursuant los provision in our bylaws we have opted

out of the control share provisions of the MGCL However our board of directors may by resolution elect to opt into the business combination provisions of the

MGCL and we may by amendment to our bylaws opt
into the control share provisions of the MGCL in the future

Additionally Title Subtitle of the MGCL permits our board of directors without stockholder approval and regardless of what is currently provided in our

charter or bylaws to implement certain takeover defenses such ass classified board some of which we do not yet
have These provisions may have the effect of

inhibiting third party
from making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying deferring or preventing change in control of us that otherwise could provide

our stockholders with the opportunity to realize premium over the market price of our securities
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The ownership limitations in our charter may restrict or prevent you from engaging in certain transfers of our securities which may delay or preveni

change in control of us that our stockholders believe to be in their best interest

In order for us to qualift as REIT no more than 50% in value of the outstanding shares of our capital stock may be owned directly or indirectly by five or

fewer individuals as defined in the federal income tax laws to include various kinds of entities during the last half of any taxable year Attribution rules in the

Internal Revenue Code determine if any individual or entity actually or constructively owns our capital stock under this requirement Additionally at least

100
persons

must beneficially own shares of our capital
stock during at least 335 days of each taxable year To assist us in qualifiing as REIT our charter

contains stock ownership limit which provides that subject to certain exceptions no person or entity may beneficially own or be deemed to own by virtue of

the applicable
constructive ownership provisions of the internal Revenue Code more than 9.8% by vote or value whichever is more restrictive of either our

outstanding common stock or our outstanding capital stock in the aggregate In addition the Series Preferred Stock articles supplementary provide generally

that no person may own or be deemed to own by virtue of the attribution provisions of the internal Revenue Code more than 9.8% in value or in number of

shares whichever is more restrictive of our outstanding Series Preferred Stock Generally any of our shares of capital stock owned by affiliated owners will be

added together for purposes
of the stock ownership limits

If anyone transfers shares of our stock in way that would violate the stock ownership limits or prevent us from qualifing as REIT under the federal

income tax laws those shares instead will be transferred to trust for the benefit of charitable beneficiary and will be either redeemed by us or sold to person

whose ownership of the shares will not violate the stock ownership limits or we will consider the transfer to be null and void from the outset and the intended

transferee of those shares will be deemed never to have owned the shares Anyone who acquires securities in violation of the stock ownership limits or the other

restrictions on transfer in our charter bears the risk of suffering
fmancial loss when the shares are redeemed or sold if their market price falls between the date of

purchase and the date of redemption or sale

The constructive ownership rules under the internal Revenue Code are complex and may cause stock owned actually or constructively by group of related

individuals or entities to be owned constructively by one individual or entity As result the acquisition of less than 9.8% of our stock or the acquisition of an

interest in an entity that owns actually or constructively our stock by an individual or entity could nevertheless cause that individual or entity or another

individual or entity to own constructively
in excess of 9.8% of our outstanding stock and therefore would subject the individual or entity to the stock ownership

limits However under certain circumstances our charter provides that our board of directors shall make an exception to this limitation if our board determines

that such exception will not jeopardize our tax status as REIT

In addition the stock ownership limits and the other restrictions on transfer in our charter may have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing third

party from acquiring control of us whether such transaction involved premium price for our securities or otherwise was in the best interest of our

stockholders

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited which could limit the recourse available in the event

actions are taken that are not in the best interest of our atockholderx

Maryland law provides that director has no liability in connection with the directors management of the business and affairs of corporation if he or she

performs his or her duties in good faith in manner he or she reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation and with the care that an ordinarily

prudent person in like position
would use under similar circumstances In addition our charter exculpates our directors and officers from liability to us and our

stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from actual receipt of an improper benefit in money property or services or active and deliberate

dishonesty established by final judgment and which is material to the cause of action Our charter authorizes us to indemnif our directors and officers for

actions taken by them in those capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law Our bylaws require us to indemni each director or officer to the

maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in the defense of
any proceeding to which he or she is made or threatened to be made party by reason of his or

her service to us In addition we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our directors and officers As result we and our stockholders may have

more limited rights against our directors and officers which could limit the recourse available in the event actions are taken that are not in our stockholders best

interest

Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficul4 which could make it difficult for our stockholders to effect changes to out

management that our stockholders believe to be in their best interest

Our charter provides that director may be removed only for cause as defined in our charter and then only by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of

the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors Our charter also provides that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by

majority
of the remaining directors in office even if less than quorum These requirements prevent

stockholders from removing directors except for cause and

with substantial affirmative vote and from replacing directors with their own nominees As result change in our management that our stockholders believe is

in their best interest may be delayed deferred or prevented

Our board of directors has approved very broad investment guidelines for us and does not review or approve each investment decision made by our

management team

Our management team is authorized to follow broad investment guidelines and therefore has great latitude in determining which investments are proper
for

us as well as in making the individual investment decisions Our management team may make investments with lower rates of return than those anticipated under

current market conditions and/or may make investments with
greater

risks to achieve those anticipated returns
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The ability of our board of directors to change some of our policies without the consent of our stockholders may lead to the adoption ofpolicies thai are not in

the best interest of our stockholders

Our major policies including our policies with respect to investments leverage financing growth debt and capitalization are determined by our board of

directors or those committees or officers to whom our board of directors may delegate such authority Our board of directors also establishes the form timing

and/or amount of any dividends or distributions that we may pay to our stockholders Our board of directors or the committees or officers to which such decisions

may be delegated have the ability to amend or revise these and our other policies at any time without stockholder vote Accordingly our stockholders may not

have control over changes in our policies and we may adopt policies that may not
prove

to be in the best interests of our stockholders

Members of our management and board of directors are holders of OP units and their interests may differ from those of our stockholders

Members of our management and board of directors are direct or indirect holders of OP units As holders of OP units they may have conflicting interests

with our stockholders For example they may have different tax positions from our stockholders which could influence their decisions regarding whether and

when to dispose of assets whether and when so incur new indebtedness or refmance existing indebtedness and how to structure fhture transactions As result

our management and board of directors may implement policies or make decisions that are not in the best interest of our stockholders

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers that require us to make payments in the event such officers employment

is terminated by us without cause or by such officer for good reason This may make it dffl cult for us to effrct changes to our management or limit the ability

of thi rdparty to acquire control of us when it would otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders

The employment agreements shat we entered into with certain of our executive officers provide benefits under certain circumstances that could make it more

difficult for us to terminate these officers Therefore even if we sought to replace
these officers it may not be economically viable for us to do so Furthermore

because an acquiring company would likely seek to replace these officers with their own personnel these employment agreements
could have the effect of

delaying deterring or preventing change in control of us that would otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders

Our primary assets are our general partnership interest in the Operating Partnership
and OP units and as result we depend on distributions from the

Operating Partnership to pay dividends and expenses

We are holding company and have no material assets other than our general partnership interest and OP units We intend to cause the Operating Partnership

to make distributions to its limited partners including us in an amount sufficient to allow us to qualif as REIT for federal income tax purposes
and to pay all

our expenses To the extent we need funds and the Operating Partnership is restricted from making distributions under applicable law agreement or otherwise or

if the Operating Partnership is otherwise unable to provide such funds the failure to make such distributions could adversely affect our liquidity and financial

condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders

We operate through partnership structure which could materially and adversely affect us

Our primary property-owning vehicle is the Operating Partnership of which we are the sole general partner Our acquisition of properties through the

Operating Partnership
in exchange for OP units may permit certain tax deferral advantages to the sellers of those properties If properties contributed to the

Operating Partnership have unrealized gain attributable to the difference between the fair market value and adjusted tax basis in such properties prior to

contribution then the sale of such properties could cause material and adverse tax consequences to the partners who contributed such properties Although we as

the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership generally have no obligation to consider the tax
consequences

of our actions to
any

limited partner in

connection with our formation transactions we agreed to indemnif MXT Capital for certain tax
consequences

related to our properties There can be no

assurance that the Operating Partnership will not acquire properties in the future subject to material restrictions designed to minimize the adverse tax

consequences to the partners who contribute such properties Such restrictions could result in significantly reduced flexibility to manage our properties which

could materially and adversely affect our business fmancial condition and results of operations
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We have fiduciary duties as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership which may result in conflicts of interest in representing your interests as

our stockholders

Conflicts of interest could arise in the future as result of the relationship between us on the one hand and the Operating Partnership or any partner thereof

on the other We as the sole general partner
of the Operating Partnership have fiduciary duties to the other limited partners in the Operating Partnership under

Delaware law At the same time our directors and officers have duties to us and our stockholders under applicable Maryland law in connection with their

management of us Our duties as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership may come in conflict with the duties of our directors and officers to us and

our stockholders For example those persons holding OP units will have the right to vote on certain amendments to the partnership agreement which require

approval by majority in interest of the limited partners including us and individually to approve certain amendments that would adversely affect their rights

These voting rights may be exercised in manner that conflicts with the interests of our stockholders We are unable to modil the rights of limited partners to

receive distributions as set forth in the partnership agreement in manner that adversely affects their rights without their consent even though such modification

might be in the best interest of our stockholders Our partnership agreement provides that if there is conflict between the interests of our stockholders on one

hand and the interests of the limited partners on the other we will endeavor in good faith to resolve the conflict in manner not adverse to either our

stockholders or the limited
partners provided however that for so long as we own controlling interest in the Operating Partnership we have agreed to resolve

any
conflict that cannot be resolved in manner not adverse to either our stockholders or the limited partners in favor of our stockholders

Changes in accounting rules assumptions andlor judgments could materially and adversely affect us

Accounting rules and interpretations for certain aspects of our operations are highly complex and involve significant assumptions and judgment These

complexities could lead to delay in the preparation and public dissemination of our fmancial statements Furthermore changes in accounting
rules and

interpretations or in our accounting assumptions and/or judgments such as those described in our summary of significant accounting policies in the notes to the

consolidated and combined financial statements could significantly impact the actual results included in our financial statements Under any of these

circumstances our financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

We may not be able to maintain our distribution rate and we may be required to fund the minimum distribution
necessary

to qualify for taxation as REIT

from sources that could reduce our cash flows

Our ability to fund any distributions will depend in part upon continued successful leasing of our existing portfolio successful development activity and fee

income from development construction and management services To the extent these sources are insufficient we may use our working capital or borrowings

under our revolving credit facility to fund distributions If we need to fund future distributions with borrowings under our revolving credit facility or from

working capital or if we reduce our distribution rate our stock price may be adversely affected In addition to the extent that we fund any distributions with

borrowings under our revolving credit facility or from working capital our cash available for investment in our business including for property development and

acquisition purposes will decrease

In addition in order to qualiQ for taxation as REIT among other requirements we must make distributions to stockholders aggregating annually to at least

90% of our REIT taxable income excluding net capital gains To the extent that in respect of any calendar year cash available for distribution to our

stockholders is less than our REIT taxable income we would be required to fund the minimum distribution necessary to quaIif for taxation as REIT from other

sources which could include asset sales or borrowings Funding distribution through asset sales or borrowings could reduce our cash flow from operations

increase our interest expense and decrease our cash available for investment in our business We may also choose to meet this distribution requirement by

distributing combination of cash and shares of our common stock See Federal Income Tax Risk FactorsWe may pay taxable dividends of our common stock

and cash in which case stockholders may sell shares of our common stock to pay tax on such dividends placing
downward

pressure on the market price of our

common stock

Any distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits will not be taxable to holder to the extent that they do not exceed the

holders adjusted basis in the shares of stock in respect of which the distributions were made but rather will reduce the adjusted basis of these shares To the

extent that such distributions exceed the adjusted basis of stockholders shares they will generally be included in income as capital gains

The market price of our securities may be volatile due to numerous circumstances some of which are beyond our controL

The market price
of our securities may be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations Our financial performance government regulatory action tax laws

interest rates and market conditions in general could have significant impact on the market price
of our securities Some of the factors that could negatively

affect the market price or result in fluctuations in the market price of our securities include

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results

changes in our financial performance or earnings estimates

increases in market interest rates which among other consequences may lead purchasers of our securities to require higher dividend yield to

make or maintain an investment

changes in market valuations of similar companies

adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we incur in the future

additions or departures of key personnel
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actions by our stockholders

speculation in the press or investment community

general market economic and political conditions including the recent economic slowdown and dislocation in the global credit markets

our issuance of additional shares of common stock or other securities

availability of outstanding shares of our common stock including sales of substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market

including shares held by our directors officers or their affiliates

the performance of other similar companies

changes in accounting principles

passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry and

the potential impact of the recent economic slowdown on the student housing industry and related budgets of colleges and universities

Future offerings of debt securities which would be senior to our common stock upon liquidation or equity securities which would dilute our existing

stockholders and may be senior to our common stock for the purposes of distributions may limit our operaling and financiai flexibility and adversely affect

the market price of our securities

Our common stock is ranked junior to our Series Preferred Stock Our outstanding Series Preferred Stock also has preference upon our dissolution

liquidation or winding up in respect of assets available for distribution to our stockholders Holders of our common stock are not entitled to preemptive rights or

other protections against dilution In the future we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or equity securities

including commercial paper medium-term notes senior or subordinated notes and classes of preferred or common stock Upon liquidation holders of our debt

securities and shares of preferred stock and lenders with
respect to other borrowings will receive distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our

common stock Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders or reduce the market price of our securities or both In addition it

is possible that these securities or indebtedness will be governed by an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility and

limiting our ability to make distributions to our stockholders Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future offering or otherwise incur

indebtedness will depend on then-current market conditions and other factors beyond our control we cannot predict or estimate the amount timing or nature of

our future offerings or financings Thus our stockholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our securities and diluting their

proportionate ownership

Our lack of formal enterprise risk managem ent framework could adversely affect our profitability business finan ci condition or results of operations

In the course of our senior managements efforts to identif assess and manage our risks they currently do not have the benefit of formal enterprise risk

management program to facilitate their efforts While many of the risks that we monitor and manage are described in this section of this report our business

operations could also be affected by additional factors that are not presently described or known to us or that we currently consider immaterial to our operations

Without formal enterprise risk management framework we may not be able to effectively manage and mitigate the risks to which we are subject or effectively

minimize any losses stemming from such risks Even with formal enterprise risk management framework our efforts to identify monitor and manage risks may

not be fully effective Failure to identit prioritize and appropriately manage or mitigate these risks could adversely affect our profitability or our ability to retain

or grow business and could adversely affect our business financial condition or results of operations

Federal Income Tax Risk Factors

Our failure to remain qualified as REIT could have material and adverse effect on us and on the value of our securities

We intend to continue to operate in manner that will allow us to continue to qualifi as REIT for U.S federal income tax purposes
under the Internal

Revenue Code If we lose our qualification as REIT we will face significant adverse tax consequences that would substantially reduce the funds available for

distribution to our stockholders for each of the years involved because

we would not be allowed deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income and we would be subject to U.S federal

income tax at regular corporate rates

we also could be subject to the U.S federal alternative minimum tax and possibly increased state and local taxes and
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unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions we could not elect to be taxed as REIT for four taxable years following

year during which we were disqualified

In addition if we lose our qualification as REIT we will not be required to make distributions to stockholders and all distributions to our stockholders will

be subject to tax as regular corporate dividends to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits This means that our U.S stockholders that are

individuals would be taxed on our dividends at the current maximum U.S federal income tax rate currently of 20% and our corporate stockholders generally

would be entitled to the dividends received deduction with respect to such dividends subject in each case to applicable
limitations under the Internal Revenue

Code

Qualification ass REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Internal Revenue Code provisions and regulations promulgated thereunder

for which there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations Even technical or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our ability to quality as

REIT The complexity of these provisions and of the applicable U.S Treasury Department regulations Treasury Regulations that have been promulgated

under the Internal Revenue Code is greater in the case of REIT that like us holds its assets through partnership The determination of various factual matters

and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our ability to quality as REIT In order to continue to quality as REIT we must satisty number

of requirements on continuing basis including requirements regarding the composition of our assets sources of our gross income and stockholder ownership

Also we must make distributions to stockholders aggregating annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income excluding net capital gains

As result of these factors our failure to continue to quality as REIT could materially and adversely affect us and the market price of our securities

To remain qualified as REIT we will likely rely on the availability of equity and debt capital to fund our busines

To remain qualified as REIT we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income each year excluding net capital

gains and we will be subject to regular corporate
income taxes to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year In addition

we will be subject to a4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount if any by which distributions paid by us in any calendar year are less than the suns of 85% of

our ordinary income 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years Because of REIT distribution requirements we

may be unable to fund capital expenditures such as our developments future acquisitions or property upgrades or renovations from operating cash flow

Therefore we may be dependent on the public equity and debt capital markets and private lenders to fund our growth and other capital expenditures However

we may not be able to obtain this capital on favorable terms or at all Our access to third-party sources of capital depends in part on

general market conditions

our current debt levels and the number of properties subject to encumbrances

our current performance and the markets perception
of our growth potential

our cash flow and cash dividends and

the market price of our securities

If we cannot obtain capital from third-party sources we may not be able to acquire or develop properties when strategic opportunities exist satisty our debt

service obligations or make the cash distributions to our stockholders including those necessary to maintain our qualification as REIT which could materially

and adversely affect us

Even if we remain qualified as REIT we may face other tax liabilities that have material and adverse effect on us

Even if we continue to quality for taxation as REIT we may be subject to certain federal state and local taxes on our income and assets including taxes on

any undistributed income taxes on income from some activities conducted as result of foreclosure and state or local income property and transfer taxes Any

of these taxes would cause our operating costs to increase and therefore our business financial condition and retults of operations could be materially and

adversely affected

In particular various services provided at our properties generally cannot be provided directly by the property owner but must be provided through TRSs

that are treated as fully taxable corporations
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To remain qualgfled as RE11 we may be forced to limit the activities 010w TRSs which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of

operations

To remain qualified as REIT no more than 25% of the value of our total assets may consist of the securities of one or more TRSs Certain of our activities

such as our third-party development construction management and leasing services must be conducted through our TRSs for us to qualify or remain qualified as

REIT In addition certain non-customary services must be provided by TRS or an independent contractor If the revenues from such activities create risk

that the value of our TRSs based on revenues or otherwise approaches the 25% threshold we will be forced to curtail such activities or take other steps to remain

under the 25% threshold Since the 25% threshold is based on value it is possible that the IRS could successfully contend that the value of our TRSs exceeds the

25% threshold even if our TRS5 account for less than 25% of our consolidated revenues income or cash flow Our third-party services generally are performed by

our TRSs Consequently income earned from our third-party services and non-customary services will be subject to regular federal income taxation and state and

local income taxation where applicable thus reducing the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders

TRS is not permitted to directly or indirectly operate or manage hotel motel or other establishment more than one-half of the dwelling units in which

are used on transient basis We previously have been advised by counsel that the method of operating our TRS5 will not be considered to constitute such an

activity However future Treasury Regulations or other guidance interpreting the applicable provisions might adopt different approach or the IRS might

disagree with the conclusion of our counsel In such event we might be forced to change our method of operating our TRS5 or one or more of the TRSs could fail

to qualify as TRS which could cause us to fail to qualify as REIT Any of the foregoing circumstances could materially and adversely affect our business

financial condition and results of operations

lithe Operating Partnership fails to quali as partnership for federal income tax purposes we would cease to qualify as REIT and we could be materially

and adversely affected

We believe that the Operating Partnership qualifies to be treated as partnership for federal income tax purposes As partnership the Operating Partnership

is not subject to federal income tax on its income Instead each of its partners including us is required to pay tax on its allocable share of the Operating

Partnerships income No assurance can be provided however that the IRS will not challenge its status as partnership for federal income tax purposes or that

court would not sustain such challenge If the IRS were successful in treating the Operating Partnership as corporation for tax purposes we would fail to meet

the gross income tests and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs and accordingly cease to qualify as REIT The failure of the Operating Partnership to

qualify as partnership
would also cause it to become subject to federal state and corporate income tax which would reduce significantly the amount of cash

available for debt service and for distribution to its partners including us

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends which could materially and adversely affect the market

price of our securities

The maximum tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income payable to U.S stockholders that are taxed at individual rates is 20% Dividends payable by

REITs however generally are not eligible for the reduced rates on qualified dividend income Although this does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or

dividends payable by REITs the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors taxed at individual rates to

perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends which could materially

and adversely affect the market price of the stock of REIT5 including our securities

We may pay taxable dividends in the form our common stock and cash in which case stockholders may sell shares of our common stock topay tax on such

dividends placing do wn ward
pressure on the market price of our common stock

We may distribute taxable dividends that are payable in cash and common stock at the election of each stockholder The IRS has issued private letter rulings

to other REITs treating certain distributions that are paid partly in cash and partly in stock as taxable dividends that would satisfy the REIT annual distribution

requirement and qualify for the dividends paid deduction for federal income tax purposes Those rulings may be relied upon only by taxpayers to whom they were

issued but we could request similar ruling from the IRS Accordingly it is unclear whether and to what extent we will be able to make taxable dividends

payable in cash and common stock

If we made taxable dividend payable in cssh and common stock taxable stockholders receiving such dividends will be required to include the full amount

of the dividend as ordinary income to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits as determined for federal income tax purposes As result

stockholders may be required to pay income tax with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash dividends received If U.S stockholder sells the common

stock that it receives as dividend in order to pay this tax the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with respect to the dividend

depending on the market price of our common stock at the time of the sale Furthermore with respect to certain non-U.S stockholders we may be required to

withhold federal income tax with respect to such dividends including in respect of all or portion of such dividend that is payable in common stock If we made

taxable dividend payable in cash and our common stock and significant number of our stockholders determine to sell shares of our common stock in order to

pay taxes owed on such dividends it may be viewed as economically equivalent to dividend reduction and put downward pressure on the trading price of our

common stock We do not currently intend to pay taxable dividends in the form of our common stock and cash although we may choose to do so in the future
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Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tar liabilities which could materially and adversely

uffect our financiai condition and results of operations

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our liabilities Any income from hedging transaction we enter

into to manage risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or so be made to acquire or carry
real estate assets will not constitute gross income

for purposes of the 75% gross
income test or the 95%

gross
income test if certain requirements are not met To the extent that we enter into other types of

hedging transactions the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for
purposes

of both of the gross income tests As

result we might have to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through TRS This could increase the cost of our hedgmg

activities because domestic TRS would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise

want to bear In addition losses in our TRS5 will generally not provide any sax benefit except for being carried forward against future taxable income in the

respective TRS These increased costs could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

The tar imposed on REIT5 engaging in prohibited transactions may limit our ability to engage in transactions which would be treated as sales or otherwise

as taxable dispositions forfederal income tax purposes

REITs net income from prohibited transactions is subject to 100% penalty tax In general prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of

property other than foreclosure property
held in inventory primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business Although we do not intend to hold

any properties that would be characterized as inventory held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our business subject to certain statutory safe harbors

such characterization is factual determination and no guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with our characterization of our properties or that we will

always be able to make use of the available safe harbors

Re-characterization of sale-leasebacle transactions may cause us to lose our REIT status

We may purchase properties and lease them back to the sellers of such properties While we will use our best efforts to structure any such sale-leaseback

transaction so that the lease will be characterized as true lease thereby allowing us to be treated as the owner of the property for federal income tax purposes

the IRS could challenge such characterization In the event that
any

sale-leaseback transaction is challenged and re-characterized as financing transaction or loan

for federal income tax purposes deductions for depreciation
and cost recovery relating to such property would be disallowed Ifs sale-leaseback transaction were

so re-characterized we might fail to satisfy the REIT qualification asset tests or the income tests and consequently lose our REIT status effective with the

year
of re-characterization Alternatively the amount of our REIT taxable income could be recalculated which might also cause us to fail to meet the distribution

requirement for taxable year

Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT status

To continue to quslify as REIT we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income If we are compelled to liquidate our

investments to satisfy our obligations to our lenders we may be unable to comply with these requirements ultimately jeopardizing our status as REIT or we

may be subject to 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets treated as desler property or inventory

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments or to forgo otherwise attractive investment opportunities

which could materially and adversely affect our businessfinancial condition and results of operations

To continue to qualify as REIT for U.S federal income tax purposes we continually must satisfy tests concerning among other things the sources of our

income the
type

and diversification of our assets the amounts we distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of our stock If we fail to comply with these

requirements at the end of any calendar quarter we must correct such failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter to avoid suffering adverse tax

consequences including potentially losing our REIT status As result we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments which could materially

and adversely affect us In addition we may be unable to
pursue

investments that would be otherwise advantageous to us in order to satisfy the source-of-income

asset-diversification or distribution requirements for qualifying as REIT Thus compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to make certain

attractive investments which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

The ability of our board of directors to revoke our REIT election without stockholder approval may cause adverse consequences to our stockholders

Our charter provides that our board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election without the approval of our stockholders if it

determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify as REIT If we cease to qualify ass REIT we would become subject to federal income

tax on our taxable income and would no longer be required to distribute most of our taxable income to our stockholders which may have adverse consequences

on the total return to our stockholders

New legislation regulation or administrative orjudicioi action in each instance potentially with retroactive effect could make it more difficult or impossible

for us to qualify as RE17

The present U.S federal income tax treatment of REITs may be modified possibly with retroactive effect by legislative regulatory administrative or

judicial action at anytime which could affect the U.S federal income tax treatment of an investment in our stock The U.S federal income tax rules that affect

REITs are under constant review by persons involved in the legislative process
the IRS and the U.S Treasury Department which results in statutory changes as

well as frequent revisions to regulations
and interpretations Revisions in U.S federal tax laws and interpretations thereof could cause us to change our

investments and commitments which could also affect the tax considerations of an investment in our stock
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Risks Related to the Copper Beech Acquisition

if we are unable to successfully integrate the operations of the CB Portfolio we could be materially and adversely affrctesL

tn February 2013 we entered into purchase and sale agreements to acquire interests in portfolio
of 35 student housing properties one undeveloped land

parcel and corporate office building
held by the members of Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC CBTC and Copper Beech Townhome

Communities PA LLC CBTC PA together with CBTC Copper Beech or the Sellers the CB Portfolio The CB Portfolio Acquisition represents the

largess acquisition of property portfolio that we have ever contracted to acquire The transaction involves the integration of portfolio of properties
that has

previously operated independently Successful integration of these operations will depend primarily on our ability to consolidate standards controls procedures

and policies
This transaction will also pose other risks commonly associated with similar transactions including unanticipated liabilities unexpected costs and

the diversion of managements attention to the integration
of the operations of the CB Portfolio We may not be able to integrate these operations without

encountering difficulties including but not limited to the disruption of our ongoing businesses or possible inconsistencies in standards controls procedures and

policies If we have difficulties with any of these integrations we might not achieve the economic benefits we expect to result from the transaction and this may

hurt our business and financial results In addition we may experience greater-than-expected
costs or difficulties relating to she integration

of the operations of the

CB Portfolio Additional risks include but are not limited to the following

inability to effectively monitor and manage our expanded portfolio of properties retain key employees or attract highly qualified new employees

insbility so compete in new markets

increased costs or increases in taxable income due to restructuring or other steps required in connection with the integration of the CB Portfolio ass

result of our compliance with the sax requirements applicable to REITs under the Code

projections
of estimated future revenues cost savings or operating metrics that we developed during the due diligence and integration planning

process may not be achieved

the value of the acquired properties or the market price of our common stock may decline

adverse impact on the effectiveness of our internal controls and compliance with the regulatory requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

unanticipated issues expenses and liabilities diversion of our managements attention away from other business concerns

exposure
to any undisclosed or unknown potential liabilities relating to the CB Portfolio and

potential underinsured losses on the CB Portfolio

We cannot assure you that we would be able to integrate the CB Portfolio without encountering difficulties or that any such difficulties will not have

material adverse effect on us Additionally we cannot assure you that the CB Portfolio Acquisition will be accretive to us in the near term or at all Failure to

realize the intended benefits of the CB Portfolio Acquisition could have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial condition the market price

of our common shares and our distributions to our shareholders Furthermore if we fail to realize the intended benefits of the CB Portfolio Acquisition the

market price of our common stock could decline so the extent that the market price reflects those benefits

We may not exercise our options to acquire additional interests in the CR Portfolio which could have material adverse effect on the price of our common

stock our business or our results of operation

Pursuant to the terms of the limited liability company operating agreements governing the properties that comprise the CB Portfolio we currently do not

have control of Ihe CB Portfolio or its operations Our holding non-controlling
interest in the CB Portfolio involves risks not present

with
respect

to our wholly

owned properties including the following

we generally
will be unable to take actions that are opposed by the CB Investors under arrangements

that give the CB Investors sole control or that

require us to share decision making authority over major decisions affecting the owner ship or operation of the CB Portfolio

the CB Investors may take actions that we oppose or that result in liability to us

our ability to sell or transfer our interest in the CB Portfolio to third party may be restricted without prior consent of the CB Investors

the CB Investors might become bankrupt or fail to fund their share of required capital contributions which may delay construction development or

operation of property

the CB Investors may have business interests or goals with respect to property
that conflict with our business interests and goals

which could

increase the likelihood of disputes or impasses regarding
the ownership management or disposition of the property

the limited liability company operating agreements governing the properties in the CB Portfolio include certain provisions intended to protect our

status as REIT including provisions which require our prior written consent before certain specific actions can be taken However we cannot

provide any assurances that the CB Investors will not take actions that could jeopardize our status as PELT or require us to pay tax

we may disagree with the CB Investors about decisions affecting property or the CB Portfolio which could result in litigation or arbitration that

increases our expenses distracts our officers and directors and disrupts the day-to-day operations of the property including by delaying important

decisions until the dispute is resolved and

we may suffer losses as result of actions taken by the CB Investors with respect to the CB Portfolio

The occurrence of one or more of these risks could have material adverse effect on the price of our common stock our business or our results of operations

If we do not exercise our options to acquire additional interests in the CB Portfolio our economic interest in the CR Portfolio will be red uceL

Through each of August 2014 May 2015 and May 2016 we may elect to acquire additional interests in the CB Portfolio at purchase prices and on terms set

forth in the Purchase Agreement as amended see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations CB

Portfolio Acquisition If we do not elect to exercise purchase option we will lose the right to exercise future purchase options and with respect to the August

2014 and May 2015 purchase options our interest in the proceeds from any sale of any properties in the CB Portfolio will be reduced If the August 2014

purchase option is not exercised our interest in the CB Portfolio and its operating cash flows will be reduced to 48% and we will be entitled to only 45% of the

proceeds of
any

sale of any portion of the CB Portfolio and will not be entitled to any preferred payments from and after the expiration of the August 2014

purchase option If the August 2014 purchase option is exercised but the May 2015 purchase option is not exercised our interest in the CB Portfolio and its

operating cash flows will be reduced to 75% and we will be entitled to only 70% of the proceeds
of

any
sale of any portion of the CB Portfolio If the value of our

interest in the CB Portfolio declines it could have material adverse effect on our balance sheet or on our financial performance
or results of operations

Furthermore as and to the extent that our interest in the CB Portfolio increases it will
comprise larger percentage

of our portfolio of properties which will

increase the risk that decline in the value of the C13 Portfolio could have material adverse effect on our balance sheet or on our financial performance or results

of operations

Our inability to provide audited financial
statements for the CR Portfolio in accordance with Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X may cause us to be unable to

complete registered offering which would materially adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets

Pursuant to Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X Rule 3-09 we are required to provide
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Form 10-K audited financial

statements for the CB Portfolio for the period from March 18 2013 so December 31 2013 However we are unable to file the audited financial information

required by Rule 3-09 and have omitted such information in reliance on Rule 12b-21 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the



Exchange Act and Rule 409 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended In connection with our acquisition of the CR Portfolio we were

required to rely upon the sellers of the CB Portfolio to provide the necessary information to complete the audited fmancial statements as required under Rule 3-

09 The sellers of the CB Portfolio agreed to cooperate with us to provide all requested financial information relating to the CB Portfolio and in accordance with

this agreement to cooperate we requested the information necessaiy to complete the audited financial statements as required under Rule 3-09 and the sellers of

the CB Portfolio cooperated in responding to such requests Notwithstanding our and the sellers extensive efforts to compile the necessaty financial information

we have determined that the information necessary
for the preparation of audited financial statements of the CR Portfolio in accordance with Rule 3-09 is not

available or otherwise sufficiently reliable As result we have included in this Form 10-K an unaudited combined consolidated statement of revenues and

certain expenses
for the CB Portfolio for the period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013 As result of including such fmancial information for the CB

Portfolio we do not believe that the omission of the audited fmancial statements in accordance with Rule 3-09 will have material impact on readers

understanding of our financial condition or our results of operations

If the SEC however were to determine that we are not permitted to rely upon Rule 12b-2l and Rule 409 in these circumstances and were to determine that

the omission of the audited financial statements as required under Rule 3-09 caused material deficiency in our Form 10-K then we would no longer be deemed

timely and current in our Exchange Act reporting requirements and therefore would be ineligible to use short form registration statement on Form S-3 In

addition the SEC may not declare effective
any registration statement that we file in connection with an offering that requires the fmancial statements under Rule

3-09 to be included If as result we are unable to complete registered offering our ability to access the public capital markets would be materially adversely

affected Any resulting inability to complete registered offering may materially adversely impact our business growth prospects including our ability to

exercise options to acquire additional interests in the CB Portfolio financial condition and results of operations

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We own interests in 41 The Grove
operating properties and 28 Copper Beech branded operating properties All of The Grove operating properties are less

than nine years old and more than half are less than four years old No single property
accounted for more than 5% of our total assets or

gross
revenue as of

December31 2013 or 2012 or for the years
then ended

We focus our investment activities on properties located in medium-sized college and university
markets where we believe the overall market dynamics are

favorable All of our properties are modem facilities with private baths for each bedroom and are largely uniform throughout the portfolio
with each

property

having similar appearance and amenities package along with The Grove branding We own and maintain federal trademark registrations on The Grove and

The Grove Fully Loaded College Living each of which we registered on November 20 2007 Thirty-one of our operating properties are wholly-owned and are

operated under the brand The Grove Additionally ten of our joint venture operating properties operate under the brand The Grove Our brand provides an

identity for our marketing and selling activities our operstions and other on-site activities The brand figures prominently on our web site promotional materials

and local signage and all of our properties
in general have been based upon our common prototypical design
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Amenities at our properties generally include resort style swimming pool basketball courts beach volleyball courts fire pits and barbeque areas and large

clubhouse featuring 24-hour fitness center library and computer center tavern style game room with billiards and other games tanning beds coffee shop and

study areas All of our properties are fully furnished with ultra suede upholstered couches and chairs and durable wood case goods and have full kitchens as well

as washers and dryers

Generally each student-tenant at our properties executes an individual lease agreement with us that is guaranteed by parent or guardian Lease terms are

generally 11.5 months which provides us with approximately two weeks to prepare
unit for new tenant if the current tenant is vacating upon the expiration of

the lease Rent is payable monthly in 12 equal installments In addition to unlimited use of all the property amenities listed above each tenant is entitled to cable

water/sewer and $30 per month electricity allowance Student-tenants are prohibited from subletting units without our prior written consent which is

conditioned on among other things the payment of transfer fee Student-tenants are responsible
for the outstanding lease obligations in the event that they are

denied admission to withdraw from or are placed on academic suspension or dismissed by the college or university that our property services

At December 31 2013 we owned 67% effective ownership interest in 28 Copper Beech branded operating properties The Copper Beech units are

townhomes with or beds and may be rented by the unit or by the bed with leases that are generally guaranteed by parent or guardian Lease terms are

generally 11.5 months which provides approximately two weeks to prepare
unit for new tenant if the current tenant is vacating upon the expiration of the

lease Rent is payable monthly in 12 equal installments Student-tenants are prohibited from subletting units without our prior written consent which is

conditioned on among other things the payment of transfer fee Student-tenants are responsible for the outstanding lease obligations in the event that they are

denied admission to withdraw from or are placed on academic suspension or dismissed by the college or university that our property services
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The following table presents
certain summaiy information about our The GroveR

operating properties

Avenge

Oee.p..ey Mo.tIy

FaIl 2012 Dsta.ee Ia en Tot.I Resee

Ye.r Overall Cenapen Noaber Ns.mber Dsnns.bee3l Per

Cil Stole Opeend Prm.rvC.iveeeilySneved Esrn0me.l smln ofUcils oflleda 20I3 OpiedBed323

Wbolp eseedGeavil

90-
Anheville NC

CarolHn6 GA

Lan Cruces NM

00llososiHil GA

Abdene TX

0Hshrg WA
Grnelny CO

8/9 M01s06-t040

Nnco8doohns II TX

SI Qlnnsy WA
/2 Lubbook TX

13 SOetdtaosilll TX

Troy AL

IS Weep TX

Murfnennboro TN

11 SlssMrnvsnv TX

IS Moncow ID

19 Htsat4aviIl TX

.10 Statnvboro GA

2ArneO 15

32 Clnoknvtlle TN

23 cokeabhe MO

54 Ft Wayne IN

25 Val GA

26 Aubont AL

31 Flogsgoff.It1 AZ

28 OronO ME

09 Fos8Csflbso38

tO Muroie IN

It Praflmee WA ________ _______ _______ _______
Subtotal

1.466 VeaOeeEGeoFe

82 Lawrence KS

53 OilsAognlO TX

54 Conway AR

33 IeelorS TX

36 Fnynttevilte AR

37 l.aaeassip WY
38 Stdlvvatnr OK

39 todIs PA

40 State College PA

41 Neem.o OX ______ ______ ______ ______ _______
Subtotal _______________ ______________ _____________________________________________

Tolal Ge.sm Papee6t

Represents
executed leases in place for the 2013-2014 academic year

Total revenue rental and service for the year ended December31 2013 divided by the sum of leased beds at the properties per month

Properties subject to ground lease with an unaffihiated third-party

Represents an average
of the properties within the grouping

Weighted average by number of leased beds as of December 312013

Joint venture properties include three properties in which we own 49.9% interest three properties in which we own 10% interest one property
in which

we own 20% interest and three properties in which we own 30% interest

2005 UNC Asheville

2006 tsdvrnshpo4W900eorghe

2006 New Mexico Store Univeenity

2006 GoUeggStaleUoinep6ly

2007 AbileneCteistiast University

2061 C06ntW40tth04ls1500hoe0ily

2007 Univeextry of Northern Colorado

2007400$ UsaivoelIlYstSO6IIII Alobsaun

2007/2013 Stephen Auntie State University

2006 Eistoeo W.9shsgtaaUnivorsbp

2000 Texas Tech University

2045$ TaeIat8030400nlss400y

2008 Troy Uoivernity

200 04944 Uaivas44y

2009 Middle Tennessee State University

200$ Tossee 03.46 UoinOenit5

2009 University
of Idaho

2010 S4exssoeg$tate tlssivsesiny

2010 Grorgia Southern Univeestty

2911 1ewS48eUsa8vsby

2011 Auntie Peoy state University

2111 thsivessbyoFMo6e.ati

lndiaeo University Purdue

2011 University

2081 V4340030006.Ual9otnily

2012 AubunnUnivernily

2912/20313 0401308055 Axlo6osttjssiversily

2012 University of Maine

2013 CotodsSSee4tJAln6oailp

2053 Ball State University

2010 WaoltiogSgss 0490 8JtlIsalaity

3753 0.1 154

11769 0.1 161

29.033 0.4 ISO

6.444 03 160

4367 0.5 l92

38.266 0.8 192

3070 10 92

14.636 0.0 384

12999 0.4 260

12.581 0.0 192

32467 1.2 92

32.524 00 092

22554 0.4 192

15364 0.9 192

25394 00 186

34225 1.7 192

2420 0.5 192

16461 6.2 192

20574 0.7 200

36740 0.3 216

10597 .3 205

34.704 04 216

448 998% 504

492 99.4% 440

492 05.0 453

492 994% 303

504 95.2 478

554 990% 534

504 994 502

6004 792% 493

682 86.6 559

512 051% 413

504 931 501

504 994% 51

514 934% 508

504 91.3% 574

504 98.0 463

504 100% 549

504 99.4 500

504 1008$ 471

536 75.2 524

544 500% 517

560 89.5 516

1832 726% 441

13771 1.1 204 540 937% 489

12.515 1.9 236 084 $44 8$ 50

25154 00 210 vOO 998 584

25991 0.2 270 776 999 49 620

10901 05 188 620 93.5 548

36459 6.6 218 612 100 8$ 613

21.053 0.1 256 584 70.5 501

27.679 0.6 91 263 lOB 04 564

18589 41 06 6065 16571 926 %0 520

2009 Knnnan Uwuernity 27135 1.6
172 500 860 466

2980 AogoIeSlOstJsln00hy 6.009 6.3 191 004 46.6 04 8317

2010 University ofCennnl Arhosrsas 11107 04 180 504 70.2 451

201F tjo.lyes80ynFNreKToee 31.950 3-9 20 084 914 8$ 592

2012 University
of Arkansan 24537 0.5 232 632 60.9 530

Jt2 32ts1v68oFW3rooshsg 52903 0.3 234 613 84.6 8$ 510

2052 Oklahoma Stote University 25.708 0.8 206 612 95.4 468

2813 10dla56U8i0080199004trssOyhOala 13596 06 224 400 92.0 04 581

2013 Porn State University 45783 0.8 524 600 68.8 625

2013 Ussivoepity orOitlellosirn 37501 06 216 584 00.3 8$ 060

23511 0.7 /41

2006 5732 82.9 %0 57

19.91$ 081 0.4 .148 8151 22.303 803
04355

589
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The following table presents certain summary information about our Copper Beech branded operating properties

2003 Porn Slate Unireenily

2000 Peon $iaUinm60y

2000 Indiana Univetnily of Pemtsylvooee

2001 6aI26wrs6ys6Pioy5voi

2004 Indiana Unicnrnity of Penmtylvanio

2000 ttatfford tis5neanity

2003 Purdue Univernily

2054 PurdimUeManity

2003 Indiana Univotnity

200.5 CtMnttiganUpisml6p

2006 Califomio StaIn Univrrntty at
Frenno

2003 BowlltgQ5eraUolneasity

2007 Bowlin4 Green Univerntly

2504 OnaodVatlty SttUnlssvslly

2007 Grand Valley State Univernity

2000 yofla0oootd

2006 Indiana lniverntry

2007 Uninm6yf Sooth Coanlisa

2008 Univrrnny of Sootlr Carolina

2414 Wont Viegiieunlnassily

2008 Jotnen Madinon Univrrnily

2008 lOOts MadlastsUodntosi

2008 Earl Carolina Univernily

201 ToonStoSMInens00

2012 Texas State Univrrnity

45753 1.9 166 250 000 54 787

45.783 LI 429 633 ItS 50 714

5596 0.6 95 239 100.0 474

55514 tO 52 172 500.0 96 434

15556 06 43 74 00.0 54 572

9573 0.0 222 500 59k% 398

40393 2.2 2l9 486 914 54 446

45393 020 535 496 Ott 96 357

42133 2.7 107 297 03.8 457

27626 53 204 632 40.2 96 460

22560 2.7 178 506 91.3 54 500

17306 12 124 400 908 96 355

17286 1.2 72 216 99.5 367

24.654 185 206 614 100.5 96 434

24654 0.5 82 290 1000 54 434

34.704 Ii 284 604 500.0 96 464

42133 0.5 206 402 82.3 54 371

71.296 2.4 270 024 994 532

31288 2.4 72 178 99.4 54 546

29.151 19 373 920 99.0 96 4t0

I9927 1.2 414 l2I8 99.7 54 492

10927 12 820 524 916 96 529

26447 1.9 439 1232 97.6 54 482

74.239 05 273 640 90.8% 557

__________
06 142 410 92.4 563

30331 051 Li 031 5047 13111 96.1 9641 49

Represents executed leases in place for the 2013-2014 academic year

Total revenue rental and service for the year ended December31 2013 divided by the sum of leaned beds at the properties per month

Represents an average
of the properties within the grouping

Weighted average by
number of leased beds as of December 31 2013

Expected Development Properties

In 2013 we commenced building four properties for our own account with completion targeted for the 2014-2015 academic year Information with respect

to these wholly-owned developments is included in the following table

Distance to

Tesgeted Fall 20t2 Overoll Compon Nomber Namber

City State Completion Primary University Served Enrollment Miles of Coils of Beds

Slittosey Rock PA AojBistZOt4 SIl46peWRdifAUolSofslly 4559 0.2 201 60
GrondForks ND Aogoxl2Ol4 UniversilyofNorlhDakola 55250 0.1 224 600

Mt Pleasant Mt Attzst2Ot4 Cm alMichloOstJSlSr00aiSSn 21020 09 214

t2aiornvilln FL Aogunl 2014 University of Florida 49913 0.3 253 676

25331 03173 594 2463

Represents an average of the properties within the grouping

Represents the median distance of the properties within this grouping

Anee.te

Onaapescy Mo.tbty

FnU 20t2 D8toaoe to as of Total Reve.m

Veer OneenU Camp.o Namber N.osbee Deeesaber3l Per

City State Oped Priosary University Serned Eneotharot miles oftsita ofBeda 20t3 Orentled Red

CntttpeB4ecbt-.-Statm Collate PA 1996 Pmsn$ta8Uoseolty 45783 1.1 59 577 915 50 53.5

Copper Beech IlStale CoIleye PA 1998 Prm Slate University 45.703 1.7 57 257 93.0 54 568

OokSsn-StOstolk99 PA 2060 PtrmllooUs5neeg 45.740 23 45 t44 77.1 50 737

Nonhbrook GrnronState

Collrge PA

.9 mtawoyPlaea.Stat.Co11o46 PA

IUP Phase lIndiatta PA

lUPfltaoell-4adba PA

II UP Bvylodiana PA

Rmt00d VA

10 Want Lafayrnr Klondike IN

It West t.athyeoo- Boynedor IN

Blootnington IN

13 MootoPItanasI MI

Frnno CA

IS Bnnnlkg0neeaaflmoot 010

Bowlin4 Green phtc II 061

Alloot00ePlnsrt Mi

Is Altrndale Phase II Ml

20 Cottosdai MO
20 Colonial CrestBloomington IN

21 Citltanblo$CPlnooE SC

22 Colombia SC Phase II SC

23 Mortatsn WV
24 Ilstnironbcrg VA

25 I4asnlsgnhaug MandOolcO VA

26 Greenville NC

77 SatiMainots Phase TX

25 Son Morton Photo II TX
__________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ _________________

TotalCo9pon Reeeh Protseetina
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As of December 31 2013 our four wholly-owned properties under construction had total costs incurred of $47.4 million and budgeted costs of

approximately
$123.7 million

We also commenced building two properties that are owned by joint venture that we established with HSRE in which we own 30% interest We are

currently targeting completion of these two properties for the 2014-2015 academic year Information with respect to these joint venture developments is included

in the following
table

Distance to

Targeted
Fall 2012 Overall Campns Nnmber Nnmber

Coy Stale Completion Pnmary University Served Enrollment Miles or Units of Beds

Jccenoboro NC Aogost 2014 Unisenaity ofNoethCntotiflaat

Grecooboro 18516 0.5 216 084

Louiusilk KY August 2014 Uaiverity ofLouisvilk 21239 252 654

Total
19070 0.3 20 48 1230

Represents an average
of the properties within the grouping

Represents the median distance of the properties
within this grouping

As of December 31 2013 these two joint venture properties under development described above had total costs incurred of $24.6 million and budgeted costs

of approximately $69.1 million Our proportionate share of the budgeted costs for these twojoint venture projects is $20.7 million

In January 2013 we commenced building property
that is owned by joint

venture that we established with HSRE and Brandywine in which we own

30% interest We are currently targeting completion of this property for the 2014-2015 academic year Information with
respect

to this joint venture development

is included in the following table

Distance to

Targeted
FaIl 2012 Overall Campns Namber Nnmber

City
Slate Completion Primny Universitios Served Enrollment MOes of Units of Beds

Philadelphia PA August20l4 Uolsefesosptviia

DrcxelUni4ersity 25J1 0.1 344 850

As of December 31 2013 this joint venture property under development had $61.7 million total costs incurred and budgeted costs of approximately $1 58.5

million Our proportionate
share of the budgeted costs for this joint venture project is $47.6 million

In October 2013 we commenced redeveloping one property that is owned by joint venture that we established with Beaumont in which we owned 20%

interest as of December 31 2013 In January 2014 our interest in this joint venture increased to 35% with the commencement of second redevelopment project

see Note 18 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements We are currently targeting completion
of these properties for the 2014-2015 academic year

Information with respect to these joint venture developments is included in the following
table

Distance to

Targeted Fall 20t2 Overall Campnn Namber Nnmber

City Province Completion Primary Uoiversities Served Enrollment Miles or Unit or Beds

\oltUettl QC Aogoot 2014 hGillUovstoity/Cusleoedi8

Untvcesity/ I.Eootc

dgTteltaoto0fC ViOl 04 715 1.290

Moutceul QC August 2014 McGill Uciversity 38779 4ss 952

Thtnt
33.185 II 84 0203 2242

Represents an average
of the properties within the grouping

Represents
the median distance of the properties

within this grouping

As of December 31 2013 these two joint venture properties under development described above had total costs incurred of $56.5 million and budgeted costs

of approximately $166.4 million Our proportionate share of the budgeted costs for these two joint venture projects
is $58.2 million
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Development and construction activities involve significant risks and uncertainties including risks of delays cost overruns and the potential expenditure of

funds on projects that are not ultimately completed For each of our expected 2014 development properties we commenced construction subsequent to

conducting significant pre-development
activities and acquiring the land or obtaining rights to the land as in ground lease necessary for the development of

these properties No assurance can be given that these developments will be completed in accordance with our current expectations including those with respect

to targeted completion and estimated cost In addition with respect to any properties developed through the joint venture that we established exclusively with

HSRE we will be responsible for funding the amount by which actual development Costs for project pursued by the venture exceed the budgeted development

costs of such project without any increase in our interest in the project Moreover no assurance can be given that these properties if completed will perform in

accordance with our expectations See Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our Business and PropertiesDeveloping properties will expose us to risks beyond those

associated with owning and operating
student housing properties and could materially and adversely affect our profitability Risk FactorsRisks Related to

Our Business and Properties The construction activities at our student housing properties expose us to liabilities and risks beyond those associated with the

ownership and operation of student housing properties which could materially and adversely affect our profitability Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our

Business and Properties Our development activities are subject to delays and cost overruns which could materially and adversely affect our results of

operations an inhibit growth Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our Business and Properties We may not realize return on our development activities in

timely manner which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our Business and

Properties Adverse economic conditions and dislocation in the credit markets have had material and adverse effect on us and may continue to materially and

adversely affect us and Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our Business and Properties Joint venture investments could be matenally and adversely affected by

our lack of sole decision-making authority our reliance on our co-ventures financial condition and disputes between our co-ventures and us

As we actively seek new development opportunities our current business plan contemplates the development of approximately
six to eight new student

housing properties per year As part
of this plan we purchase land on which to build our properties In addition to the projects under development at December

31 2013 we owned seven land parcels that could be used for the development of seven properties within either our wholly-owned portfolio or as contributions

to joint venture projects
with an aggregate

bed count ranging from approximately 3000 to 3500

Item Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business we are subject to claims lawsuits and legal proceedings In addition to the matter described below we are involved in

various routine legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business Although the Outcomes of such routine legal proceedings cannot be predicted with

certainty in the opinion of management the ultimate resolution of such routine matters will not have material adverse effect on our financial position or results

of operations

On July 2012 we and certain of our subsidiaries were named in state lawsuit filed with the 25othjudicial District Court of Travis County in Austin

Texas The case arose from an accidental The Grove at Denton located in Denton Texas in which balcony of one of the units broke and three people were

seriously injured Also named as co-defendants in the case were the architect the structural engineer and certain of our subcontractors The plaintiffs allege

among other things negligence on the part of the defendants in the design construction planning operation and management of The Grove at Denton and seek

actual and exemplary damages The plaintiffs initial complaint
did not specifi the amount of damages sought however ins recent filing the plaintiffs demanded

$20 million in damages The parties have participated in settlement discussions including mediation on two occasions but no resolution has been reached The

trial is currently
scheduled to begin on May 2014 Although it is not possible to predict the Outcome of the lawsuit we will continue to defend the case

vigorously Based on the totality of the circumstances including the existence of insurance coverage we do not believe that the lawsuit if adversely determined

would have material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations No amounts have been accrued December 312013

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Information about our Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Compensation Plan is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our

2014 annual meeting of stockholders the Proxy Statement
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Market Information

Our common stock has been listed and is traded on the NYSE under the symbol CCG The following table sets forth for the quarterly periods indicated the

high and low sale prices per
share reported on the NYSE and declared dividends

per
share for our common stock

Common Preferred

Stock Price Stock Series

Period High Low Dividends Dividends

2012
First Quarter 1181 10.06 0.16 0.37

Second Quarter 12.00 10.02 0.16 0.50

ThirdQuarter 11.61 10.29 0.16 0.50

FoutIb Quarter 12.31 10.41 0.16 0.50

2013

FirslQuarter 14.11 11.81 0.165 0.50

Second Quarter 14.36 10.73 0.165 0.50

ThirdQuarter 1243 10.10 0165 0.50

Fourth Quarter 10.82 8.90 0.165 0.50

Paid January 2013 to stockholders of record on December 26 2012

Paid January 15 2013 to stockholders of record on December 26 2012

Paid January 82014 to stockholders of record on December 23 2013

Paid January 15 2014 to stockholders of record on December 23 2013

On October 22 2013 our Board of Directors declared fourth quarter 2013 dividend of $0 165 per common share and OP Unit that was paid in cash on

January 2014 to stockholders of record on December 23 2013 The common stock dividends of $0.66 per share are classified for income tax purposes as

14.8% taxable ordinary dividend 1.2% qualified dividend 2.9% capital gain and 81.1% return of capital

On October 22 2013 our Board of Directors also declared cash dividend of $0.50 per
share of Series Preferred Stock for the fourth

quarter
of 2013 that

was paid in cash on January l5 2014 to stockholders of record on December 23 20l2 The Preferred Series stock dividends of $2.00 per share are classified

for income tax
purposes

as 78.3% taxable ordinary dividend 6.4% qualified dividend and 15.3% capital gain
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Performance Graph

The following graph provides comparison of the cumulative total return on our common stock from October 19 2010 first day
of trading for our common

stock to the NYSE closing price per
share on December 31 2013 with the cumulative total return on the Standard Poors 500 Composite Stock Price Index or

the SP 500 Index and the FTSE ERPA/NAREIT United States Index or the FTSE ERPAINAREIT US Index Total return values were calculated assuming

$100 investment on October 19 2010 with the reinvestment of all dividends in our common stock ii the SP 500 Index and iii the FTSE ERPA/NAREIT

US Index

The actual returns on the graph above are as follows

Name

V.Iae of initial Valae of iniUal Valae of Initial Valne of Initial

Initial Investment at Invesimeat at Investment at Investment at Investment at

na fl..-... Si SOlO fleemher31 2011 Deeember 31.2012 December 31 2013

CompesCrcnCctnntUfl1tsc5IiW
.ov.v- ..-..--.---..-.

SP 505
10000 t08.33 10.62 t28.32 169.88

FTSEERPM4ARErTUStOIISX 1043.00 .-I0306 131.05 13101 134.24

Holders

As of December 31 2013 there were approximately
62 holders of record of our common stock and 64502430 shares of common stock outstanding

Distributions

We intend to continue to declare quarterly distributions on our common stock The actual amount timing and form of payment of distributions however will

beat the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon our fmancial condition in addition to the requirements
of the Internal Revenue Code and no

assurance can be given as to the amounts timing or form of payment of future distributions The payment of distributions is subject to restrictions under our

corporate-level
debt described in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 15 and discussed in Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item under Liquidity and Capital Resources

Item Selected Financial Data

You should read the following selected financial and operating
data in conjunction

with the Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements in Item 15 and

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
included in Item

in
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Statements of Operations Information

in thoasands except share data

Student hoasing rental

Swdaithossingscrvreea

Development construction and management services

Total revenues

Operating expenses

Student housing opeasliona

Development construction and management services

General and dtsmistnivs

Transaction costs

Gronnd kont

tmpainoent of unconsolidated entity

Depseciatkst and ansoatlzation

Tntal operating expenses

Euity in etniingt Uoxs of anOOnnOlidOtgd esttitigs

Operating inenme loss

NonopntlnIngome oxpennar

tnterest expense

Other intense espejssc

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities

TaInt nonopraltng expensen5e8

mmmc lass befne income tines

hscosnc tax benefit enpnnaej

Income lass 1mm cnntinnisg nperntinns

Ittgoltto Ions front dlocottinutd opeentigns

Net inenme loss

Net income Into attributable tononcentmnllinlttteegata

Dividends on preferred stock

Nd itreonte Iota attrIbutable to Campee
Crest Consrunniileo Inc and Pmndntonssr

Ixet income loss per share attributable to

common stockholders basic and dituted

BtoioanddihtIed

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Dluted

Distributions pee eonnnon shame

Octnber 19 Jnnnary

2010 2010

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Thrnngh Tbrnngh Year Ended

Decesnber 31 December 3t December 31 December 31 October18 December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2010 2809

87635 7t21t 49048 8784 32609 36131

3605 2880 2862 254 1.234 8978

5t069 54295 35084 74 35687 607t

42319 28.386 86294 9.112 69.550 90820

40340 32633 23316 427 17921 18217

46759 50493 3t05t 33966 6t41t

10658 6821 6.749 .167 5.55 5.60

tt21

249 217 209 42 214 264

3t2

23710 20693 16524 3052 1311 83940

123145 tt2857 77849 8529 68947 99442

3727 361 11 64 163 259 59
t5447 t5890 7ttt 420 344 68t

t2969 tt545 6888 2149 19379 t3732

144 4101 720 90 914 84

6554 359 577

11.555 54011 5.009 1382 18.465 12895

3892 0489 4t72 962 18121 13572

127 2341 4641 ______________ ______________ ______________

46t9 tOt33 3708 962 t8t21 13.572

5.001 665 75 643 2.531 3651
.618 tO.7u8 3781 t605 20652 t7223

34 46 51 34 7419 10404

6183 4.114

4.551 6638 3736 1591 13.173 6731

0.88 G.9 012 0.05

5994 34181 30707 29.871

60.418 35217 tt53 29877

0.66 0.64 0.64 8.13

40



Balance Sheet Information

The Company Predecessor

December 31

in thousands 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Asset

Investment in real estate net

Studenbousingproperties 116285 669387 512227 372746 341157

Accumulated depreciation 102356 97820 76164 57463 38999
Development in process 91.184 50781 45278 24232 330Q

Investment in real estate net 705113 622348 481341 339515 311458

investment in unconsolidated entities 324838 22555 21052 13751 2980

Otherassetsnet 152728 51417 37864 17991 17358

TotIssets 1l82679 696320 540257 371257 331796

Liabilitle sad equity

Liabilities

Mortgageandconatructionloans 205$31 218337 186.914 60840 329102

Line of credit and other debt 207952 75.375 82052 42500 14070

Otherliabilities 74.215 57706 40156 21127 31340

Total liabilities 487698 351418 309122 124467 374512

Equity deficit

Stockholders and owners equity deficit 690327 340461 227109 243159 50090
Cumulativeredeemahle preferred stock 61 23

Noncontrolling interests 4593 4418 4026 3631 7374

Total equIty defIcit 694981 344902 231135 246790 42.7 16

Total liabilities and equity deficit 1182670 696320 540257 371257 331796

Other Data

The Coe.p.ay Predenerear

Ontaber 19 Jer.s..y

2010 2010

Year Eeded Year Faded Year E..ded Tbrnagb Throagb Year Faded

Deoan.ber3l Deeember3l Deeeeaber3l DeneeaberSl Onlabeelt Deaember3l

unaudited and in tbocnandnl 2013 2012 2011 2010 2010 2009

Fsandafra flSjt410

Net tncosneflonn 4531 6638 3735 1391 13173 6737

POst btvoostOOsO sttttbootahtetaomtacnownllbng

itaterstt 24 46 $1 t4t 174191 104446

1am on purchase ofjoint vntor propnrtirn1 6554 3159 571

tsttOlaSaelHOfd880lOIed 55095 4.124

linpainnent of investment in unconnolidated

rntityl4t 312

Rt.n0imsd400sadbtk.catat0tseas8aa0a 25103 23.$2E 590 14080 10.70$

Real estate related depreniatton and

amortization uncornolidatrd

rnttlirn 23.271 1731 2434 454 245 52

890 49250 24302 22500 2102 J.t3412 1034

890 49250 2330w 25050 ZIPS $747 0034

Elimination of change in fair value of interest

eat drsivntineal 337 139 5002 3400

Fibs 8eostws6e.ts9oCtmaoogtizad

deOdetad LbtastitiOgfdO 254

Elimination of Osnnaotion contn 1121

Fibaitsatleasttoanastbsa toSlOltslItttSed is

eqsdsybneaasdas 004

Elimination of fain value debt and purchase

accounting adjuntmetnts at our investment in

Copper Beech vi 3576

EIissltati060Vablsmtto04Wsitmae 175 ____________ ____________ 057 170

44112 26348 22555 2044 1102123 11.2551

41



FF0 is used by industry analysts and investors as supplemental operating performance measure for REIT5 We calculate FF0 in accordance with the

definition that was adopted by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts or NAREIT FF0 as defined by

NAREIT represents net income loss determined in accordance with GAAP excluding extraordinary items as defined under GAAP and gains or losses

from sales of previously depreciated operating real estate assets plus specified non-cash items such as real estate asset depreciation
and amortization and

after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures In addition in October 2011 NAREIT communicated to its members that the exclusion

of impairment
write-downs of depreciable real estate is consistent with the definition of FF0 We use FF0 as supplemental performance measure because

in excluding real estate-related depreciation and amortization and gains and losses from property dispositions
it provides performance measure that when

compared year over year captures trends in occupancy rates rental rates and operating expenses We also believe that as widely recognized measure of

the performance
of equity REITs FF0 will be used by investors as basis to compare our operating performance with that of other REITs However

because FF0 excludes depreciation and amortization and captures neither the changes in the value of our properties that result from use or market conditions

nor the level of capital expenditures necessary to maintain the operating performance of our properties all of which have real economic effects and could

materially and adversely impact our results from operations the utility of FF0 as measure of our performance is limited While FF0 is relevant and

widely used measure of operating performance of equity REITs other equity REITs may use different methodologies for calculating FF0 and accordingly

FF0 as disclosed by such other REITs may not be comparable to FF0 published herein Therefore we believe that in order to facilitate clear understanding

of our historical operating results FF0 should be examined in conjunction with net income loss as presented
in the consolidated and combined financial

statements and the other financial statements accompanying this report FF0 should not be considered as an alternative to net income loss computed in

accordance with GAAP as an indicator of the properties financial performance or to cash flow from operating activities computed in accordance with

GAAP as an indicator of our liquidity nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs including our ability to pay dividends or make

distributions

For 2010 gain was from the purchase ofourjoint venture partners interest in The Grove at San Marcos Texas for 2011 gain was from the purchase of our

joint venture partners interests in The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The Grove at Statesboro Georgia for 2012 gain was from the purchase
of ourjoint

venture partners interests in The Grove at Moscow Idaho and The Grove at Valdosta Georgia

In 2013 we sold four unencumbered wholly-owned properties The Grove at Jacksonville Alabama The Grove at Jonesboro Arkansas The Grove at

Wichita Kansas and The Grove at Wichita Falls Texas for combined sales price of $5 1.0 million resulting in net proceeds
of approximately $48.6

million In connection with the disposition
of these properties we recorded an impairment of $4.7 million

In January 2014 we acquired from HSRE the remaining interest in The Grove at Denton for approximately $7.7 million Prior to this transaction The Grove

at Denton was wholly owned by real estate venture of which we owned 20% and HSRE owned the remaining 80% In connection with evaluating our

purchase of the remaining interests in the properties we recognized loss of approximately $0.3 million related to the re-measurement of our previously
held

equity interests in the properties at the acquisition date

Includes only the non-cash portion of the change in unhedged derivatives

Includes our proportionate share of non-cash fair value debt and other purchase accounting adjustments in our investment in Copper Beech

When considering our FF0 we believe it is also meaningful measure of our performance to adjust FF0 to exclude the change in fair value of unhedged

interest rate derivatives write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees transaction costs including those within equity in earnings fair value of debt

adjustments within our investment in Copper Beech and the write-off of development costs Excluding the non-cash portion of the change in fair value of

unhedged interest rate derivatives write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees transaction costs including those within equity in earnings fair value

of debt adjustments within our investment in Copper Beech and the write-off of development costs adjusts FF0 to be more reflective of operating results

prior to capital replacement or expansion debt amortization of principal or other commitments and contingencies This measure is referred to herein as

FFOA
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The Company
The Company and Predecessor Predecessor

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December31 December31 December31 December31 December31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Netcash flow informatfou

Net cash provided by used in operating
activities 14388 29470 22770 6923 4353

Net cash used hi investing activities 489673 133053 126916 59931 23552

Net cash
provided by financing activities 501369 98818 112554 66279 11060

Selected Property Information

The Company
The Company and Predecessor Predecessor

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

OperatingPropesties
69 39 33 27 24

Units 13198 7670 6324 5048 4476

Beds 35.480 20884 17064 13580 I2036

Occupancy 92.3 90.4 89.0 89.0 84.0

Includes both The Groves and Copper Beech properties for the year ended December 31 2013

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As used herein references to we us our the Company and Campus Crest refer to Campus Crest Communities Inc and our consolidated

subsidiaries including Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP the Operating Partnership except
where the context otherwise

requires

Overview

Our Company

We are self-managed self-administered and vertically-integrated REIT focused on developing building owning and managing diversified portfolio of

high-quality residence life focused student housing properties We operate our business through the Operating Partnership and our subsidiaries We derive

substantially all of our revenue from student housing rental student housing services construction development services and management services As of

December 31 2013 we owned the sole general partnership interest 99.3% of the outstanding common units of limited partnership interest in the Operating

Partnership or OP Units and all of the outstanding preferred units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership

We believe that we are one of the largest vertically-integrated developers builders owners and managers of high-quality residence life focused student

housing properties
in the United States based on beds owned and under management As of December 31 2013 we owned interests in 41 operating

student

housing The Grove properties containing approximately 8151 apartment units and 22303 beds Thirty-one of our operating The Grove properties are wholly-

owned and ten of our The Grove
properties are owned through joint ventures with HSRE As of December 31 2013 we also owned interests in 28 operating

student housing Copper Beech branded properties containing approximately 5047 apartment units and 13177 beds Our Copper Beech branded properties are

owned by us and the CB Investors see CII Portfolio Acquisition below As of December 31 2013 we owned one wholly-owned redevelopment property As

of December 31 2013 our operating portfolio consisted of the following
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Wholly owned Grove properties

Joint venture Grove properties

HSRE

HSRE lV
HSREV
HSRE VI

Total Grove properties

49.9%

20.0%
16.0

____________
20.0

_____________ ____________

69 12198 35480

In January 2014 we acquired the outstanding interest in The Gove at Denton Texas

As of December 31 2013 we held an effective interest in the CB Portfolio of 67%

The re-development of our 100% owned property in Toledo OH is excluded We expect to announce more details on the redevelopment in 2014

As of December 31 2013 the
average occupancy for our 41 operating The Grove properties was approximately 90.1% and the average monthly total

revenue per occupied bed was approximately $519 Our operating The Groves
properties are located in 19 states contain modem

apartment
units with many

resort-style amenities and have an average age
of approximately 3.7

years
as of December 31 2013 Our properties are primarily located in medium-sized

college and university markets which we define as markets located outside of major U.S cities that have nearby schools generally with overall enrollment of

approximately 5000 to 20000 students We believe such markets are underserved and are generally experiencing enrollment growth

We have developed built and managed substantially all of our wholly-owned properties and several of our unconsolidated joint venture properties which

are based upon common prototypical residential building design We believe that our use of this prototypical building design which we have built

approximately
675 times approximately IS of such residential buildings make up one student housing property allows us to efficiently delivers unifonn and

proven
student housing product in multiple markets All of our operating properties other than those in the CB Portfolio as defined below and Toledo operate

under The Grove1 brand and we believe that our brand and the associated lifestyle are effective differentiators that create higher visibility and appeal for our

properties within their markets both with the student as well as the universities we serve

In addition to our existing properties we actively seek organic growth opportunities We commenced building or redeveloping nine new student housing

properties in 2013 one of which is owned by joint venture with HSRE and Brandywine in which we own 30.0% interest and act as the co-developer one of

which is owned by joint venture with Beaumont in which we owned 20.0% interest at December 31 2013 two of which are owned by joint venture with

HSRE in which we own 30% interest one of which is being built as Copper Beech branded property in which our ownership interest is commensurate with

the remainder of the CB Portfolio and four of which are wholly-owned by us In January 2014 we commenced redevelopment on one student housing property

of which is owned by ajoint venture with Beaumont in which we owned 35.0% interest The following is summary of these developments

Estimated Sbedsiled

Projert Op.s.mg for

_______________________________ ___________ ___________ ___________
Cast Oratapasy

20.0 %t23 itS 5290 820 Astast26tti

35.0 363 488 952 835 August 2014

5.120 7450 551.2

CB Poetfblio2t

Total Portfoliot35

Properties in Number Number

Operation Ownership of Units of Beds

31 100.0 6065 16571

41

544 1508

216 584

662 1856

664 1784

8l5l 22303

28 67.0 5047 135171

LaraliaProlert

The Grove at Slippery Rock

flie Grove stQemsdPcska

The Covrat Mt Pleasant

The GrovestOsae0

taint Vats
The Save at Gpgetleltoeer

The Grove at Louisville

CV4lt CiSCgstrs S8raI

Copper Beech at Ames

erg SSotlktt-$aliam Vk2ee$o

evo It Sherbnolce

Slippery Rock Unverity

thNenihDakatfo

Central Michigan Univerrily

Slippery Rock PA

OsmrdPmkaND

Mt Plenemit Mt

t5ltsstHRFL

Gacssbc0 N4

Louisville KY

Pltilat1eltlti.P4

Ames IA

Mnea54Qsg0tec

Montreol Qurbec

University of Locituille

Ijininateky of8nestgylsmiWDgaSetUslsstnlt3t

loan State University

1rdsOlUaintyCitttomdltaUivaioityfL8aote

McGill Univerntly

Owste.efop Units Beds
_____________

100.0 201 603 29.9 Ac5tnl 204

tBO.0 98 224 6810 282 Mrgntst2ts4

100.0 36 216 984 24.1 August 2014

t00.t 34 233 874 414 Attgtag2Oi4

30.0% 2W 308 278 Ao$24lt

300 36 252 656 412 August2014

588 34 244 880 158.8 itusgttat2Dl4

67.0 36 219 660 33.6 Augunt 2014
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Estimated project cost amounts are in millions

At December 31 2013 our ownership percentage in CSH Montreal the holding company that owns our joint venture with Beaumont DCV

Holdings was 20.0% Effective January 2014 with the closing of an additional property our ownership percentage
increased to 35.0% See Note 18 to

the accompanying consolidated financial statements

Re-development property acquired by DCV Holdings on January IS 2014 See Note 18 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

CB Portfolio Acquisition

In February 2013 we entered into purchase and sale agreements to acquire an approximate 48.0% interest in portfolio of35 student housing properties one

undeveloped land parcel and corporate office building held by the members of Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC CBTC and Copper Beech

Townhome Communities PA LLC CBTC PA together with CBTC Copper Beech or the Sellers the CB Portfolio and fully integrated platform

and brand with management development and construction teams for an initial purchase price of approximately $230.2 million including the repayment of

$106.7 million of debt The remaining interests in the CB Portfolio are held by certain of the former members of CBTC and CBTC PA the CB Investors

Pursuant to our 48.0% interest in the CB Portfolio we entered into purchase and sale agreement the Purchase Agreement and related transactions with the

members of CBTC and CBTC PA to acquire in steps 36.3% interest in the CB Portfolio We also entered into purchase
and sale agreement with certain

investors in the CB Portfolio who are not members of Copper Beech the Non-Member Investors to acquire the interests in the CB Portfolio held by such Non-

Member Investors the Non-Member Purchase Agreement Pursuant to the Non-Member Purchase Agreement we acquired approximately an 11.7% interest in

the CS Portfolio from the Non-Member Investors We refer to this transaction as the CB Portfolio Acquisition

Our $230.2 million investment in the CB Portfolio entitles us to preferred payment of $13.0 million for the first year of our investment and 48.0% of

remaining operating cash flows In connection with the CB Portfolio Acquisition we loaned approximately $31.7 million to the CD Investors The loan had an

interest rate of 8.5% per annum and term of three years and was secured by the CB Investors interests in six unencumbered properties in the CB Portfolio This

amount was repaid by year end See below for further discussion

For the
year

ended December 31 2013 we recognized approximately $3.8 million in equity in loss of Copper Beech and approximately $1.4 million in

interest income from the loan to the CB Investors Additionally for the
year

ended December 31 2013 we recognized approximately $1.1 million of transaction

expenses related to the CB Portfolio Acquisition and incurred $16.9 million of costs which were included in our investment basis in the CB Portfolio

Amendment to Copper Beech Purchase Agreement

On September 30 2013 and effective subject to the receipt of required third party consents we entered into an Amendment the Amendment to the

Purchase Agreement As consideration for entering into the Amendment we paid the CB Investors $4.0 million

Pursuant to the terms of the Amendment following receipt
of required third

party consents we will transfer our 48.0% interest in five properties in the

Copper Beech Portfolio Copper Beech Auburn Copper Beech Kalamazoo Phase Copper Beech Kalamazoo Phase Copper Beech Oak Hill and Copper

Beech Statesboro Phase back to the CS Investors and defer the acquisition of two development properties Cooper Beech Mt Pleasant Phase and Cooper

Beech Statesboro Phase until August 18 2014 as consideration for an additional 19.0% interest in each of the remaining 30 properties in the Copper Beech

Portfolio the Initial Copper Beech Properties Following the transfer of such properties we will hold 67.0% interest in each of 30 properties in the CS

Portfolio with the CS Investors holding the remaining 33.0% interest In addition under the terms of the Amendment we have the option
exercisable from

March 18 2014 through August 18 2014 to acquire an 18.0% interest in each of the seven properties whose acquisition is being deferred collectively the

Deferred Copper Beech Properties which will entitle us to 33.0% of the operating cash flows of such Deferred Copper Beech Properties The purchase price

for the exercise of this option is approximately $16.9 million In order to exercise this option we must also exercise the option to acquire an additional 18.0%

interest in the Initial Copper Beech Properties which is described below

Both we and the CB Investors hold joint approval rights for major decisions including those regarding property acquisition and disposition as well as

property operation As such we hold noncontrolling interest in the CS Portfolio and accordingly apply the equity method of accounting

The Amendment also amends our options but not obligations to acquire additional interests in the Copper Beech Portfolio as follows

Beginning March 18 2014 through August 18 2014 we have the option to acquire an additional 18.0% interest in the Initial Copper Beech Properties

increasing our aggregate interest in such properties to 85.0% which will entitle us to 100% of the operating cash flows of the Initial Copper Beech

Properties The aggregate purchase price for the exercise of this purchase option is approximately $93.5 million plus debt repayment of approximately

$21.0 million
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Through May 2015 we have the option to acquire an additional 3.9% interest in the Initial Copper Beech Properties and an additional 70.9% interest in

the Deferred Copper Beech Properties increasing our aggregate
interest in all 37 properties

in the Copper Beech Portfolio to 88.9% which will entitle

us to 100% of the operating cash flows of the Initial Copper Beech Properties
and the Deferred Copper Beech Properties The aggregate purchase price

for the exercise of this purchase option is approximately $100.7 million plus debt repayment of approximately$19.0
million

Through May 2016 we have the option to acquire an additional 11.1% interest in the Copper Beech Portfolio increasing our aggregate
interest to

100% The aggregate purchase price for the exercise of this purchase option is approximately $53.4 million

If we elect to exercise any of the purchase options we are not obligated to exercise
any subsequent purchase options

In the event we do not elect to exercise

purchase option we will lose the right to exercise future purchase options If the first purchase option is not exercised we will be entitled to 48.0% interest in

all 37 properties
in the CB Portfolio and will be entitled to 48.0% of operating cash flows and 45.0% of the proceeds of any sale of any portion

of the CB

Portfolio If the first purchase option is exercised but the second purchase option is not exercised we will be entitled to 75.0% interest in all 37 properties in the

CB Portfolio and will be entitled to 75.0% of operating
cash flows and 70.0% of the proceeds

of
any

sale of any portion of the CS Portfolio If the second

purchase option
is exercised but the third purchase option is not exercised we will retain our 88.9% interest in the CB Portfolio and will be entitled to 88.9% of

both operating cash flows and the proceeds of any sale of
any portion of the CB Portfolio

In connection with the Amendment the Sellers repaid
the entire principal balance of $31.7 million outstanding under the loans previously provided by us

The CS Portfolio consists of 35 student housing properties one undeveloped land parcel
in Charlotte North Carolina and Copper Beechs corporate office

building
in State College Pennsylvania The CS Portfolio consists primarily of townhouse units located in eighteen geographic markets in the United States

across thirteen states with 30 of the 35 student housing properties having been developed by Copper Beech As of December 31 2013 the CB Portfolio

comprised approximately 5047 rentable units with approximately 13177 rentable beds The CB Portfolio student housing properties
have an average age of

approximately 8.5 years As of December 31 2013 the average occupancy for the student housing properties was approximately 96.1% For the
year

ended

December31 2013 the average monthly total revenue per occupied bed was approximately $493
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The following table presents
certain summary information about the properties

in the CB Portfolio

Initial Copper Beech Properties ________________________________________
Units Beds

Copper Beech IState College
Penn State Unlvetsky

59 177

Copper Beech IlState College
Penn State University

87 257

OakwoodState College
Penn State University

48 144

Northbrook GreensState College
Penn State University

166 250

Parkway PlazaState College
Penn State University

429 633

IUP Phase 1Indiana
Indiana University

of Pennsylvania
95 239

IUP Phase lllndiana
Indiana University of Pennsylvania

72 172

IUP BuyIndiana
Indiana University

of Pennsylvania
43 74

RadfordVA
RadfordUniversity

222 500

KlondikePurdue
Purdue University

219 486

BaywaterPUI4UO
Purdue University

137 488

Bloomington IN Indiana University
107

297

CMU Phase IMount Pleasant MI Central Michigan University
204 632

Fresno CA
California State University at Fresno

178
506

Bowling Green Phase Bowling Green University
128 400

Bowling Green Phase II Bowling Green University
72 216

Allendale Phase
3rsad Valley State University

206 614

Allendale Phase 11
Grand Valley State University

82
290

Columbia MO University of Missouri
214 654

Colonial Crest_Bloomington IN Indiana University
206 402

Columbia SC Phase University South Carolina
278 824

Columbia SC Phase 11 University
of South Carolina

72 178

Morgantown WV West Virginia University
335 920

Harrisonburg VA James Madison University
414 1.218

Grand Duke
James Madison University

120 124

Greenville NC East Carolina University
439 1232

San Marcos TX Phase Texas State University
273 840

San Marcos TX Phase II
Texas State University

142
410

Total Initial Copper Beech iropertiec

5047 13117

Deferred Copper Beech Properties
Primary University

Units Beds

Oak HillState College
Penn State University

106 318

CMU Phase IlMount Pleasant Ml Central Michigan University
119 256

Statesborn GA Phase Georgia Southern UnwersitY
246 754

Statesboro GA Phase II Georgia Southern University
82 262

Kalamazoo Phase
Western Michigan UniversIty

256 784

Kalamazoo Phase II
Western Michigan University

115 340

Auburn AL Auburn University
27L __________

Total Deferred Copper Beech Properties

1195 3468

Our Relationship With HSRE

We are party to active joint venture arrangements with HSRE real estate private equity
firm founded in 2005 that has significant

real estate asset

holdings including student housing properties
senior housing/assisted living units self-storage units boat storage

facilities and medical office space As ot

December 31 2013 we hold 10 operating joint
venture properties

with HSRE and are in the process
of developing three additional properties

in partnership
with

HSRE including one joint venture project
where we are partners

with both HSRE and Brandywine

HSREI Our first joint
venture with HSRE HSRE-Campus Crest LLC HSRE indirectly owned 100% of the interests in the following three properties

at December 31 20103 The Grove at Conway Arkansas The Grove at Lawrence Kansas and The Grove at San Angelo Texas On July 52012 we completed

the purchase
of HSREs 50.1% interest in The Grove at Moscow Idaho which was included in HSRE prior to that date On December 29 2011 we completed

the purchase of HSREs 50.1% interests in The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The Grove at Statesboro Georgia which were included in FISRE prior to that

date At December 31 2013 we owned a49.9% interest in HSRE land HSRE owned the remaining 50.1%

In general we are responsible for the day-to-day management of HSRE ls business and affairs provided
that major decisions must be approved by us and

1-ISRE In addition to distributions to which we are entitled as an investor in HSRE we receive or have in the past
received fees for providing services to the

properties
held by FISRE pursuant to development and construction agreements

and property management agreements We granted to an entity related to HSRE

right of first opportunity
with respect to certain development or acquisition opportunities identified by us This right

of first opportunity
was to terminate at

such time as HSRE had provided at least $40 million of equity funding to HSRE andlor certain related ventures This right of first opportunity was amended in

conjunction
with the formation of HSRE IV as discussed below HSRE will dissolve upon the disposition

of substantially
all of its assets or the occurrence of

certain events specified in the agreement between us and 1-ISRE
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HSRE IV In January 2011 we entered into joint venture with HSRE HSRE-Campus Crest IV LLC HSRE IV to develop and operate additional

purpose-built student housing properties HSRE IV completed two new student housing properties in August 2011 for the 2011-2012 academic year The

properties located in Denton Texas and Valdosta Georgia contain an aggregate
of approximately 1168 beds and cost approximately $45.7 million We own

20.0% interest in this venture and affiliates of HSRE own the balance On July 2012 we completed the purchase of HSREs 80% interest in The Grove at

Valdosta which was included in HSRE IV prior to that date

HSRE In October 2011 we entered into ajoint venture with HSRE HSRE-Campus Crest LLC IISRE to develop and operate additional purpose-

built student housing properties HSRE completed three new student housing properties in August 2012 for the 2012-2013 academic year The properties

located in Fayetteville Arkansas Laramie Wyoming and Stillwater Oklahoma contain an aggregate of approximately 1856 beds and cost approximately

$72.1 million We own 10% interest in this venture and affiliates of HSRE own the balance

HSRE VI In March 2012 we entered into joint venture with HSRE HSRE-Campus Crest Vi LLC HSRE VI to develop and operate additional

purpose-built student housing properties HSRE VI completed three new student housing properties in August 2013 for the 2013-2014 academic year The

properties located in Norman Oklahoma State College Pennsylvania and Indiana Pennsylvania contain an aggregate
of approximately 1784 beds and cost

approximately $80.0 million We own 20.0% interest in this venture and affiliates of HSRE own the balance

In general we are responsible for the day-to-day management of HSRE iVs HSRE Vs and HSRE Vis business and affairs provided that major decisions

including deciding to pursue particular development opportunity must be approved by us and HSRE in addition to distributions to which we are entitled as an

investor in HSRE IV HSRE and HSRE VI we will receive fees for providing services to HSRE IV HSRE and HSRE VI pursuant to development and

construction agreements and property management agreements In general we will earn development fees equal to approximately 4.0% of the total cost of each

property developed by HSRE IV HSRE and HSRE Vi excluding the cost of land and financing costs construction fees equal to approximately 5.0% of the

construction costs of each
property developed by HSRE IV HSR.E and HSRE Vi and management fees

equal
to approximately 3.0% of the gross revenues and

3.0% of the net operating income of operating properties held by HSRE IV HSRE and HSRE VI In addition we will receive reimbursement of portion of

our overhead relating to each development project at negotiated rate Under certain circumstances we will be responsible for funding the amount by which

actual development costs for project pursued by HSRE IV 1-1SRE or HSRE VI exceed the budgeted development costs of such project without any increase

in our interest in the project which could materially and adversely affect the fee income realized from any such project

HSRE IX In January 2013 we entered into ajoint venture with HSRE and Brandywine HSRE-Campus Crest IX LLC HSRE IX to develop and operate

additional purpose-built student housing properties F1SRE IX is currently building one new student housing property evo at Cira Centre South with completion

targeted for the 2014-2015 academic year The property located in the University City submarket of Philadelphia Pennsylvania will contain approximately 850

beds and has an estimated cost of approximately $158.5 million We own 30.0% interest in this venture Brandywine owns 30.0% and affiliates of HSRE own

the balance

In general we along with Brandywine are responsible for the day-to-day management of HSRE IXS business and affairs provided that major decisions

including deciding to pursue particular development opportunity must be approved by us HSRE and Brandywine In addition to distributions to which we are

entitled as an investor in HSRE IX we along with Brandywine will receive fees for providing services to HSRE IX pursuant to development agreement and

property management agreement In general we along with Brandywine will earn development fees equal to approximately 4.0% of the total cost of each

property developed by HSRE IX excluding the cost of land and fmancing costs and we will earn management fees equal to approximately 3.0% of the gross

revenues and 2.0% of the net operating income of operating properties held by HSRE IX In addition we along with Brandywine will receive reimbursement

of portion of our overhead relating to each development project at negotiated rate Under certain circumstances we along with Brandywine will be

responsible for funding the amount by which actual development costs for project pursued by HSRE IX exceed the budgeted development costs of such project

without any increase in our interest in the project which could materially and adversely affect the fee income realized from any such project

HSREX in March 2013 we entered into ajoint venture agreement with HSRE HSRE-Campus Crest LLC HSRE to develop and operate additional

purpose-built student housing properties HSRE is developing two new student housing properties
with completion targeted for the 2014-2015 academic year

The properties located in Louisville Kentucky and Greensboro North Carolina will contain an aggregate of approximately 1238 beds and have an estimated

cost of approximately $69.1 million We own 30.0% interest in thisjoint venture and affiliates of HSRE own the balance
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We amended HSREs right
of first opportunity originally granted with respect to HSRE to develop all future student housing development opportunities

identified by us that are funded in part with equity
investments by parties unaffiliated with us until such time as affiliates of HSRE have invested an aggregate

$50 million in HSRE IV HSRE HSRE VI 1-ISRE IX and HSRE or caused HSRE IV HSRE HSRE VI HSRE IX and HSRE to decline three

development opportunities in any calendar year As of December 31 2013 HSRE had funded approximately all of the $50 million right of first opportunity
The

terms of this joint venture do not prohibit us from developing wholly-owned student housing property for our own account

Our Relaiionship
With Beaumont

In July 2013 we entered into joint venture DCV Holdings LP DCV Holdings with Beaumont Partners SA Beaumont to acquire 711 room 33-

story hotel in downtown Montreal Quebec Canada for approximately $60.0 million Canadian CAD The joint venture intends to convert the property into an

upscale student housing tower featuring mix of single and double units serving
McGill University Concordia University and LEcole de Technologie

In December 2013 we and Beaumont formed holding company CSH Montreal LP CSH Montreal and DCV Holdings was subsequently contributed to

CSH Montreal LP such that CSH Montreal LP became the sole limited partner
in DCV Holdings In addition following the insertion of CSH Montreal LP as the

holding company in the joint venture arrangement CSH Montreal LP acquired ownership of HIM Holdings LP HIM Holdings an entity formed to facilitate

the acquisition of another property in Canada As of December31 2013 we owned 20.0% interest in DCV Holdings

On January 15 2014 through the newly formed HIM Holdings the joint venture partnership acquired the 488-room 22-story Holiday Inn Midtown in

MontrØal QuØbec for approximately CAD 65 million The joint venture intends to convert the
property

it into an upscale evo student housing tower near McGill

University In connection with the acquisition of the Holiday Inn property we increased our ownership interest from 20.0% to 35.0% in CSH Montreal the joint

venture that holds the newest evo and the previously announced evo Square Victoria

Critical Accounting Policies

Set forth below is summary of the accounting policies
that management believes are critical to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

Certain of these accounting policies are particularly important for an understanding of the financial position and results of
operations presented in the

consolidated financial statements set forth elsewhere in this report
These policies require the application ofjudgment and assumptions by management and as

result are subject to degree
of uncertainty Actual results could differ as result of such judgment and assumptions

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all investments which include joint ventures in which we have controlling interest and our

consolidated subsidiaries The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect

amounts reported in our historical consolidated financial statements and related notes In preparing these financial statements management has utilized all

available information including its past history industry standards and the current economic environment among other factors in forming its estimates and

judgments of certain amounts included in the historical consolidated financial statements giving due consideration to materiality Our estimates may not be

ultimately realized Application of the critical accounting policies below involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and

as result actual results may differ from these estimates In addition other companies in similar businesses may utilize different estimation policies and

methodologies which may impact the comparability of our results of operations and financial condition to those companies

Valuation of Investment in Real Estate

Investment in real estate is recorded at historical cost Pre-development expenditures include items such as entitlement costs architectural fees and deposits

associated with the pursuit of partially-owned and wholly-owned development projects These costs are capitalized until such time that management believes it
is

no longer probable that contract will be executed andlor construction will commence Management evaluates the status of projects
where we have not yet

acquired the target property or where we have not yet
commenced construction on periodic basis and writes off any pre-development costs related to projects

whose current status indicates the commencement of construction is not probable Such write-offt are included within development construction and

management services in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Management assesses whether there has been impairment
in the value of our investment in real estate whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable Recoverability of investment in real estate is assessed by comparison of the carrying amount of

student housing property to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the property Impairment is recognized when estimated

future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of the property The estimation of expected future undiscounted cash flows is inherently uncertain

and relies on assumptions regarding current and future economics and market conditions If such conditions change then an adjustment reducing the carrying

value of our long-lived assets could occur in the future period in which conditions change To the extent that property is impaired the excess of the carrying

amount of the property over its estimated fair value is charged to operating earnings Fair value is determined based upon the discounted cash flows of the

property quoted market prices or independent appraisals as considered necessary

Investment in Unconsolidated Entities

Under the equity method investments in unconsolidated entities are initially recognized in the balance sheet at cost and are subsequently adjusted to reflect

our proportionate share of net earnings or losses of the entity distributions received contributions and certain other adjustments as appropriate Any difference

between the carrying amount of these investments on our balance sheet and the underlying equity
in net assets is amortized as an adjustment to equity in earnings

loss of unconsolidated entities When circumstances indicate there may have been loss in value of an equity method investment and we determine the loss in

value is other than temporary we recognize an impairment charge to reflect the investment at fair value
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Development Construction and Management Services

Development and construction service revenue is recognized using the percentage of completion method as determined by construction costs incurred

relative to total estimated construction costs Any changes in significant judgments and/or estimates used in determining constnsctlon and development revenue

could significantly change the timing or amount of construction and development revenue recognized

Development and construction service revenues are recognized for contracts with entities we do not consolidate For projects where revenue is based on

fixed price any cost overruns incurred during construction as compared to the original budget will reduce the net profit ultimately recognized on those projects

Profit derived from these projects is eliminated to the extent of our interest in the unconsolidated entity Any incentive fees net of the impact of our ownership

interest are recognized
when the project is complete and performance has been agreed upon by all parties or when performance has been verified by an

independent
third party When total development or construction costs at completion exceed the fixed price set forth within the related contract such cost

overnins are recorded as additional investment in the unconsolidated entity to the extent these amounts are determined to be realizable Entitlement fees where

applicable are recognized when earned based on the terms of the related contract

Allo wance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowances for student receivables are established when management determines that collections of such receivables are doubtful Balances are considered

past due when payment is not received on the contractual due date When management has determined receivables are uncollectible they are written off against

the allowance for doubtful accounts

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash cash equivalents restricted cash student receivables and accounts payable are representative
of their

respective
fair values due to

the short-term nature of these instruments The estimated fair value of our revolving line of credit approximates the outstanding balance due to the frequent

market based re-pricing of the underlying variable rate index The estimated fair values of mortgages and construction loans are determined by comparing current

borrowing rates and risk spreads offered in the market to the stated interest rates and spreads on our current mortgages construction loans and Exchangeable

Senior Notes

Fair value guidance for financial assets and liabilities that are recognized and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements on recurring basis and

nonfinancial assets on nonrecurring basis establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value The

hierarchy gives
the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities Level measurements and the lowest priority

to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs Level measurements The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows

Level Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets at the measurement date for identical unrestricted assets or liabilities

Level Other inputs that are observable directly or indirectly such as quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs which are observable

either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability

Level Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which we make our own assumptions about how market participants would

price the asset or liability

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received when selling an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date exit price In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy the level

in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety has been determined is based on the lowest level input significant to the fair

value measurement in its entirety Our assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and

considers factors specific to the asset or liability

Income Taxes

We have made an election to qualili and believe we are operating so as to quali1 as REIT under Sections 856 through 859 of the Internal Revenue Code

Our qualification as REIT depends upon our ability to meet on continuing basis through actual investment and operating results various complex

requirements under the Internal Revenue Code relating to among other things the sources of our gross income the composition and values of our assets our

distribution levels and the diversity of ownership of our stock We believe that we are organized in conformity with the requirements for qualification and

taxation as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code and that our intended manner of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification
and

taxation as REIT

As REIT we generally will not be subject to U.S federal and state income tax on taxable income that we distribute currently to our stockholders If we fail

to qualify as REIT in any taxable
year

and do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions we will be subject to U.S federal income tax at regular corporate

rates and generally will be precluded from qualifying as REIT for the subsequent four taxable years following the year during which we lost our REIT

qualification Accordingly our failure to qualify as REIT could materially and adversely affect us including our ability to make distributions to our

stockholders in the future
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We have made the election to treat TRS Holdings our wholly-owned subsidiary as TRS TRS Holdings holds our development construction and

management companies that provide
services to entities in which we do not own 100% of the equity interests As TRS the operations of TRS Holdings and its

subsidiaries are generally subject to federal state and local income and franchise taxes Our TRS accounts for its income taxes in accordance with U.S GAAP

which includes an estimate of the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year
and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences

of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns Deferred tax assets and liabilities of the TRS entities are recognized based on the

difference between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

measured using enacted tax rates in effect in the years
in which those temporary

differences are expected to reverse

We follow two-step approach
for evaluating uncertain tax positions Recognition step one occurs when we conclude that tax position based solely on its

technical merits is more-likely-than-not
likelihood of more than 50 percent to be sustained upon examination Measurement step two determines the amount

of benefit that more-likely-than-not
will be realized upon settlement Derecognition

of tax position that was previously recognized would occur when we

subsequently determined that tax position no longer met the more-likely-than-not
threshold of being

sustained The use of valuation allowance as substitute

for derecognition
of tax positions is prohibited

Property Acquisitions

We allocate the purchase price of acquired properties to net tangible and identified intangible assets based on relative fair values Fair value estimates are

based on information obtained from independent appraisals other market data information obtained during due diligence and information related to the

marketing and leasing at the specific property
The value of in-place leases is based on the difference between the property

valued with existing in-place teases

adjusted to market rental rates and ii the property valued as-if vacant As lease terms are typically one year or less rates on in-place leases generally

approximate
market rental rates Factors considered in the valuation of in-place leases include an estimate of the carrying costs during the expected lease-up

period considering current market conditions nature of the tenancy and costs to execute similar leases Carrying costs include estimates of lost rentals at market

rates during the expected lease-up period net of variable operating expenses The value of in-place leases is amortized over the remaining initial term of the

respective leases generally less than one year The purchase price of property acquisitions is not expected to be allocated to tenant relationships considering the

terms of the leases and the expected
levels of renewals Acquisition-related

costs such as due diligence legal and accounting fees are expensed as incurred and

not applied
in determining the fair value of an acquired property

Changes in Financial Condition

In January 2013 we entered into the second amended and restated credit agreement the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement which provides

for $250 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility the Revolving Credit Facility $50 million term loan the Term Loan together
with the

Revolving Credit Facility the Amended Credit Facility and an accordion feature that allows us under certain circumstances to request an increase in the

total commitments by an additional $300.0 million increasing total commitments to $600.0 million The Second Amended and Restated Credit Facility will

mature in January
2017 and contains one-year

extension option subject to certain terms and conditions For additional information regarding the Amended

Credit Facility please refer to -Liquidity and Capital ResourcesPrincipal Capital Resources below

In March 2013 we completed an underwritten public offering of approximately
25.5 million shares of common stock including approximately

3.3 million

shares issued and sold
pursuant

to the full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional shares resulting in net proceeds
of approximately $299.7

million The net proceeds were used to fund our investment in the CR Portfolio and related transactional costs including investment banking advisory fees

see Note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements and for general corporate purposes including the repayment of debt

In June 2013 we implemented an At-The-Market offering program under which we may sell at market price up to $100.0 million in shares of our common

stock over the term of the program As of December 31 2013 we had not issued and sold any shares under this program

In October 2013 we reopened our Series Preferred Stock in an underwritten public offering of 3800000 shares including 400000 shares issued and sold

pursuant to the partial
exercise of the underwriters option to purchase

additional shares of the Series Preferred Stock The shares of Series Preferred Stock

were issued at public offering price of $250611 per share for net proceeds of approximately $91.3 million after deducting the underwriting discount and other

estimated offering expenses
of approximately

$4.0 million We used the net proceeds as well as the net proceeds from our issuance of Exchangeable Senior

Notes defined below to repay approximately $46.8 million of indebtedness outstanding
under three construction loans to repay

amounts owed under the

Amended Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes
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In October 2013 the Operating Partnership completed private offering of$100.0 million of unsecured 4.75% exchangeable senior notes the Exchangeable

Senior Notes due October 15 2018 Interest on the Exchangeable Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 beginning April 15 2014

Upon exchange of the notes the Operating Partnership will deliver cash shares of Campus Crest common stock or combination of both at an initial exchange

rate of 79.6020 shares
per $1000 principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes equivalent to an initial exchange price of approximately $12.56 per share of

our common stock The Exchangeable Senior Notes may not be redeemed prior to the maturity date At any time prior to July 15 2018 the Operating

Partnership may irrevocably elect in its sole discretion without the consent of the holders of the notes to settle all of its future exchange obligation entirely in

shares of our common stock The Exchangeable Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment to all other unsecured debt and are subordinated in right of

payment to all secured debt liabilities and preferred equity of our subsidiaries

We used the net proceeds from the reopening of the Series Preferred Stock and the Exchangeable Senior Notes offerings for the repayment of debt

development funding and working capital purposes

REIT Qualification Requirements

We have elected to be treated as REIT under Sections 856 through 859 of the Internal Revenue Code Our continued qualification as REIT depends upon

our ability to meet on continuing basis through actual investment and operating results various complex requirements under the Internal Revenue Code relating

to among other things the sources of our
gross income the composition and values of our assets our distribution levels and the diversity of ownership of our

stock We believe that our intended manner of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as REIT As REIT we

generally will not be subject to U.S federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute currently to our stockholders

Factors Expected to Affect Our Operating Results

Unique Leasing Characteristics

Student housing properties are typically leased by the bed on an individual lease liability basis unlike multi-family housing where leasing is by the unit

Individual lease liability limits each student-tenants liability to his or her own rent without liability for roommates rent parent or guardian is required to

execute each lease as guarantor
unless the student-tenant provides adequate proof of income The number of lease contracts that we administer is therefore

equivalent to the number of beds occupied rather than the number of units

Due to our predominantly private bedroom accommodations the high level of student-oriented amenities offered at our properties and the individual lease

liability for our student-tenants and their parents we believe that we typically command higher per-unit and per-square foot rental rates than many multi-family

properties located in the markets in which we operate We are also typically able to charge higher rental rates than on-campus student housing which generally

offers fewer amenities

Unlike traditional multi-family housing most of our leases commence on the same date In the case of our typical 11.5-month leases which provide for 12

equal monthly payments this date coincides with the commencement of the fall academic term and typically terminates at the completion of the last summer

school session As such we must re-lease each property
in its entirety each year resulting in significant turnover in our tenant population from

year to year As

result we are highly dependent upon the effectiveness of our marketing and leasing efforts As of the start of the fall term for the 2013-2014 and 2012-2013

academic years we had approximately 1.7% and 1.9% respectively of our current tenants renew their lease for the upeoming academic year

Development Construction and Management Services

The amount and timing of revenues from development construction and management services will typically be contingent upon the number and size of

development projects that we are able to successfully structure and fmance in our current and future unconsolidated joint ventures In particular we entered into

joint ventures HSRE IX HSRE and DCV Holdings that are currently building five student housing properties with completion targeted for the 2014-2015

academic year We will receive fees for providing development and construction services to HSRE and receive management fees for managing properties

owned by HSRE once they are placed in service We will share in the receipt of fees for providing development services to DCV Holdings and receive

management fees for managing properties owned by DCV Holdings once they are placed in service We will share in the receipt of fees for providing

development services to HSRE IX and share in the receipt of management fees for managing the property owned by HSRE IX once it is placed
in service No

assurance can be given that the aforementioned joint ventures will be successful in developing student housing properties as currently contemplated or those

currently under construction

Results of Operations

Our Business Segments

Management evaluates operating performance through the analysis of results of operations of two distinct business segments student housing operations

and ii development construction and management services Management evaluates each segments performance by reference to net operating income or NOI

which we define as operating income before depreciation and amortization The accounting policies of our reportable business segments are described in more

detail in the summary of significant accounting policies footnote Note to our consolidated financial statements Intercompany fees are reflected at the

contractually stipulated amounts as adjusted to reflect our proportionate ownership of unconsolidated entities
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Student Houaing Operations

Our student housing operations are comprised
of rental and other service revenues such as application fees pet

fees and late payment fees In August 2013

and September 2013 we opened three wholly-owned properties and an additional three properties that are owned in real estate ventures in which we have

noncontrolling interest Due to the continuous opening of new properties in consecutive years and annual lease terms that do not coincide with our reported fiscal

calendar years the comparison of our consolidated financial results from period to period may not provide meaningful measure of our operating performance

For this reason we divide the results of operations in our student housing operations segment between new property operations and same-store operations

which we believe provides more meaningful indicator of comparative historical performance

Same store properties are our wholly-owned operating properties acquired or placed in-service prior to the beginning of the earliest period presented and

owned by us and remaining in service through the end of the latest period presented or period being analyzed New properties are our wholly-owned operating

properties that we acquired or placed in service after the beginning of the earliest period presented or period being analyzed

We monitor NOI of our student housing properties which is non-GAAP financial measure In general terms we define NOl as student housing rental

revenue less student housing operating expenses including real estate taxes related to our properties We believe this measure provides an operating perspective

not immediately apparent from GAAP operating income loss or net income loss We use NOt to evaluate performance on community-by-community basis

because it allows management to evaluate the impact that factors such as lease structure lease rates and tenant base which
vary by locality have on our financial

performance To help make comparisons of NOI between periods more meaningful we distinguish NOI from our properties that are wholly-owned and that were

in service throughout each period presented that is our same store properties from NOl from our other wholly-owned properties

We specifically calculate NOI by adding back to or subtracting from net income loss attributable to common stockholders the following expenses or

charges income tax expense other expense interest expense equity in loss of unconsolidated entities depreciation
and amortization ground lease expense

general and administrative expense development construction and management services expenses and other non-recurring costs or expenses The following

income or gains are then deducted from net income loss attributable to common stockholders adjusted for add backs of
expenses or charges other income

development construction and management services revenues and non-recurring income or gains

NOl excludes multiple components of net income loss attributable to common stockholders computed in accordance with GAAP and captures neither the

changes in the value of our properties that result from use or market conditions nor the level of capital expenditures necessary to maintain the operating

performance
of our properties all of which have real economic effects and could materially and adversely impact our results of operations Therefore the utility

of NOt as measure of our performance is limited Additionally other companies including other equity REITs may use different methodologies for calculating

NOt and accordingly NOI as disclosed by such other companies may not be comparable to NOL published herein We believe that in order to facilitate clear

understanding of our historical operating results NOI should be examined in conjunction with net income loss as presented in the consolidated financial

statements accompanying this report NOt should not be considered as an alternative to net income loss attributable to common stockholders as an indicator oI

our properties financial performance or to cash flow from operating activities computed in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of our liquidity nor is it

indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs including our ability to pay dividends or make distribution

Development Construction and Management Services

Development and Construction Services In addition to our wholly-owned properties substantially all of which were developed and built by us we also

provide development and construction services to unconsolidated joint ventures in which we have an ownership interest We act as general contractor on all of

our construction projects When building properties for our own account i.e for entities that are consolidated in our financial statements construction revenues

and expenses are eliminated for accounting purposes and construction costs are ultimately reflected as capital additions Thus building properties for our own

account does not generate any revenues or expenses in our development construction and management services segment on consolidated basis Alternatively

when performing these services for unconsolidated joint ventures we recognize construction revenues based on the costs that have been contractually agreed to

with the joint venture for the construction of the property and expenses based on the actual costs incurred Construction revenues are recognized using the

percentage
of completion method as determined by construction costs incurred relative to total estimated construction costs as adjusted to eliminate our

proportionate ownership of each entity Actual construction costs are expensed as incurred and are likewise adjusted to eliminate our proportionate ownership of

each entity Operating income generated by our development and construction activities generally reflects the development fee and construction fee income that is

realized by providing these services to unconsolidated joint ventures i.e the spread between the contractual cost of construction and the actual cost of

construction
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Management Services In addition to our wholly-owned properties all but one of which are managed by us we also provide management services to

unconsolidated joint ventures in which we have an ownership interest We recognize management fees from these entities as earned in accordance with the

property management agreement with these entities as adjusted to eliminate our proportionate ownership of each entity

We have set forth discussion comparing our consolidated results for the year ended December 31 2013 to the consolidated results of our operations for the

year ended December 31 2012 Additionally we have set forth discussion comparing our consolidated results for year ended December 31 2012 to the

consolidated results for the
year

ended December 31 2011 The historical results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the notes

to the consolidated financial statements accompanying this report

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2013 and December 31 2012

As of December 31 2013 our property portfolio
consisted of 31 consolidated operating properties containing approximately 6065 apartment units and

16571 beds and 38 operating properties held in five unconsolidated joint ventures containing approximately 7133 apartment units and 18909 beds Four

consolidated operating properties have been presented in discontinued operations

As of December 31 2012 our property portfolio consisted of 28 consolidated operating properties containing approximately 5480 apartment
units and

14920 beds and seven operating properties held in three unconsolidated joint ventures containing approximately 1422 apartment units and 3948 beds Four

consolidated operating properties have been presented in discontinued operations
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The following table presents our results of operations for the periods presented including the amount and percentage change in these results between the

periods in thousands

RevenueE

Student
housing

rental

Student housing services

Development construction and management services

Total revenaea

Operating expenses

Student housing operations

Development construction and management services

General and administrative

Transaction costs

Ground leases

Impairment of unconsolidated entity

Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Equity in earnings loss ofunconsolklaed entities

Operating income

Nonoperating income expense
Interest expense

Other income expense

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities

Total nonoperating expense net

Net income before income tax benefit expense

Income tax benefit expense

Income from conibusing operation

Income loss from discontinued operations

Net income

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Dividends on preferred stock

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders

Student Housing Operations

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

l2969 11545
1414 410

__________ 6554

11555 5401
3892 1d489

727 356
4619 10133

3001 665

1618 10798

34 46

6183 4.114

4531 6638

Revenues in the student housing operations segment which include student housing rental and student housing service revenues increased by approximately

$17.2 million and operating expenses
in the student housing operations segment increased by approximately $7.7 million during the year ended December 31

2013 as compared to the year ended December 31 2012 The increase in revenues was primarily due to the opening of three new properties in August 2012 The
Grove at Auburn Alabama The Grove at Flagstaft Arizona and The Grove at Orono Maine our acquisitions in July 2012 The Grove at Valdosta Georgia

and The Grove at Moscow Idaho the acquisition of Campus Crest at Toledo Ohio in March 2013 the opening of two new properties in August 2013 The
Grove at Muncie Indiana and The Grove at Fort Collins Colorado the opening of the undamaged portion of new property in August 2013 The Grove at

Pullman Washington see Note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements and an increase in our monthly revenue
per occupied bed at our same

store properties offset by decrease in our occupancy at our same store properties The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to the

aforementioned activity

Change Change

87635 71211

3615 2880
51069 54295

142319 128386

40.346 32633

46.759 50493

10.658 8821

1121

249 217

312

23700 20693

123145 112857

3727 361

15447 15890

16424

735

3226
13933

7713

3734
1837

1121

32

312

3007

10288

4088
443

I424
1824

6554
6154
6597

1083

9180
80

2069

11169

23.1

25.5

-5.9

10.9%

23.6

-7.4

20.8

N/A

147

N/A

143

9.1

.11324%

-2.8

12.3

-444.9

-100.0%

113.9

-62.9%

-304.2

-85.0%

-173.9

50.3

-168.3
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New Property Operations In August 2012 we began operations at The Grove at Auburn Alabama The Grove at Flagstaff Arizona and The Grove at

Orono Maine which contributed approximately $8.2 million of NOl $13.2 million of revenues and $5.0 million of operating expenses for the year ended

lecember 31 2013 compared to $3.9 million of NOl $5.3 million of revenues and $1.4 million of operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 In

July 2012 we acquired the remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Valdosta Georgia and The Grove at Moscow Idaho which contributed approximately

$3.4 million of NOL $6.0 million of revenues and $2.6 million of operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2013 compared to approximately $1.7

million of NOI $2.9 million of revenues and $1.2 million of operating expenses for the yearended December 312012 Prior to the acquisition of these interests

we accounted for our ownership in these propenies
under the equity method In March 2013 we acquired Campus Crest at Toledo Ohio which contributed

approximately $0.4 million of NOI $1.6 million of revenues and $1.2 million of operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2013 compared to no

contribution for the year ended December 31 2012 In August 2013 we began operation at The Grove at Muncie Indiana The Grove at Fort Collins Colorado

The Grove at Flagstaff II Arizona and partial operations at The Grove at Pullman Washington which contributed approximately $3.7 million of NOI $4.0

million of revenues and $0.3 million of operating expenses for the
year

ended December 31 2013 compared to no contribution for the year ended December 31

2012

Same-Store Property Operations Our 23 same-store properties contributed approximately $35.0 million of NOl for the
year

ended December 31 2013

as compared to approximately $35.9 million of NOI for the year ended December 31 2012 The decrease in revenue at our same-store properties was due

decrease in average occupancy to approximately 91.8% for the
year

ended December 31 2013 from approximately 92.4% for the year ended December 312012

partially offset by an increase in average monthly revenue per occupied bed RevPOB to $508 for the year ended December 31 2013 from $501 for the year

ended December 31 2012 The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to increases in property-level payroll and utilities

The following is reconciliation of our net income attributable to common stockholders to NOI for the periods presented including our same store and new

properties in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

Net loss income attributable to common stockholders 4531 6638

Net loss income attributable to noncontrolling interests t4 46

Preferred stock dividends 6183 4.114

Income tax benefit expense 727 356

Other income expense 1414 410

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities 6554

income loss on discontinued operations 3001 665

Impairment of unconsolidated joint venture 312

Interest expense 12.969 1.545

Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated entities 3727 361
Depreciation and amortization 23.700 20693

Ground lease expense
249 217

General and administrative expense 10658 8821

rransaction costs 11 21

Development construction and management services expenses 46759 50493

Deselopment construction and management services revenues 51.069 54.295

TotI NOl from Continuing Operations 50904 41458

Same store properties NOl 35046 35875

New propertiesNOl 14293 5583

Pullman 1191

Toledo 374

Development Construction and Management Services

Revenues and operating expenses in the development construction and management services segment decreased by approximately $3.2 million and

approximately $3.7 million respectively for the
year

ended December 31 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31 2012 Our development

construction and management services segment recognizes revenues and operating expenses
for development construction and management services provided to

unconsolidated joint ventures in which we have an ownership interest We eliminate revenue and related expenses on such transactions with our unconsolidated

entities to the extent of our ownership interest The decreases in development construction and management services revenue and operating expenses were

primarily due to lower volume of unconsolidated service activity and the
scope

and timing of those services For the year ended December 31 2013 we

provided construction and development services for five unconsolidated joint ventures and development-only services for three unconsolidated joint ventures For

the year ended December 31 2012 we provided construction and development services for six unconsolidated joint ventures Although we remain in the early

stages of the construction cycle for our current round of developments we believe our current round of developments will be materially in line with our

expectations

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased from approximately $8.8 million for the year ended December 31 2012 to approximately $10.6 million for

the
year

ended December 31 2013 The $1.8 million increase was primarily due to an increase in the number of full-time employees and travel expenses resulting

from our growth
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Transaction Costs

We recognized approximately
$1.0 million in transaction costs related to the CB Portfolio Acquisition and approximately $0.1 million in transaction costs

and travel related to the acquisition of the Toledo Ohio
property

for the year ended December 31 2013 See Note to the accompanying consolidated financial

statements

We capitalized approximately $16.9 million of direct incremental costs related to the CB Portfolio Acquisition into the basis of our investment for the year

ended December31 2013

Impairment of Unconsolidated Joint Venture

We recognized an impairment
of approximately $0.3 million in our investment in The Grove at Denton due to the difference between our purchase price in

the acquisition of our remaining ownership interests in that joint venture as compared to its cariying value See Note 18 to the accompanying consolidated

financial statements

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation
and amortization expense

increased from approximately $20.7 million for the year ended December 31 2012 to approximately $23.7 million

for the year ended December 31 2013 This increase was primarily due to the increase in the number of operating properties

Equity in Earnings Loss of Unconsolidated Entities

Equity
in earnings loss of unconsolidated entities which

represents our share of the net income loss from entities in which we have noncontrolling

interest decreased from gain of approximately $0.4 million for the
year

ended December 31 2012 to loss of approximately $3.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2013 primarily due to the CB Portfolio Acquisition and associated depreciation and amortization See Note to the accompanying consolidated

financial statements

Interest Expense

Interest expense
increased approximately $1.4 million for the year ended December 31 2013 as compared to the year

ended December31 2012 primarily

due to an increase in average outstanding indebtedness partially offset by lower interest rate on our Revolving Credit Facility in 2013 and the write-off of

approximately $1.0 million of deferred financing costa for the
year

ended December 31 2012

Other IncomelExpense

In connection with the CB Portfolio Acquisition we recognized $1.4 million of income for the year
ended December 31 2013 resulting from interest earned

on our $31.7 million notes receivable from the CB Investors See Note to the accompanying consolidated fmancial statements

Income Tax Benefit Expense

Income tax benefit expense for the year
ended December 31 2013 was $0.7 million benefit as compared to $0.4 million expense for the year

ended

December 31 2012 primarily
due to the recognition of current and deferred tax credits related to solar panels owned by our TRS entities See Note in the

accompany consolidated financial statements

Income oss from Discontinued Operations

For the year ending December 31 2013 we recorded an impairment of approximately $4.7 million in connection with the sale of four wholly-owned

properties The Grove at Jacksonville Alabama The Grove at Jonesboro Arkansas The Grove at Wichita Kansas and The Grove at Wichita Falls Texas

and classified their results of operations
within discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations

and comprehensive income loss There was

no such disposition during the year ending December 31 2012

Dividends on Preferred Stock

Dividends on preferred stock increased to approximately $6.2 million for the
year

ended December 31 2013 compared to $4.1 million for the
year

ended

December 31 2012 primarily due to an increase in the average number of shares of preferred stock outstanding in 2013 In October 2013 we reopened our Series

Preferred Stock in an underwritten public offering of 3800000 shares of preferred stock See Note 12 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
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Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $14.4 million for the year
ended December 31 2013 as compared to approximately $29.5

million for the year ended December 31 2012 decrease of approximately $15.1 million Net income adjusted for non-cash items provided approximately $46.2

million for the
year

ended December 31 2013 as compared to approximately $34.4 million for the year ended December 31 2012 an increase of approximately

$11.8 million This increase is due to the addition of properties placed
into service in 2013 and 2012 as well as non-cash equity in loss from the CB Portfolio

results of operations Approximately $31.8 million was used by working capital purposes
for the year ended December 31 2013 as compared to approximately

$4.9 million used by working capital accounts for the
year

ended December 31 2012 an increase of approximately $26.9 million The increase was primarily due

to the timing of construction billings and vendor payments

Net cash used in investing activities totaled approximately $489.7 million for the
year

ended December 31 2013 as compared to net cash used of

approximately $133.1 million for the year ended December 31 2012 an increase of approximately $356.6 million This increase was primanly due to the CB

Portfolio Acquisition as well as the property acquisitions in Toledo Ohio and Montreal Quebec Canada See Note to the accompanying consolidated financial

stasements

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled approximately $501.4 million for the
year

ended December 31 2013 as compared to net cash provided of

approximately
$98.8 million for the year ended December 31 2012 an increase of approximately $402.6 million For the year ended December 31 2013 we

received net proceeds of approximately $299.7 million from our common stock offering
which was used to fund the CB Portfolio Acquisilion

and net proceeds

of $91.3 million and $100.0 million from our issuance of Series Preferred Stock and Exchangeable Senior Notes respectively which were used in the

repayment of debt development funding and working capital purposes offset by dividend payments on higher average
shares during 2013 as compared to 2012

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2012 and December 31 2011

As of December 31 2012 our property portfolio consisted of 28 consolidated operating properties containing approximately 5480 apartment units and

14920 beds and seven operating properties
held in three unconsolidated joint ventures containing approximately 1422 apartment units and 3948 beds Four

consolidated operating properties
have been presented in discontinued operations

As of December 31 2011 our property portfolio consisted of 23 consolidated operating properties containing approximately 4388 apartment units and

11868 beds and six operating properties held in two unconsolidated joint ventures containing approximately 1168 apartment units and 3180 beds Four

consolidated operating properties have been presented in discontinued operations
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Revenues

Student housing rental

Student housing services

Development construction and management services

Total renues

Operating expenses

Student housing operations

Development construction and management services

General and administrative

Ground leases

Depreelation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Equity in earnings 1855 of unconsolidated entities

Operating income

Nonoperating income expense
interest expense

Other income expense

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated interests

Total nonoperating expense net

Net Income before income tax expense

Income tax expense

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net Income

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Dividends on preferred stock

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Student Housing Operations

71211 49048

2880 2062

54295 35084

128386 86394

32633 23316

50493 31051

8.82 6749

217 209

20.693 16524

1l2857 77849

361 1164
l5890 7181

11545 6888
410 720

6554 3159

5401 3.009

10489 4172

356 464
10133 3708

665 73

10198 3781

46 51

4114

6638 3730

Revenues in the student housing operations segment which include student housing rental and student housing service revenues increased by

approximately $23.0 million and operating expenses in the student housing operations segment increased by approximately $9.3 million in 2012 as compared to

2011 The increase in revenues was primarily due to the opening of three new properties in August 2012 the acquisitions of The Grove at Valdosta Georgia and

The Grove at Moscow Idaho in July 2012 the acquisitions of The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The Grove at Statesboro Georgia in December 2011 the

inclusion of operating results for our August 2011 deliveries for full calendar year in 2012 as well as increases in occupancy and monthly revenue per bed at our

same store properties The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to the aforementioned activity as well as an increase insame store property-level

payroll and taxes which was partially offset by decrease in same store property-level utilities and in general office expenses

New Properly Operations In August 2012 we began operations at The Grove at Auburn Alabama The Grove at Flagstaff Arizona and The Grove at

Orono Maine which contributed approximately $3.9 million in NOl for the
year

ended December 31 2012 compared to no contribution for the
year

ended

December 31 2011 In July 2012 we acquired the remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Valdosta and The Grove at Moscow which contributed

approximately $1.7 million of NOl for the year ended December 31 2012 compared to no contribution for the
year

ended December 31 2011 Prior to the

acquisition of these interests we accounted for our ownership in this property under the equity method In December 2011 we acquired the remaining ownership

interests in The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The Grove at Statesboro Georgia which contributed approximately $3.0 million of NOl for the year
ended

December 31 2012 as compared to an immaterial amount of NOl for the year ended December 2011 Prior to the acquisition of these interests we accounted

for our ownership in this property under the equity method In August 2011 we began operations at The Grove at Ames Iowa The Grove at Clarksville

Tennessee The Grove at Columbia Missouri and The Grove at Fort Wayne Indiana which contributed approximately $6.3 million in NOI for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared to approximately $3.0 million in NOl for the year ended December 31 2011

The following table presents our results of operations for the periods presented including the amount and percentage change in these results between the

periods in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011 ChangeS Change %J

22163

818

19211

42192

9317

19442

2072

4169

35008

1525

8709

4657
1130
3395

2392
6317

108

1017

4114

2908

45.2

397

54.8

49.0

40.0

62.6

30.7

3.8

25.2

45.0

N/A
121.3

67.6

-156.9

107.5

79.5

151.4

-23.3

185.6

-9.8

N/A

78.0
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Same-Store Property Operations Our 17 same-store properties contributed approximately $26.5 million of NO for the
year

ended December 31 2012

as compared to approximately $24.8 million of NOl for the year ended December 31 2011 The increase in revenue at our same-store properties was due to an

increase in the
average occupancy to approximately 93.7% for the year ended December 31 2012 from approximately 92.0% for the year ended December 31

2011 and an increase in average monthly revenue per occupied bed RevPOB to $501 for the year ended December31 2012 from $493 for the year
ended

December 31 2011 The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to property-level payroll and taxes which was partially offset by decreases in same

store property-level utilities and general office expenses

The following is reconciliation of our net income loss attributable to common stockholders to NOL for the periods presented including our same store and

new properties in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Net loss income attributable to common stockholders 6.638 3730

Net loss income attributable to noncontrolling interests 46 51

Preferred stock dividends 4114
Income tax expense 356 464

Other income expense 410 720
Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities 6554 3159
Income front discontinued operations 665 73
Interest

expense
11545 6888

EQuthineanhingsIossofuneonsolidatedeotitles 361 1.164

Depreciation and amortization 20693 16524

Ground lease expense 217 209

General and administrative
expense 8821 6749

Development constauctton and management services expenses 50493 l081

Development construction and management services revenues 54295 35084

TotS NOl front Continuing operations 41458 27794

Same store properties NOt 26528 24824

New properties
NO 1493D 2$70

Development Construction and Management Services

Revenues and operating expenses
in the development construction and management services segment increased by approximately $19.2 million and

approximately $19.4 million respectively for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to the year ended December 31 2011 Our development

construction and management services segment recognizes revenues and operating expenses
for development construction and management services provided to

unconsolidated joint ventures in which we have an ownership interest We eliminate revenue and related expenses on such transactiona with our unconsolidated

entities to the extent of our ownership interest The increases in development construction and management services revenue and operating expenses were

primarily due to higher volume of unconsolidated service activity and the timing of that service activity During the year ended December 31 2012 we

completed construction on three joint venture projects for which we had 10% ownership interest and began construction on three additional joint venture

projects for which we had 20% ownership interest During the
year

ended December 31 2011 we completed construction on two joint venture projects for

which we had 20% ownership interest and began construction on three additional joint venture projects for which we had 10% ownership interest

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased from approximately $6.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 to approximately $8.8 million for the

year
ended December 31 2012 The $2.0 million increase was primarily due to an increase in the number of employees and travel expenses resulting from our

growth

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased from approximately $16.5 million for the year ended December 31 20l Ito approximately $20.7 million

for the
year

ended December31 2012 This increase was primarily due to the increase in the number of operating properties

Equity in Earnings Loss of Unconsolidated Entities

Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated entities increased to gain of approximately $0.4 million for the
year

ended December 31 2012 from loss of

approximately $1.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 This increase was primarily due to the addition of three unconsolidated properties

commencing operations in August 2012 and two unconsolidated properties commencing operations in August 2011 partially offset by our acquisition of the

remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Valdosta Georgia and The Grove at Moscow Idaho in July 2012 and The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The

Grove at Statesboro Georgia in December 2011 The increase was also due to refinancing initiatives during the fourth quarter of 2011 that resulted in decrease

in interest expense and an increase in return on our preferred investments
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Interest Expense

Interest expense increased approximately $4.6 million to approximately $11.5 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to approximately

$6.9 million for the
year

ended December 31 2011 This increase was primarily due to an increase in outstanding indebtedness during 2012 as compared to 2011

resulting from an increase in the number of operating properties as well as an increase in write-offs of deferred fmancing costs due to refinancing activities

Other IncomelExpense

Other income/expense decreased approximately $1.1 million from gain of approximately $0.7 million for the year
ended December 31 2011 to loss of

approximately $0.4 million for the
year

ended December 31 2012 This decrease was primarily due to interest income earned in 2011 on cash balances which

was not earned in 2012 as well as decrease in the fair value of interest rate derivatives decreased to loss of approximately $0.2 million for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared to gain of approximately $0.3 million for the
year

ended December 31 2011 This decrease was primarily due to decrease in

non-cash mark-to-market adjustments of approximately $0.3 million combined with an increase in monthly net cash settlements of approximately $0.2 million

Gain on Purchase of Previously Unconsolidated Interests

The gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated interests for the year ended December31 2012 was due to our acquisition of the remaining ownership

interests in The Grove at Valdosta Georgia and The Grove at Moscow Idaho and our associated remeasurement of those interests The gain for the year ended

December 31 2011 was due to our acquisition of the remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The Grove at Statesboro Georgia and

our associated remeasurement of those interests

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense
in 2012 was relatively unchanged compared to 2011 at approximately $0.4 million and approximately $0.5 million respectively due to

comparable levels in service activity by our TRS5 We managed seven unconsolidated joint venture properties during 2012 as compared to nine unconsolidated

joint venture properties during the same period in the prior year

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $29.5 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to approximately $22.8

million for the year ended December 31 2011 an increase of approximately $6.7 million Approximately $4.9 million was used by working capital purposes
for

the
year

ended December 31 2012 as compared to approximately $2.0 million used by working capital accounts for the year
ended December 31 2011 an

increase of approximately $2.9 million The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to the payments into restricted cash accounts

required by our lenders and an increase in construction related receivables partially offset by an increase in outstanding accounts payable and accrued expenses

We also added three wholly-owned and three joint venture properties for the
year

ended December 31 2012 along with receiving full year benefit of the four

wholly-owned and two joint venture deliveries from 2011 We also acquired two joint venture properties in December 2011 and two additional joint venture

properties in July 2012 These factors along with increased occupancy at our existing properties contributed to the increase net cash provided by operating

activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled approximately $133.1 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to net cash used of

approximately $126.9 million for the year
ended December 31 2011 an increase of approximately $6.2 million This increase was primarily due to expenditures

on development projects contributions to joint ventures and the acquisition of The Grove at Valdosta and The Grove at Moscow during 2012

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled approximately $98.8 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to net cash provided of

approximately $112.6 million for the year ended December 31 2011 decrease of approximately $13.8 million This decrease was primarily due to an increase

in net financing activity resulting from increased draws and the repayment of our line of credit mortgage and construction notes partially
offset by the proceeds

from the sale of preferred and common stock

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our capital resources include accessing the public debt and equity markets when available mortgage and construction loan financing and immediate access

to the Amended Credit Facility discussed below
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As REIT we generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income excluding any net capital gain in order for corporate income tax

not to apply to earnings that we distribute To the extent that we satis this distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income

we will be subject to U.S federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income In addition we will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax if

the actual amount that we distribute to our stockholders in calendar year is less than minimum amount specified under U.S federal income tax laws We

intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and to avoid paying corporate tax on undistributed

income Additionally we intend to make distributions that exceed these requirements We may need to obtain financing to meet our distribution requirements

because

our income may not be matched by our related expenses at the time the income is considered received for purposes of determining taxable income

and

non-deductible capital expenditures creation of reserves or debt service requirements may reduce available cash but not taxable income

In these circumstances we may be forced to obtain third-party financing on terms we might otherwise find unfavorable and we cannot provide assurance

that we will be able to obtain such financing Alternatively if we are unable or unwilling to obtain third-party financing on the available terms we could choose

to pay portion of our distributions in stock instead of cash or we may fund distributions through asset sales

Principal Capital Resources

In January 2013 we entered into the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement which provides for $250 million senior unsecured Revolving Credit

Facility $50 million term loan and an accordion feature that under certain circumstances allows us to request an increase in the total commitments by an

additional $300.0 million increasing total commitments to $600.0 million The Second Amended and Restated Credit Facility will mature in January 2017 and

contains
one-year

extension option subject to certain terms and conditions

As of December 31 2013 we had approximately $58.5 million outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility and $50 million outstanding under the Term

Loan The amounts outstanding
under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan as well as outstanding letters of credit will reduce the amount that we may

be able to borrow under this facility for other purposes As of December 31 2013 we had approximately $154.1 million in borrowing capacity under our

revolving credit facility and amounts borrowed under the facility will be due at its maturity in January 2017 subject to one-year extension which we may

exercise at our option subject to the satisfaction of certain terms and conditions including the payment of an extension fee The amount available for us to

borrow under the Amended Credit Facility is based on the sum of the lesser of 60.0% of the as-is appraised value of our properties that form the

borrowing base of the Amended Credit Facility and ii the amount that would create debt service
coverage

ratio of not less than 1.5 and 50% of the

aggregate of the lesser ofi the book value of each of our development assets as such term is defined in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

and ii the as-is appraised value of each of our development assets subject to certain limitations in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

We incur an unused fee on the balance between the amount available under the Revolving Credit Facility and the amount outstanding under the Revolving

Credit Facility of 0.30% per annum if our average borrowing is less than 50.0% of the total amount available or ii 0.25% per annum if our average borrowing

is greater
than 50.0% of the total amount available

Additionally the Amended Credit Facility has an accordion feature that allows us to request an increase in the total commitments from $300.0 million to

$600.0 million subject to conditions Amounts outstanding under the Amended Credit Facility bear interest at floating rate equal to at our election the

Eurodollar Rate or the Base Rate each as defined in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement plus spread that depends upon our leverage ratio

The spread for borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility ranges
from 1.75% to 2.50% for Eurodollar Rate based borrowings and from 0.75% to 1.50% for

Base Rate based borrowings and the spread for the Term Loan
ranges

from 1.70% to 2.45% for Eurodollar Rate based borrowings and from 0.70% to 1.45% for

Base Rate based borrowings

Our ability to borrow under the Amended Credit Facility is subject to its ongoing compliance with number of customary financial covenants including

maximum leverage ratio of not greater than 0.601.00

minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.501.00

minimum ratio of fixed rate debt and debt subject to hedge agreements to total debt of not less than 66.67%

maximum secured recourse debt ratio of not greater
than 20.0%

minimum tangible net worth of not less than the sum of $330788250 plus an amount equal 1075.0% of the net proceeds of
any

additional equity

issuances and

maximum secured debt ratio of not greater than 50% through February 17 2013 and not greater than 45.0% on any date thereafter

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Credit Facility we may not pay distributions that exceed the
greater ofi 95.0% of our funds from operations or ii

the minimum amount required for us to qualify and maintain our status as REIT If default or event of default occurs and is continuing we also may be

precluded
from making certain distributions other than those required to allow us to qualify and maintain our status ass REIT In April 2013 as result of the

CB Portfolio Acquisition we received waiver from our lender
group allowing for distributions up to 110.0% of our funds from operations for the remainder of

2013
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In February 2013 we amended the Amended Credit Facility to provide for certain exclusions related to our investments in joint ventures aa well as the

treatment of certain other investments within the compliance calculation of our secured debt ration and certain negative covenants

We and certain of our subsidiaries guarantee the obligations under the Amended Credit Facility and we and certain of our subsidiaries have provided

negative pledge against specified assets including real property stock and other interests

In June 2013 in connection with our investment in joint venture with Beaumont to acquire property in Montreal Quebec Canada we received waiver

from our lender group allowing us to guarantee debt incurred by our subsidiary Campus Crest at Montreal LLC to fund such investment

As of December 31 2013 we were in compliance with the above fmancial covenants with respect to our Amended Credit Facility

tn February 2012 we completed an underwritten public offering of approximately 2.3 million shares of our Series Preferred Stock including

approximately
0.3 million shares issued and sold pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters overallotment option in full see Note 13 in the accompanying

consolidated fmancial statements

In July 2012 we issued approximately 7.5 million shares of common stock including the full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional

shares see Note 13 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements

In March 2013 we completed an underwritten public offering of approximately 25.5 million shares of common stock including the full exercise of the

underwriters option to purchase additional shares see Note 13 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements

In October 2013 we reopened our Series Preferred Stock in an underwritten public offering
of

approximately
3.8 million shares including approximately

0.4 million shares issued and sold pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional shares of the Series Preferred Stock see Note 13

in the accompanying consolidated financial statements

In October 2013 we issued $100.0 million of Exchangeable Senior Notes due October 15 2018 see Note in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements

Short-Term Liquidity Needs

We believe that we will have sufficient capital resources as result of operations and the borrowings in place to fund ongoing operations and distributions

required to maintain REIT compliance We anticipate using our cash flow from continuing operations cash and cash equivalents and Amended Credit Facility

availability to fund our business operations cash dividends and distributions debt amortization and recurring capital expenditures Capital requirements for

significant acquisitions and development projects may require funding from borrowings and/or equity offerings

Recurring Capita Expenditures

Our properties require periodic investments of capital for general maintenance These recurring capital expenditures vary in size annually based upon the

nature of the maintenance required for that time period For example recently developed properties typically do not require major maintenance such as the

replacement of roof In addition capital expenditures associated with newly acquired or developed properties are capitalized as part of their acquisition price or

development budget so that such properties typically begin to require recurring capital expenditures only following their first year of ownership

Our historical recurring capital expenditures at our consolidated properties are set forth below in thousands except Average Per Bed amount

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011

Acguiaition of previously unconsolidated entities 13.801 15.352 13.510

Capital improvements 3898 5.700 2.902

Recurring capital expenditures 2.027 1.416 905

Investment in operating properties 29726 22468 17.317

rotal Beds as ofJanuary 16.936 13884 10.528

Average Recurring CapEx Per Bed 120 102 86

Total number of beds as of January of the year indicated excluding beds at consolidated properties that commenced operations during the
year indicated

as they did not require material recurring capital expenditures
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We invested approximately $126.2 million $104.0 million and $107.3 million in wholly-owned developments for the
years

ended December 3120132012
and 2011 respectively In 2013 we completed construction on three development projects and began construction on another four projects targeted for

completion in the third quarter of 2014 In 2012 we completed construction on three development projects and began construction on another three projects

targeted for completion in the third quarter of 2013 In 2011 we completed construction on four development projects and began construction on another three

projects targeted for completion in the third
quarter

of 2012 Our
scope

and number of projects under construction will be contingent upon our access to capital

among other factors

We invested approximately $29.7 million $22.5 million and $17.3 million in our operating properties for the
years

ended December 31 2013 2012 and

2011 respectively Capital improvements at our wholly-owned properties include betterments to buildings clubhouse renovations parking lots solar panel

installations and other capital improvements We expect our capital improvements to increase over time as our portfolio expands as well as our average recurring

capital expenditures per bed to increase as our portfolio ages

Development Expenditures

Our development activities have historically required us to fund pre-development expenditures such as architectural fees engineering fees and earnest

deposits Because the closing of development projects fmancing is often subject to various delays we cannot always predict accurately the liquidity needs of

these activities We frequently incur these pre-development expenditures before financing commitment has been obtained and accordingly bear the risk of the

loss of these pre-development expenditures if ftnancing cannot ultimately be arranged on acceptable terms

We are building six new student housing properties four of which are wholly-owned by us and two of which are owned by HSRE joint venture that we

established with HSRE and in which we own 30% interest We are currently targeting completion of these six properties for the 2014-20 15 academic year For

each of these projects we commenced construction subsequent to conducting significant pre-development activities We estimate that the cost to complete all four

wholly-owned properties will be approximately $123.6 million Additionally we will be obligated to fund our pro rats portion of the development costs of our

joint venture with HSRE and we estimate that the cost to complete the two joint venture properties will be approximately $69.1 million and our net
pro

rats share

of equity will be approximately $20.7 million No assurance can be given that we will complete construction of these six properties in accordance with our current

expectations including the estimated cost thereof During 2013 we closed on the financing necessary
for our six 2014-20 15 development projects We intend to

finance our share of the remaining construction costs through the Revolving Credit Facility

We are also building one new student housing property that is owned by HSRE IX joint venture that we established with HSRE and Brandywine in which

we own 30% interest We are currently targeting completion of this
property

for the 20 14-2015 academic year We estimate the cost to complete this joint

venture property to be approximately $158.5 million and our net pro rata share of equity will be approximately $47.6 million No assurance can be given that we

will complete construction of this
property

in accordance with our current expectations including the estimated cost thereof During January 2013 we closed on

the ftnancing necessaty for this development project We intend to finance our share of the construction costs through the Revolving Credit Facility

We are also redeveloping one new student housing property that is owned by DCV Holdings joint venture that we established with Beaumont in which we

own 20% interest We currently expect
this

property
to be completed prior to the 2014-20 15 academic year We estimate the cost to complete this joint venture

property will be $88.2 million and our net pro rata share of equity will be approximately $30.9 million No assurance can be given that we will complete

construction on this property in accordance with our current expectations including the estimated cost thereof The joint venture closed on financing for this

project and an additional redevelopment project in January 2014 See Note 18 We are the guarantor of this financing We intend to finance our share of the

construction costs through the Revolving Credit Facility

Copper Beech is also building one new student housing property in which our interest will be commensurate with the remainder of the CB portfolio We

currently expect this property to be completed prior to the 2014-2015 academic year The estimated cost to complete this joint venture property will be

approximately $33.6 million and our net pro rata share of equity will be $22.5 million No assurance can be given that we will complete construction on this

property in accordance with our current expectations including the estimated cost thereof We intend to finance our share of the construction costs through the

Revolving Credit Facility

In July 2013 we experienced fire at The Grove at Puliman Washington property under construction see Note in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements We do not believe the fire at The Grove at Pullman Washington will have an adverse effect on our short or long-term liquidity
needs due

to insurance recoveries

Long-Term Liquidity Needs

Our long-term liquidity needs consist primarily of funds
necessary to pay for long-term development activities non-recurring capital expenditures potential

acquisitions of properties and payments of debt at maturity Long-term liquidity needs may also include the payment of unexpected contingencies such as

remediation of unknown environmental conditions at our properties or at additional properties that we develop or acquire or renovations necessary to comply

with the ADA or other regulatory requirements We do not expect that we will have sufficient funds on hand to cover all of our long-term liquidity needs We will

therefore seek to satisfy these needs through cash flow from operations additional
long-term secured and unsecured debt including borrowings under our

Revolving Credit Facility the issuance of debt securities the issuance of equity securities and equity-related securities including OP units property dispositions

and joint venture transactions We believe that we will have access to these sources of capital to Find our long-term liquidity requirements but we cannot make

any assurance that this will be the case especially in difficult market conditions
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Commitments

The following
table summarizes our contractual commitments as of December 31 2013 including future interest payments in thousandt

Contractual Obligations
Totat 2014 2015-2016 2017-2018 Thereafter

Long-Term Debt Obligations
416724 2437 88729 271038 54520

Interest Payments on Outstanding
Debt Obligations 51.300 12134 22168 8727 8271

Operating Lease Obligations 34611 1237 2597 2629 28148

Purchase ObligationsU 73200 72299 901

Total2 575835 88107 114395 282394 90939

Obligations relate to subcontracts executed by Campus Crest Construction to complete projects under construction at December 31 2013

Excludes joint venture debt of approximately $32.7 million due to mature in January 2014 in February 2014 we extended the maturity date to February

2015 of which we area 49.9% owner approximately $1.0 million that matures in July 2016 of which we area 30% owner approximately $16.8 million

and $33.0 million that matures between March 2014 and December 2015 of which we area 20.0% owner and approximately $49.1 million that matures

between December 2014 and January 2015 of which we area 10.0% owner We are the guarantor of these loans

Long-Term Indebtedness Outstanding

See Note in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for our outstanding consolidated indebtedness

The weighted average
annual interest rate on our total long-term

indebtedness as of December 31 2013 was approximately 4.23% At December 31 2013

our ratio of debt to total market capitalization was approximately 40.5% excluding indebtedness encumbering our current and future Joint venture properties

However we expect to incur additional indebtedness consistent with our financing policy in connection with our development activities

At December 312013 after receipt of waivers we were in compliance
with all financial covenants with respect to our Amended Credit Facility

OtT-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Joint Ventures

We have investments in real estate ventures with CB Investors HSRE Brandywine and Beaumont which are not consolidated by us These joint ventures are

engaged primarily
in developing constructing owning and managing student housing properties

in the United States and Canada Along with the joint venture

partners we hold joint approval rights for major decisions including those regarding property acquisition and disposition as well as property operations As such

we hold noncontrolling interests in these joint ventures and account for them under the equity
method of accounting
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We are the guarantor of the construction and mortgage debt of our ventures with HSRE and Beaumont Detail of our unconsolidated investments at

December 312013 is presented in the following table in thousands

Db

Wd8tM
N.m.rofPr.pd1 Av.r.8

Our Var USer Our Total Amount laterat

Unto d.tStntltla Owarnhip Founded Ope.800 D.velopt.o.t invab000t Ontt.de Rato MthyDut.lRaueo

15 CtwCb0 iLLC 2509 50350 32.754 247

IIS5ECumpa Col IV LLC 20.0 201 1.915 16839 575 .1U 3/1/2014

Is509.ccsvLLc I0 95 2551 3990 49.59 2.50 1O 82200054- 9I04ta

I1SRE.Cmp Cr.t Vi LLC 20.0 14 2012 9.562 32998 293 143/ 5/08.12015 11/192015

1533 ComieaCaol 08 304 75 2513 59340 96 2J7 7/200014

IISRU.Cumpuo Cr04 LLC 300 2013 7783 n/t n/a

CBPatfrIi 62.0% 2017 23 25192 92450 56 9508 6/0592014-10l0i/2024

DCV HoIdün LI 20.0 2013 5.337 32.88 372 1/31/2014

285.8 203 95 2853 hISS 0/8 54

10/0/ UncontoIndolod Ennlilin ______________
324838 557.904

II Variable interest rates

/2 Comprised of one fixed rate loan In January 2014 we acquired the outstanding ownership of The Grove at Denton Texas

Comprised of fixed rate debt

/4 In January 2014 DCV Holdings completed the acquisition of an additional re-development property
in Montreal Canada evo Sherbrooke at which time

our ownership percentage in CSH Montreal the holding company that owns DCV Holdings increased to 35% see Note 18 to the accompanying

consolidated financial statements Effective December 31 2013 the debt previously held by the Company was assumed by an affiliate of the joint venture

and refinanced in January 2014

Funda From Operations FF0

FF0 is used by industry analysts and investors as supplemental operating performance measure for REIT5 We calculate FF0 in accordance with the

definition that was adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT FF0 as defined by NAREIT represents net income loss determined in accordance with

GAAP excluding extraordinary items as defined under GAAP and gains or losses from sales of previously depreciated operating real estate assets plus specified

non-cash items such as real estate asset depreciation and amortization and afler adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures In addition in

October 2011 NAREIT communicated to its members that the exclusion of impairment write-downs of depreciable real estate is consistent with she definition of

FF0

We use FF0 as supplemental performance measure because in excluding real estate-related depreciation and amortization and gains and losses from

property dispositions it provides performance measure that when compared year over year captures trends in occupancy rates rental rates and operating

expenses We also believe that as widely recognized measure of the performance of equity REITs FF0 will be used by investors as basis to compare our

operating performance with that of other REIT5 However because FF0 excludes depreciation and amortization and captures neither the changes in the value of

our properties that result from use or market conditions nor the level of capital expenditures necessary to maintain the operating performance of our properties all

of which have real economic effects and could materially and adversely impact our results of operations the utility of FF0 as measure of our performance
is

limited

While FF0 is relevant and widely used measure of operating performance of equity REITs other equity REITs may use different methodologies for

calculating FF0 and accordingly FF0 as disclosed by such other REITs may not be comparable to FF0 published herein Therefore we believe that in order to

facilitate clear understanding of our historical operating results FF0 should be examined in conjunction with net income loss as presented in the consolidated

financial statements accompanying this report FF0 should not be considered as an alternative to net income loss computed in accordance with GAAP as an

indicator of our properties financial performance or to cash flow from operating activities computed in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of our liquidity

nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs including our ability to pay dividends or make distributions
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The following table presents reconciliation of our FF0 to our net income loss for the periods presented in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December31 December31 December31

2013 2012 2011

453 6638 3730

34 46 51

4729

312

in thousands

Funda frOm operations FEO
Net income loss attributable to common stockholders

Net Income loss attrlbistable to nosoconicolliog interests

Impairment of disposed assets

tinpainnent of investment in uneotosolidated entity

Gain on purchase of joint venture propertiesW

Real estate related depreciation and asuottizatiots inchsding discontinued operations

Real estate related depreciation and amortization unconsolidated entities

6554 3.159

25503 23521 19832

2327 1731 2434

FF0 49254 25382 22.888

For 2012 gain is from the purchase of our joint venture partners interest in The Grove at Moscow Idaho and The Grove at Valdosta Georgia for

201 gain is from the purchase of ourjoint venture partners interest in The Grove at Huntsville Texas and The Grove at Statesboro Georgia

In addition to FF0 we believe it is also meaningfltl measure of our performance to adjust FF0 to exclude the change in fair value of unhedged interest rate

derivatives write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees transaction costs including those within equity in earnings fair value of debt adjustments within

our investment in Copper Beech and the write-off of development costs Excluding the non-cash portion of the change in fair value of unhedged interest rate

derivatives write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees transaction costs including those within equity in earnings fair value of debt adjustments within

our investment in Copper Beech and the write-off of development costs adjusts FF0 to be more reflective of operating results prior to capital replacement or

expansion debt amortization of principal or other cornmittnents and contingencies This measure is referred to herein as FFOA.

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
________________

49.250 25382

236 966

175

1121

904

FF0
Elimination of write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees

Elimination ofw -ofFofdevetopmestt costs

Elimination of transaction costs

Elimination of tsanuaetioos costs losciudedinequky inearningo

Elimination of fair value debt and purchase accounting adjustments

at our investment in Copper Beech

Elimination of change in llrvaLue of interest rate derivatives15

Funds from operations adjusted FFOA

Includes only the non-cash portion of the change in unhedged derivatives

Inflation

Our student housing leases typically do not have terms that extend beyond 12 months Accordingly although on short-term basis we would be required to

bear the impact of rising costs resulting from inflation we have the opportunity to raise rental rates at least annually to offset
any rising costs However our

ability to raise rental rates could be limited by weak economic environment declining student enrollment at our principal colleges and universities or

competition in the marketplace

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note in the accompanying consolidated fmancial statements

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As of December 31 2013 our Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at floating rate equal to at our election the Eurodollar Rate or the Base Rate each

as defmed in our Revolving Credit Facility plus spread The spread depends upon our leverage ratio and ranges from 1.75% to 2.50% for Eurodollar Rate based

borrowings and from 0.75% to 1.50% for Base Rate based borrowings At December 31 2013 the spread on our Revolving Credit Facility was 2.50%

Year Ended

December 31

2011

22.888

3576

337
48112 26348 22551
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

The table below provides information about financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates including mortgage obligations bonds and

lines of credit For debt obligations the table presents scheduled maturities excluding debt discounts and related weighted average interest rates by expected

maturity dates in thousands except interest rates

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Fixed eate debt 2437 2707 45881 15955 146584 54521 268.087

Weighted average
interest rate 5.24% 5.16 5.16% 4.97 4.91 3.99% 5.16%

Vaelableratedebt 40138 108501 148438

Weighted average
interest rate 2.26 2.65 2.60

Total 2431 42.845 45883 124.455 146584 54.521 416725

The table above presents the principal amount of debt maturing each year through December 31 2018 and thereafter and weighted average interest rates for

the debt maturing in each specified period This table reflects indebtedness outstanding as of December 31 2013 excluding joint venture debt and does not

reflect indebtedness incurred after that date Our ultimate exposure to interest rate fluctuations depends on the amount of indebtedness that bears interest at

variable rates the time at which the interest rate is adjusted the amount of adjustment the ability to prepay or refinance variable rate indebtedness and hedging

strategies used to reduce the impact of any increases in rates As of December 2013 the estimated fair value of our construction loans fixed rate mortgage

debt and Exchangeable Senior Notes was $302.9 million

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates We seek to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower the

overall borrowing costs by closely monitoring our variable rate debt and converting such debt to fixed rates when we deem such conversion advantageous As of

December 31 2013 approximately $148.6 million of our aggregate indebtedness 35.9% of total indebtedness was subject to variable interest rates

If market rates of interest on our variable rate long-term debt fluctuate by 1.0% interest cost would increase or decrease depending on rate movement future

earnings and cash flows by approximately $0.4 million annually This assumes that the amount outstanding under our variable rate debt remains at $148.6 million

the balance as of December 31 2013

We do and may in the future continue to use derivative financial instruments to manage or hedge interest rate risks related to such variable rate borrowings

We do not and do not expect to use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes and we expect to enter into contracts only with major financial institutions

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required herein is included as set forth in Item ISExhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by SEC Rule l3a-15b our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer performed an evaluation of our

disclosure controls and procedures which have been designed to permit us to effectively identif and timely disclose important information Our management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 2013 to ensure

that material information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act was accumulated and communicated to our

management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes in Internal Control over financial reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15d and 15d-l5d

of the Exchange Act that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal

control over financial reporting

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over fmancial reporting as such term is defined in Rules 3a- 151
and 15d-l5t promulgated under the Exchange Act as amended Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles
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Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with

the policies may deteriorate

Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December31 2013 using the criteria

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated Framework Based on that evaluation

management believes that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2013

KPMG LLP an independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting The
report

is included in Item 15 under the heading Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Finn

Item 9W Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material in the Proxy Statement

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material in the Proxy Statement

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material in the Proxy Statement

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material in the Proxy Statement

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material in the Proxy Statement
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PART IV

Item Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

FInancial Statemenis

of Indepe ant Registered PublkAccountingFirm

Consolidated Balance Sheets of Campus Crest Conununities Inc and sssbsidiariesasofDecesnber3l 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Income Loss furCampus Crest Communities Inc for the years ended

December31 20132012 and2OlI

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for Campus Crest Consnmnities Inc for the
years

ended December31 2013 2012

and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Campus Crest Communities 1nc for the
years

ended December 31 20132012 antt

2011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
84

FInancial Statement Schedules

Schedule 111Real Estate andAccunsulated Depreciation as of December31 2013 lii

All other schedules for which provision
is made in Regulation S-X are either not required to be included herein under the related instructions or are

inapplicable or the related information is included in the footnotes to the applicable financial statement and therefore have been omitted

Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K

Exhibit

Number Description ot Document

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of Februaly 26 2013 by and among CR-Campus Crest LLC CR-Campus Crest PA LLC Campus Crest

Communities Inc Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC Copper Beech Townhome Communities PA LLC and the sellers named

therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 27 2013

2.2 First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of September 30 2013 by and among CB-Campus Crest LLC CB-Campus Crest

PA LLC Campus Crest Communities Inc Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC Copper Beech Townhome Communities PA LLC

and the sellers named therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2013

2.3 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of March 15 2013 by and among Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC Copper Beech

Townhome Comsnunities PA LLC Campus Crest Communities Inc and the sellers named therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to

the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 21 2013

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Campus Crest Communities Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrants

registration statement on Form S-Il No 333-t66834 initially filed on May 14 2010

Page
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79

81
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3.2 Articles of Amendment to Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Company effective April 25 2013 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 26 2013

3.3 Articles Supplementary designating Campus Crest Communities Inc.s 8.00% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on February 92012

3.4 Articles Supplementary establishing additional shares of Camput Crest Communities Inc.s 8.00% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred

Stock incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on October 92013

3.5 Bylaws of Campus Crest Communities Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrants registration statement on Form S-Il No
333-166834 initially filed on May 14 2010

4.1 Form of Certificate for Common Stock of Campus Crest Communities Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrants

registration statement on Form S-Il No 333-166834 initially filed on May 14 2010

4.2 Form of Certificate for 8.00% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock of Campus Crest Communities Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrants registration statement on Form 8-A filed on February 72012

4.3 Indenture dated October 2013 among Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP as issuer Campus Crest Communities Inc as

guarantor
and U.S Bank National Association as trustee including the form of 4.75% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2018 and the form of the

related guarantee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on October 92013

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement dated October 92013 among Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP Campus Crest

Communities Inc Barclays Capital Inc Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Incorporated and Citigroup Global Markets Inc incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on October 92013

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnerahip of Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on February 92012

10.2 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnerahip of Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on October 92013

10.3 Campus Crest Communities Inc Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Compensation Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

registrants
annual

report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 201

10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the registrants registration statement on Form S-8

No 333-169958 filed on October 15 20I0

10.5 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.410 the registrants registration statement on Form S-8

No 333-169958 filed on October 15 20l0

10.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on October 21

20l0

10.7 Employment Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Ted Rollins incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the

registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31201

10.8 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 52013 between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Ted Rollins incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on August 8201

10.9 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated August 2013 between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Michael Hartnett

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.410 the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on August 20I3
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10.10 Employment Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Donald Bobbitt Jr incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9

to the registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 201

tOll First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 2013 between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Donald Bobbin Jr

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrants current report on Fonts 8-K filed on August 20l3

10.12 Employment Agreement by and between Campua Crest Communities Inc and Robert Dann incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

registrants quarterly report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2011

10.13 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 52013 between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Robert Dann incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on August 2013

10.14 Employment Agreement dated August 52013 between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Brian Sharpe

10.15 Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Ted Rollins incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011

10.16 Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Michael Hartnett incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Ihe registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31 2011

10.17 Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Donald Bobbitt Jr incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011

10.18 Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Robert Dann incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.510 the registrants quarterly report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 201

10.19 Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc and Brian Sharpe

10.20 Tax Protection Agreement by and among Campus Crest Communities Inc Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP and MXT

Capital LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit lO.lto the registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on October 21 2010

10.21 Registration Rights Agreement by and among Campus Crest Communities Inc Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP MXT

Capital LLC and certain other parties thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the registrants registration statement on Form S-Il

No 333-166834 initially filed on May 14 2010

10.22 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP Campus Crest

Communities Inc Citibank NA and the other parties thereto dated as of January 82013 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

registrants current report on Form 8-K filed on January 10 2013

10.23 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 22 2013 among Campus Crest Communities

Operating Partnership LP Citibank NA and the other parties thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants current report

on Form 8-K filed on February 27 2013

10.24 Waiver of Required Lenders and Administrative Agent dated as of April 82013 by and among Campus Crest Communities Operating

Partnership LP Citibank N.A and the other parties thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants quarterly report on

Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 312013

10.25 Waiver of Required Lenders and Administrative Agent dated as of June 28 2013 by and among Campus Crest Communities Operating

Partnership LP Citibank NA and the other parties thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.210 the registrants quarterly report on

Form I0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2013

10.26 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of HSRE-Campus Crest LLC dated as of October 19 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.4 to the registrants current
report on Form 8-K filed on October21 2010
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10.27 Operating Agreement of HRSE-Campus Crest IV LLC dated as of January 20 2011 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to the

registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

10.28 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of HRSE-Campus Crest LLC dated as of December 20 2011 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.55 to the registrants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 312011

10.29 Contribution and Distribution Agreement by and among HSRE-Canspus Crest IA LLC Campus Crest Ventures III LLC HSRE-Campus Crest

LLC and Campus Crest Properties LLC dated as of December 29 2011 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants
current

report on Form 8-K filed on January 52012

10.30 Form of Aircraft Lease incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrants registration statement on Form S-Il No 333-166834

initially filed on May 142010

12.1 Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the registrant

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Unaudited Combined Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses of the Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio for the

period from March 18 2013 to December31 2013

100.1 The following materials from Campus Crest Communities Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2013 formatted

in XBRL eXtensible Business Reporting Language the Consolidated Balance Sheets of Campus Crest Communities Inc ii the

Consolidated Statements of Operations of Campus Crest Communities Inc iii the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and

Comprehensive Income Loss of Campus Crest Communities Inc iv the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of Campus Crest

Communities Inc and related notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Campus Crest Communities Inc tagged as blocks of text

As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-I this information is fismished and not tiled for purposes
of Sections II and 12 of the Securities Act

of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Represents management contract or compensatory plan or agreement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on Its

behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

March 2014 CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC

By 1st Ted Rollins

Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that we the undersigned
officers and directors of Campus Crest Communities Inc hereby severally

constitute

Ted Rollins and Donald Bobbitt Jr and each of them singly our true and lawful attorneys with full power to them and each of them singly to sign for us

and in our names in the capacities indicated below the Form 10-K filed herewith and any and all amendments to said Form 10-K and generally to do all such

things in our names and in our capacities as officers and directors to enable Campus Crest Communities Inc to comply with the provisions of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and all requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may

be signed by our said attorneys or any of them to said Form 10-K and any and all amendments thereto

Pursuant to the
requirements

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this
report

has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant

and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

___________________________
Title ___________________

1st Ted Rollins

Ted Rollins

1st Donald Bobbift Jr

Donald Bobbitt Jr

Is Lauro Gonzalez-Moreno

Lauro Gonzalez-Moreno

1st Michael Hartnett Director

Michael Hartnett

Is Richard Kahlbaugh Director

Richard Kahlbaugh

1st Denis McGlynn Director

Denis Mcolynn

Name

Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer

Director

Date

March 32014

March 32014

March 32014

March 32014

March 32014

March 32014

74



Name Title
Date

/s/ William Ci Popeo Director
March 2014

William Popeo

Is Daniel Simmons Director
March 2014

Daniel Simmons
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Campus Crest Communities Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Campus Crest Communities Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2013 and 2012 and the

related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss changes in equity and cash flows for each of the
years

in the three-year period

ended December 31 2013 In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements we also have audited financial statement Schedule Ill real

estate and accumulated depreciation These consolidated financial statements and financial statement Schedule III are the responsibility of Campus Crest

Communities Inc.s management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement Schedule Ill

based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining

on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and

significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Campus Crest

Communities Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2013 and 2012 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-

year period ended December 31 2013 in conformity with U.S generally accepted sccounting principles Also in our opinion the related fmancial statement

Schedule Ill real estate and accumulated depreciation when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly

in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Campus Crest Communities Inc

and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework

1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated March 2014 expressed an

unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Campus Crest Communities tnc and subsidiaries internal control over fmancial reporting

/s/ KPMG LLP

Charlotte North Carolina

March 32014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Campus Crest Communities Inc

We have audited Campus Crest Communities Inc and subsidiaries the Company internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 based on

criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework 1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

COSO The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over fmancial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal contml over fmancial reporting was maintained in all material respects

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and

evaluating the design
and

operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we

considered
necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of fmancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and
expenditures

of the company are being
made

only
in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthonzed acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with

the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework 1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the consolidated balance sheets of

Campus Crest Communities Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive

income loss changes in equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2013 and financial statement Schedule Ill

real estate and accumulated depreciation and our report dated March 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and

financial statement Schedule III

Is KPMG LLP
Charlotte North Carolina

March 32014
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CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands except per share data

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

ASSETS

Investment in real estate net

Student housiugproperties
716285 669381

Accumulated depreciation
102356 97820

Development in process 91184 781
Investment in real estate net 705113 622348

Investment in unconsolidated entities 324.838 22.555

Cash and cash equivalents 32054 5970

Restricted cash 32636 3902

Student receivables net of allowance for doubtful accounts

of $539 and $121 respectively 2825 2.193

Cost and earnings in excess of construction billings 42803 23077

Other assets net 42410 16275

Total asaet 1182679 696320

LIABIUTIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Mottgageand construction loans 205531 218337

Line of credit and other debt 207952 75375

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 62448 45634

Construction billings in excess of cost and earnings 600 49

Other liabilities 11161 12023

Total liabilities 487698 351418

Conuflitments and contingencies

Equity

Preferred stock $0.01 par value 50000000 and 10000000 shares authorized

8.00% SersesA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock

liquidation preference $25.00 per shate 6100000 and 2300000 shares

issued and outstanding at December 312013 and 2012 respectively 61 23

Common stock $0.01 par value 500000000 and 90000000 shares authorized

64502430 and 38558048 shares issued and outstanding in 2013

and 2012 respectively
645 386

Additional common antI prefcrredpaid-incapital 773896 377180

Accumulated deficit and distributions 84143 37047
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 71 58

Total Campus Crest Communities Inc stockholders equity 690388 340484

Noncoutrolliasg interests 4.593 4418

Total equity
694981 344902

Total liabilities and equity
1182679 696320

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Revenues

Student housing rental

Student housing services

Development construction and management services

Total revenues

Operating expenses

Student housing operations

Development construction and management services

General and administrative

Transaction costs

Ground leases

Impairment of unconsolidated entity

Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Equity in earnings lose of unconsolidated entities

Operating income

CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
In thousands except per share data

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December31 December31 December31
2013 2012 2011

87635 71211 49048

3.615 2880 2062

51069 54295 35084

142319 128.386 86194

40346 32633 23316

46759 50493 31051

10658 8821 6749

1121

249 217 209

312

23.700 20.693 16.524

123l45 1l2857 77849

3727 361 1164
15447 15890 7181

Nonoperating income expense
Irsterest expense

Other income expense

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities

Total nonoperating expense net

Net Income before income tax benefrt expense
Income tax benefit expense

income front continuing operations

Income loss from discontinued operations

Net income

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Dividends on preferred stock

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders

Per share data basic and diluted

Income loss from continuing operations attributable toconunonstocldtolders

Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to common shareholders

Net incont loss per share attributable to common stockholders

Weightedaverage conunon thares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

I2969 11545 6888
1414 410 720

6554 3159

11555 5401 3009
3892 l0489 4172

727 356 464
4619 10133 3108

3001 665 73

1618 10798 3181

34 46 51

6.183 4114

4531 6638 3730

0.03 0.17 0l2

0.05 0.02

0.08 0.19 0.12

59984 34781 30717

6041 35217 31153
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CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS CONTINUED

In thousands except per share data

Consolidated statemeuts of cosssprehensive Income loss

Net income

Foreign currency translation

Change in fair value of interest rate derivatives

Comprehensive income

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Change in fair value ot interest rate derivatives attributable to

noncontrolling interest

Dividends on preferred stock

Comprehensive income loss attributable to common stockholders

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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58 332 215

1605 11130 3566

34 46 51
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CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In thousands

SenesA Additlanot Ana.msIedd

Cumualathe Cosunuao s.d AcaunuSuated Other Total

Rtdeu.snble Comma Preferred Psid- Delirit s.d Comprebomuve Slodsthld.r Na.ao.lrolli.g Totni

Preferred Stock Stork in Cuapitol Distflbnluo Income Lass Esnity lotenol Eqrnty

Sal ntDgctauahsr3lua2Ol0
30 2.40515 54911 1720 242136 3631 246700

Dividcndsonooumooastnok 19649 19649 19649

fl9dttad8tnetscutlnBulg 359 250

Aanorticetion of restninted nook

awards and operating

partnership units 218 218 624 942

Tusssgoattitt.sa0slo 034 934 134

Change in fair value of interest

tote derivatrves 215 215 215

3135 3730 98 3701

BnlanneotDncerrrber3l201t 307 248599 21410 387 227.109 4026 231135

NatisooreodsoIsal q98ritarod8toak 23 54870 54093 04893

Net proceeds of sale ofnorrnraon stock 75 72087 72162 72162

lnstttorofeouioo6oado

Amorrioatinn of rastocled vInes

awards and operating

parsttershtpvnito 1628 1628 624 2252

4343 43841 4314

Divtdrnds on cnearrno stock 22275 22273 22275

EJ3sidoasd toooenostU5tsp

laleetsin 201 2813

Chooge fao value of interest

rate derivatives 329 329 332

Net lssntsssn
90752 10752 46 19798

Balance at Deoetnber 31 2012 23 386 577.180 37047 58 340484 4418 344.902

Nat iosaooodstd tein 44trtfoaond stork 38 41244 98152 91282

Netprocerdsofrolenfconnnonslock
255 299464 299719 299719

Eqoitypetdonotlc056ttctof

nssvssirbIe 00100 3201 3201

Irtuonce of restricted slunk 14

AtSnstfeadnusOfrOsIrtaIed stork

nwsndtaor optsatbsg

paststrrelsltsaoitat
3003 2500 490 3300

Dividends on prnfnnned stools 683 6183 6183

Dinidotsdanusno8etsoatitngk 423653 143863 42545

Dtvidands to nnncnooollio5
inlerssto 287 287

c585o596s foit votso efialoreit

ralodst4vsskggo
88 19

foreign currency translation 71 71

Nstbsnoussr 1.652 1652 3341 LOIS

Baloone
at

Denewber 312013
643 773.096 041431 71 690388 4593 694.901

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December31 December31 December31
2013 2012 2011

Operating activities

Net income 1618 10798 3781

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities

Depreciation
and amortization 23700 20693 16524

on included in discontinued operations 2.672 3J44 3566

Impairnient of disposed assets and investment in unconsolidated entity 5041

Amortization ofdeferred financing costs and debt discount 1969 2838 1338

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities 6554 3159
Loss on disposal of assets 350 154 66

Provisionforbaddebts 3432 1.728 1566

Proceeds received tbr business interruption insurance 400

Change in non-cash portion of fair value of unhedged derivatives 337
Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated entities 3727 361 1164

Distributions of accumulated earnings from unconsolidated entities 17 766

Share-based compensation expense 3300 1194 265

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Restricted easis 533 736 810

Student receivables 4067 2492 1776
Construction billings 19175 10967 8765
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4604 11868 6529

Other l2667 2603 1198

Net cash provided by operating activities 14388 29470 22770

investing activities

Investments in development in
process 126242 104051 107328

Investments in student housing properties 15.92$ 7116 3807
Acquisition of student housing properties 13801

Acquisition of previously unconsolidated entities 15.352 13510
Investments in unconsolidated entities 348831 7363 12395
Proceeds from the disposition of student housing properties 48577

Insurance proceeds received for damaged assets 2500

issuance of notes receivable 31.700

Repayment of notes receivable 31700

Capital distributions front unconsolidated entities 1286 3355 10499

Purchase of corporate fixed assets 15036 1855 375

Change in restricted cash 28204 671 ___________
Net cash used in investing activities 489673 133053 126916

Financing aclivltiest

Proceeds from mortgage and construction loans 47924 97.220 126156

Iepgymentsofmottgage tnd cnstruction loans 6073 93096 28846
Proceeds from line of credit and other debt 167274 59400 83000

Repayments of line of credIt and other debt 96681 66077 46000
Proceeds from exchangeable senior notes 100000

Debtissuancecosts 4273 1219 2404
Dividends paid to preferred stockholders 4600 3156
Dividends paid to common stockholders 38089 21028 18636
Dividends to noncontrolling interests 287 281 265
Proceeds front sale of preferred stock 95282 57500

Proceeds from sale of common stock 312742 75573

Payment oofferingcosts 17193 6018 451
Net cash provided by financing

activities 501369 98818 112554

Net change in cash and cas1teqsshalent 26084 4765 SAIlS

Cash and cash
equivalents

at beginning of period 5970 10735 2327

Casltandeashequivalentsatendafpesiod 32054 5970 10735
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CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED

In thousands

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December31 December31 December31
2013 2012 2011

Supplemental disclosure of cash how lntbsmatlon

Cash paid for interest net of amounts capitalized 12900 8617 7247

Cashpaidforineotnetaxes 173 511 44

Non-cash investing and ftnacing sctMty
Other debt assumed by investment in unconsolidated entity 34774

Contribution of land to investment in unconsolidated entities 16900 3347 11.730

Common and preferred stock dividends declared but not paid 13765 7197 4983

Change in paysbies related to dividends to common and preferred

stockholders and noncontrolfing interest 6059 2205 1028

Insurance proceeds receivable related to damaged assets 1029

Change in payables
related to capital expenditures 5278 637 8276

Assumption of mortgage debt related to purchase of previously

unconsolidated entities 27299 28764

Assumption of bonds related to land purehaso 2.552

Conversion of costs and earnings in excess of constniction billings to

investment in unconsolidated entities 898

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Organization and Description of Business

Campus Crest Communities Inc together with its subsidiaries referred to herein as the Company we us our and Campus Crest is self-

managed self-administered and vertically-integrated real estate investment trust REIT focused on developmg building owning and managing diversified

portfolio of high-quality residence life focused student housing properties We currently own the sole general partner interest and own limited partner
interests in

Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LI the Operating Partnership We hold substantially all of our assets and conduct substantially all of our

business through the Operating Partnership

We have made an election to quality and we believe we are operating so as to quality as REIT under Sections 856 through 859 of the Internal Revenue

Code of 1986 as amended the Internal Revenue Code As REIT we generally will not be subject to U.S federal income tax to the extent that we meet the

organizational
and operational requirements and our distributions equal or exceed 90.0% of REIT taxable income For all periods subsequent to the REIT

election we have met the organizational
and operational requirements and distributions have exceeded net taxable income

We have made an election to treat Campus Crest IRS Holdings Inc TRS Holdings our wholly-owned subsidiary as taxable REIT subsidiary TRS
TRS Holdings holds the development construction and management companies that provide services to entities in which we do not own 100% of the equity

interests Ass TRS the operations
of TRS Holdings and its subsidiaries are generally subject to federal state and local income and franchise taxes

As of December 31 2013 we had ownership interests in 41 operating student housing Grove properties comprising approximately 8151 apartment
units and

22303 beds Thirty-one of our operating Grove properties are wholly-owned and ten of our operating Grove properties are owned through joint ventures with

Harrison Street Real Estate Capital HSRE or with HSRE and Brandywine Realty Trust Brandywine As of December 31 2013 we also owned interests in

25 operating student housing Copper Beech see Note properties containing approximately 5047 units and 13177 beds and one wholly-owned redevelopment

property containing approximately
382 units and 629 beds Our portfolio consists of the following

Student Housing Student Housing

Properties in Properties
Under

Operation Construction

Wholly owned Grove propertieS
31

Joint Veniure Grose properties
10

Total Grove Properties
41

Joint Veniure evo properties

CB Portfolio
28 _______________

Toial Portfolio
69 10

For delivery in the 2014-2015 academic year consolidated entities under construction include The Grove at Slippery Rock Pennsylvania The Grove at

Grand Forks North Dakota The Grove at Gainesville Florida and The Grove at Mt Pleasant Michigan For delivery in the 2014-2015 academic year joint

venture properties under construction include evo at Cira Centre South Pennsylvania The Grove at Louisville Kentucky The Grove at Greensboro North

Carolina evo Square Victoria Montreal and evo Sherbrooke Montreal We also have an interest in Copper Beech property under construction

Copper Beech at Ames

Renovation work began on evo Sherbrooke in January 2014

The re-development of our 100% owned property in Toledo OH which was acquired
in March 2013 is excluded We expect to announce more details on

the redevelopment
in 2014 See Note

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentalion

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles U.S GAAP
and represent our financial position results of operations and cash flows Third-party equity interests in the Operating Partnership are reflected as noncontrolling

interests in the consolidated financial statements The Company also has interests in unconsolidated real estate ventures which have ownership in several property

owning entities that are accounted for under the equity method All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated Certain prior period

amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation primarily related to discontinued operations associated with the asset dispositions

discussed in Note
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Significant assumptions and estimates are used by management in recognizing construction and development
revenue under the percentage of completion method useful lives of student housing properties valuation of investment in real estate and investments in

unconsolidated entities initial valuation and underlying allocation of purchase price to newly acquired student housing properties valuation allowance on

deferred tax assets determination of fair value for impairment assessments allowance for doubtful accounts fair value of the debt and equity components of the

exchangeable notes at the date of issuances and the fair value of financial assets and liabilities including derivatives Actual results may differ from previously

estimated amounts and such differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the

effects of revisions are reflected prospectively in the periods in which they occur

Investment in Real Estate

Investment in real estate is recorded at historical cost Major improvements that extend the life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated over period equal

to the shorter of the life of the improvement or the remaining useful life of the asset The cost of ordinasy repairs and maintenance are charged to expense when

incurred Depreciation and amortization are recorded on straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows

Land improvements 15 years

Buildings and leasehold improvements 10-40
years

Furniture fixtures and equipment 2-15 years

The cost of buildings and improvements includes all pre-development entitlement and project costs directly associated with the development and

construction of real estate project which include interest property taxes and the smortization of deferred financing costs recognized while the project is under

construction as well as certain internal costs related to the development and construction of our student housing properties All costs are capitalized as

development in process until the asset is ready for its intended use which is typically at the completion of the project Upon completion costs are transferred into

the applicable asset category and depreciation commences Interest
totaling approximately $3.3 million $2.4 million and $2.0 million was capitalized during the

years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

We capitalize costs during the development of assets beginning with the determination that development of future asset is probable until the asset or

portion of the asset is delivered and is ready for its intended use During development efforts we capitalize all direct costs and indirect costs that have been

incurred as result of the development These costs include interest and related loan fees property taxes as well as other direct and indirect costs We capitalize

interest costs for debt incurred for project specific financing and for capital contributions to equity method investees who utilize such funds for construction-

related activities Indirect project costs which include personnel and office and administrative costs that are clearly associated with our development and

redevelopment efforts are capitalized Indirect costs not clearly related to the acquisition development redevelopment and construction activity including

general and administrative expenses are expensed in the period incurred Capitalized indirect costs associated with our development activities were $9.0 million

$7.4 million and $6.8 million for the
years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively All such costs are capitalized as development in

process

until the asset is delivered and ready for its intended use which is typically at the completion of the project Upon completion costs are transferred into the

applicable asset category and depreciation commences

Pre-development costs are capitalized when they are directly identifiable with the specific property and would be capitalized if the
property were already

acquired and acquisition of the
property or an option to acquire the property is probable Capitalized pre-development costs are expensed when management

believes it is no longer probable that contract will be executed andlor construction will commence Because we frequently incur these pre-development

expenditures before financing commitment andior required permits and authorizations have been obtained we bear the risk of loss of these pre-development

expenditures if financing cannot ultimately be arranged on acceptable terms or we are unable to successfully obtain the required permits and authorizations As

such management evaluates the status of projects where we have not yet acquired the target property or where we have not yet commenced construction on

periodic basis and write-off any pre-development costs related to projects whose current status indicates the acquisition or commencement of construction is not

probable Such write-offs are included within development construction and management services in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

and comprehensive income lost As of December 31 2013 and 2012 we have deferred
approximately $10.5 million and $8.1 million respectively in pre

development costs related to development projects for which construction has not commenced Included within the December 31 2013 balance were seven land

parcels that could be used for the development of seven properties within either our wholly-owned portfolio or as contributions to joint venture projects with an

aggregate bed count ranging from approximately 3000 to 3500 Such costs are included in development in
process

on the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets
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Management assesses whether there has been impairment in the value of our investment in real estate whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the canying amount of an asset may not be recoverable Recoverability of investment in real estate is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of

student housing property to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the property Impairment is recognized when estimated

future undiscounted cash flows including proceeds from disposition are lest than the carrying value of the property The estimation of future undiscounted cash

flows is inherently uncertain and relies on assumptions regarding current and future economics and market conditions If such conditions change then an

adjustment reducing the carrying value of our long-lived assets could occur in the future
period in which conditions change To the extent that

property
is

impaired the excess of the carrying amount of the
property over its estimated fair value is recorded as an impairment charge Fair value is determined based upon

the discounted cash flows of the property quoted market prices or independent appraisals as considered necessary As of December 31 2013 we recorded an

impairment of approximately $3.5 million related to damage from fire at The Grove at Pullman Washington see Note and damage at The Grove at Wichita

Kansas and The Grove at Wichita Falls Texas As of December 312013 we had collected $2.5 million in proceeds and have receivable of$l.0 million which

is presented in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets As of December 31 2013 we also recorded an impairment of approximately $4.7

million related to the disposition
of The Grove at Jacksonville Alabama The Grove at Jonesboro Arkansas The Grove at Wichita Kansas and The Grove at

Wichita Falls Texas see Note which is classified within discontinued operations in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income

loss

Property Acquisitions

We allocate the purchase price of acquired properties to tangible and identified intangible assets and liabilities based on the fair values of these assets and

liabilities Fair value estimates are based on information obtained from independent appraisals market data information obtained during due diligence and

information related to the marketing and leasing at the specific property
The value of in-place leases is based on the difference between the

property
valued

with existing in-place leases adjusted to market rental rates sod ii the property valued as-if vacant As lease terms are typically one year or lets rates on in-

place leases generally approximate market rental rates Factors considered in the valuation of in-place leases include an estimate of the carrying costs during the

expected lease-up period considering current market conditions nature of the tenancy and costs to execute similar leases Carrying costs include estimates of lost

rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up period net of variable operating expenses The value of in-place leases is amortized on straight-line basis

over the remaining initial term of the respective leases generally less than one year The purchase price of
property acquisitions is not expected to be allocated to

tenant relationships considering the terms of the leases and the expected levels of renewals Acquisition-related costs such as due diligence legal accounting and

advisory fees are either expensed as incurred for acquisitions that are consolidated or capitalized for acquisitions accounted for under the equity method of

accounting

Ground Leases

Ground lease expense is recognized on straight-line basis over the term of the related lease

Cash Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents Restricted cash is excluded from cash for

the purpose of preparing the consolidated statements of cash flows We maintain cash balances in various banks At times our balances may exceed the amount

insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC We do not believe this presents significant exposure for our business

Restricted cash includes escrow accounts held by lenders for the purpose of paying taxes insurance and funding capital improvements In certain instances

restricted cash consists of funds required by counter-party to our derivative contracts to serve as collateral for future settlements of those derivative contracts

At December 31 2013 we held approximately $28.2 million with qualified intermediary to facilitate tax deferred Section 1031 like-kind exchange in

conjunction with the disposition of four properties see Note Our funds in escrow are typically held in interest bearing accounts covered under FDIC insurance

with applicable limits

Deferred Financing Costs

We defer costs incurred in obtaining financing and amortize the costs using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method over

the
expected terms of the related loans Upon repayment of the underlying debt agreement any

unamortized costs are charged to eamings Deferred financing

costs net of accumulated amortization are included in other assets net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent the portion of equity in our consolidated subsidiaries which are not attributable to the stockholders Accordingly

noncontrolling interests are reported as component of equity separate from stockholders equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets On the

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss operating results are reported at their consolidated amounts including both the amount

attributable to us and to noncontrolling interests see Note 12
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Real Estate Ventures

We hold interests in our properties
both under development and in operation through interests in both consolidated and unconsolidated real estate ventures

We assess our investments in real estate ventures to determine if venture is variable interest entity VIE Generally an entity is determined to be VIE

when either the equity investors if any lack one or more of the essential characteristics of controlling financial interest the equity investment at risk is

insufficient to finance that entitys activities without additional subordinated financial support or the equity investors have voting rights that are not

proportionate to their economic interests and the activities of the entity involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor with disproportionately small voting

interest We consolidate entities that are VIEs and for which we are determined to be the primary beneficiary In instances where we are not the primary

beneficiary we do not consolidate the entity for financial reporting purposes The primary beneficiary it the entity that has both the power to direct matters

that most significantly impact the VIEs economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could

potentially be significant to the VIE Entitiet that are not defined as VIEs are consolidated where we are the general partner or the equivalent and the limited

partners or the equivalent
in such investments do not have rights

which would preclude control

For entities where we are the general partner or the equivalent but do not control the real estate venture as the other partners or the equivalent
hold

substantive participating rights we use the equity method of accounting For entities where we are limited partner Or the equivalent management considers

factors such as ownership interest voting control authority to make decisions and contractual and substantive participating rights of the partners or the

equivalent to determine if the presumption that the general partner
controls the entity is overcome In instances where these factors indicate we control the entity

we consolidate the entity otherwise we record our investment using the equity method of accounting

Under the equity method of accounting investments are initially recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at cost and are subsequently adjusted to reflect

our proportionate
share of net earnings or losses of the entity distributions received contributions and certain other adjustments as appropriate Any difference

between the carlying amount of these investments on our balance sheet and the underlying equity in net assets it amortized as an adjustment to equity in earnings

loss of unconsolidated entities When circumstances indicate there may have been loss in value of an equity method investment and we determine the loss in

value is other than temporary we recognize an impairment charge to reflect the investment at fair value As of December 31 2013 we recorded an impairment
of

approximately $0.3 million related to The Grove at Denton Texas of which we acquired the outstanding ownership interests in January 2014

Segments

We define business segments by their distinct customer base and services provided We have identified two reportable business segments student housing

operations and ii development construction and management services We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on operating income

loss All inter-segment sales pricing is based on current market conditions Unallocated corporate amounts include general expenses
associated with managing

our two reportable operating segments

Student Housing Revenue

Students are required to execute lease contracts with payment schedules that vary
from annual to monthly payments We recognize revenues on straight-

line basis over the term of the lease contracts Generally each executed contract is required to be accompanied by signed parental guaranty Amounts received

in advance of the occupancy period or prior to the contractual due date are recorded as deferred revenues and included in other liabilities on the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets Service revenue is recognized
when earned

Development Construction and Management Services

Development and construction service revenue is recognized using the
percentage

of completion method as determined by construction costs incurred

relative to total estimated Construction costs For the purpose of applying this method significant estimates are necessary to determine the percentage of

completion as of the balance sheet date This method is used because management considers total cost to be the best measure of
progress

toward completion of

the contract Any changes in significant judgments andlor estimates used in determining construction and development revenue could significantly change the

timing or amount of construction and development revenue recognized

Development and construction service revenue is recognized for contracts with entities we do not consolidate For projects where revenue is based on fixed

price any cost overruns incurred during construction as compared to the original budget will reduce the net profit ultimately recognized on those projects Profit

derived from these projects is eliminated to the extent of our interest in the unconsolidated entity When total development or construction costs at completion

exceed the fixed price set forth within the related contract such cost overruns are recorded as additional investment in the unconsolidated entity to the extent

these amounts are determined to be realizable Entitlement fees where applicable are recognized
when earned based on the terms of the related contracts

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings represents the excess of construction costs and profits recognized to date using the percentage
of

completion method over billingn to date on certain contracts Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings represents
the excess of billings to date over the

amount of contract costs and profits recognized to date using the percentage
of completion method on certain contracts Total billings to date on such contracts

totaled $51.3 million and $44.4 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively The Company expects to bill the cost and estimated eamings in excess of

billings in 2014

Management fees are recognized when earned in accordance with each management contract Incentive management fees are recognized when the incentive

criteria are met

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowances for student receivables are maintained to reduce our receivables to the amount that management estimates to be collectible which approximates

fair value The allowance is estimated based on past due balances not received on contractual terms as well as historical collections experience and current

economic and business conditions When management has determined that receivables are uncollectible they are written off against the allowance for doubtful

accounts Recoveries of accounts previously written off are recorded when received
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The allowance for doubtful accounts is summarized as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Balanceatbeginniugofperiod 121 246 431

Charged to expense 3432 1728 1566

Writ-ot 2433 1853 1751
Sale of properties 581

l3alance at end of period
539 121 246

Marketing and Advertising Costs

Marketing and advertising costs are expensed during the period incurred and included in general and administrative
expenses

in the accompanying

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss Marketing and advertising expenses were $1.5 million $1.3 million and $0.7 million for

the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We enter into interest rate
cap

and interest rate swap agreements to manage floating interest rate exposure
with

respect to amounts borrowed or forecasted to

be borrowed under credit facilities These contracts effectively exchange existing or forecasted obligations to pay interest based on floating rates for obligations

to pay interest based on fixed rates We do not enter into or hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes

All derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at their respective fair values Changes in fair value

re recognized either in eamings or as accumulated other comprehensive income loss depending on whether the derivative has been designated as cash flow

hedge and whether it qualifies as part
of hedging relationship the nature of the

exposure being hedged and how effective the derivative is at offsetting

movements in underlying exposure We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the

cash flows of hedged item ii the derivative expires or is sold terminated or exercised iii it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur or

iv management determines that designating the derivative as hedging instrument is no longer appropriate In situations in which hedge accounting is not

initially designated or is discontinued and derivative remains outstanding gains and losses related to changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument are

recorded in current-period eamings as component of the change in fair value of interest rate derivatives line item on the accompanying consolidated statements

of operations and comprehensive income loss Also included within this line item are any required monthly settlements on the swaps as well as all cash

settlements paid

Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims assessments litigation fines penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable that

liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably estimated Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed

as incurred

Income Taxes

We have made an election to quality and believe we are operating so as to quality ass REIT under Sections 856 through 859 of the Internal Revenue Code

Our qualification as REIT depends upon our ability to meet on continuing basis through actual investment and operating results various complex

requirements under the Internal Revenue Code relating to among other things the sources of our gross income the composition and values of our assets our

distribution levels and the diversity of ownership of our stock We believe that we are organized in conformity
with the requirements

for
qualification and

taxation as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code and that our intended manner of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and

taxation as REIT

As REIT we generally will not be subject to U.S federal and state income tax on taxable income that we distribute currently to our stockholders If we fail

to quality as REIT in
any

taxable
year

and do not quality for certain
statutory relief provisions we will be subject to U.S federal income tax at regular corporate

rates and generally will be precluded from qualifying as REIT for the subsequent four taxable
years following the

year during which we lost our REIT

qualification Accordingly our failure to quality as REIT could materially and adversely affect us including our ability to make distributions to our

stockholders in the future

We have made an election to treat TRS Holdings our wholly-owned subsidiary as TRS TRS Holdings holds the development construction and

management companies that provide services to entities in which we do not own 100% of the equity interests as TRS As TRS the operations of TRS

Holdings and its subsidiaries are generally subject to federal state and local income and franchise taxes Our TRS accounts for its income taxes in accordance

with U.S GAAP which includes an estimate of the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future

tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns Deferred tax assets and liabilities of the TRS entities are

recognized based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse

We follow
two-step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions Recognition step one occurs when we conclude that tax position based solely on its

technical merits is more-likely-than-not likelihood of more than 50 percent to be sustained upon examination Measurement step two determines the amount

of benefit that more-likely-than-not will be realized upon settlement Derecognition of tax position that was previously recognized would occur when we

subsequently determined that tax position no longer met the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained The use of valuation allowance as substitute

for derecognition of tax positions is prohibited

Comprehensive Income Loss

Comprehensive income loss includes net income loss and other comprehensive income loss which consists of unrealized gains losses on derivative

instruments and foreign currency
translation adjustments Comprehensive income loss is presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

and comprehensive income loss and accumulated other comprehensive income loss is displayed ass separate component of stockholders equity

Stock-Based Compensation

We grant restricted stock and restricted OP Unit awards that typically vest over either three or five year period restricted stock or OP Unit award is an

award of shares of our common stock or OP Units that are subject to restrictions on transferability and other restrictions determined by our compensation

committee at the date of grant grant date is established for restricted stock award or restricted OP Unit award upon approval from our compensation

committee and Board of Directors The restrictions may lapse over specified period of employment or the satisfaction of pre-established criteria as our

compensation committee may determine Except to the extent restricted under the award agreement participant awarded restricted stock or OP Units has all the

rights of stockholder or OP Unit holder as to these shares or units including the right to vote and the right to receive dividends or distributions on the shares or

Units The fair value of the award is determined based on the market value of our common stock on the grant date and is recognized on straight-line basis over

the applicable vesting period for the entire award with cost recognized at the end of any period being at least equal to the shares that were then vested
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Foreign Currency

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in local
currency at actual exchange rates at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet dates are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at those dates Any gains or losses arising

on monetary assets and liabilities from change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of the transaction have been included in
expenses

in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss As of December 31 2013 we were exposed to only one foreign currency the Canadian

dollar The aggregate transaction gains and losses included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 312013 was

not significant

The financial statements of certain equity method investees and certain foreign subsidiaries are translated from their respective local currencies into U.S
dollars using current and historical exchange rates Translation adjustments resulting from this process are reported separately and accumulated as component of

accumulated other comprehensive income loss in stockholders equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Upon sale or liquidation of our

investments the translation adjustment would be reported as part of the gain or loss on sale or liquidation

Insurance Recoveries

Insurance recoveries are amounts due or received under our applicable insurance policies for asset damage and business interruption relating to the fire at

The Grove at Pullman Washington see Note and to the damage at The Grove at Wichita Kansas and The Grove at Wichita Falls Texas We have received

$2.5 million of insurance proceeds and have recorded insurance recovery receivables of approximately $1.0 million which is included in other assets within the

consolidated balance sheets in connection with asset damages based on preliminary estimates offsetting the recognized $3.5 million impairment Business

interruption recovery is recorded when realized and included as reduction within student housing operations expenses within the consolidated statements of

operations For the
year ended December 31 2013 we recognized $1.4 million of business interruption recovery

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The FASB issued ASU 20l3-04 Liabilities Topic 405 Obligations Resulting from Joint and Several Liability Arrangements for Which the Total Amount

of the Obligation is Fixed at the Reporting Date in February 2013 ASU 2013-04 Update requires an entity to measure obligations resulting from joint and

several liability arrangements for which the total amount of the obligation is fixed as the sum of the amount the entity agreed to pay on the basis of its

arrangement among its co-obligors and any additional amount the entity expects to pay on behalf of its co-obligors The new standard is effective for fiscal years

ending after December 15 2014 and interim and annual periods thereafter ASU 20 13-04 is to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented for those

obligations resulting from joint and several liability arrangements within the Updates scope that exist at the beginning of an entitys fiscal year of adoption The

Company will implement the provisions of the Update as of January 12014 We believe that the adaption of this guidance will not have material affect on our

consolidated financial statements
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Student Housing Properties

The following is summary of our student housing properties net for the periods presented in thousands

As of December 31
2013 2012

Land 58439 53984

Buildings and improvements 597141 552984

Furniture ftxtures and equipment 60705 62419

716.285 669387

Less accumulated depreciation 102.356 97820
613929 571567

In December 2013 we sold four wholly.owned student housing properties The Grove at Jacksonville Alabama The Grove at Jonesboro Arkansas The

Grove at Wichita Kansas and The Grove at Wichita Falls Texas see Note

In July 2013 we experienced afire at The Grove at Pullman Washington property under construction which resulted ina partial loss of the property We
have estimated the loss to be approximately $3.0 million While no assurances can be given after taking into account our existing insurance coverage we believe

that the damages sustained ass result of this fire will not have material adverse effect on our fmancial position or results of operations

In March 2013 we acquired 100% ownership in Campus Crest at Toledo Ohio resulting in an increase to our student housing properties see Note

In July 2012 we acquired the remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Moscow Idaho and The Grove at Valdosta Georgia see Note
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Income Taxes

The Company qualifies as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code Therefore we are not subject to federal income tax as long as we distribute at least 90%
of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders each year As result no provision for federal income taxes for the REIT has been included in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements If we fail to qualify as REIT we will be subject to federal income tax including any applicable alternative minimum tax on

our taxable income and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income

Our TRS5 are subject to federal state and local income taxes As such deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities of the TRSs for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for income tax purposes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

measured using enacted tax rates in effect in the
years

in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse Significant components of the deferred tax

assets and liabilities of the TRSs are as follows

December 31
2013

Deftrred tax assets

Solar investment tax credit net of valuation allowance of $484 1441

Other 101

rotal deferred tax assets 1542

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred revenue 260
Depreciation and amortization 355
rotal deferred tax liabilities 615

Net deferred tax assets 927

Significant components of our income tax provision are as follows

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011

Current

Federal 150 393

200 206 71

Current expense
200 356 464

Deferred

Federal 885
State 42
Deferred benefit 927

Income tax expense benefit 727 356 464

We believe it is more likely than not that we will realize the value of our net deferred tax asset The Company has no unrecognized tax benefits as of

December 31 2013 and 2012

Business Acquisitions

Copper Beech Acquisition

In February 2013 we entered into purchase and sale agreements to acquire 48.0% interest in portfolio of 35 student housing properties one undeveloped

land parcel and corporate office building held by the members of Copper Beech Townhome Communities LLC CBTC and Copper Beech Townhome
Communities PA LLC CBTC PA together with CBTC Copper Beech or the Sellers the CB Portfolio and fully integrated platforns and brand

with management team for an initial purchase price of approximately $230.2 million including the repayment of $106.7 million of debt with the remaining

52.0% interest in the CB Portfolio to be held by certain of the current members of CBTC and CBTC PA the CB Investors To effect the acquisition of our

48.0% interest in the CB Portfolio we entered into purchase and sale agreement the Purchase Agreement and related transactions with the members of

CBTC and CBTC PA to acquire in steps 36.3% interest in the CB Portfolio We also entered into purchase and sale agreement with certain investors in the

CB Portfolio who are not members of Copper Beech the Non-Member Investors to acquire the interests in the CB Portfolio held by such Non-Member

Investors the Non-Member Purchase Agreement Pursuant to the Non-Member Purchase Agreement we acquired approximately an 11.7% interest in the CB
Portfolio from the Non-Member Investors We refer to this transaction as the CB Portfolio Acquisition

The CB Portfolio consists of 35 student housing properties one undeveloped land parcel and Copper Beechs corporate office building in State College

Pennsylvania The CB Portfolio consists primarily of townhouse units located in eighteen geographic markets in the United States across thirteen states with 30

of the 35 student housing properties having been developed by Copper Beech As of the date of the CB Portfolio Acquisition the CB Portfolio comprised

approximately 6242 rentable units with approximately 16645 rentable beds As of the date of the CB Portfolio Acquisition the student housing properties had an

average age of approximately 7.2 years
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Our investment in the CB Portfolio entitles us to preferred payment of $13.0 million for the first year of our investment and 48% of remaining operating

cash flows In connection with the CB Portfolio Acquisition we loaned approximately $31.7 million to the CB Investors which was repaid in connection with the

Amendment to the Purchase Agreement as described below The loan had an interest rate of 8.5%
per

annum and term of three years and was secured by the

CO Investors interests in six unencumbered properties in the CB Portfolio see Amendment to Copper Beech Purchase Agreement below for further discussion

We recognized approximately $3.8 million in equity in losses of Copper Beech as well as approximately $1.4 million in interest mcome from the loan to the

CO Investors for the
year

ended December 31 2013 Additionally we recognized approximately $1.1 million of transaction expenses related to the CB Portfolio

Acquisition and incurred $16.9 million of costs which were included in our investment basis in Copper Beech for the year ended December 31 2013

The following summary of selected unaudited proforma results of operations presents information as if our 48.0% ownership interest in 37 properties was

held from January 12013 through September 30 2013 and our 67% ownership interest in 30 properties was held from October 2013 through December 31

2013 and the issuance of 25.5 million shares of common stock required to execute the acquisition had occurred as of January 2013 Included in these proforma

results is approximately $16.6 million of amortization expense related to in place lease intangible assets from January 12013 through December 31 2013 The

unaudited pro forma information is provided for informational purposes only and is not indicative of results that would have occurred or which may occur in the

future in thousands except per share amounts

Unaudited
Year Ended

December 31
2013

Revenues
142319

Net income 1802

Net income lost attributable to common stockholders 4347

Net income loss per
share attributable to common stockholders basic and diluted 0.07

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic
64099

Diluted
64535

Amendment to Copper Beech Purchase Agreement

On September 30 2013 and effective subject to the receipt of required third party consents we entered into an Amendment the Amendment to the

Purchase Agreement As consideration for entering into the Amendment we paid the CB Investors $4.0 million

Pursuant to the terms of the Amendment following receipt of required
third

party consents we will transfer our 48.0% interest in five properties in the

Copper Beech Portfolio Copper Beech Auburn Copper Beech Kalamazoo Phase Copper Beech Kalamazoo Phase Copper Beech Oak Hill and Copper

Beech Statesboro Phase back to the CB Investors and defer the acquisition of the two Phase II development properties Cooper Beech Mt Pleasant Phase and

Cooper Beech Statesboro Phase until August 18 2014 as consideration for an additional 19.0% interest in each of the remaining 30 properties in the Copper

Beech Portfolio the Initial Copper Beech Properties Following the transfer of such properties we will hold 67.0% interest in each of 30 properties in the

Copper Beech Portfolio with the CB Investors holding the remaining 33.0% interest

In addition under the terms of the Amendment we have the option exercisable from March 18 2014 through August 18 2014 to acquire an 18.0% interest

in each of the seven properties whose acquisition is being
deferred collectively the Deferred Copper Beech Properties which will entitle us to 33.0% of the

operating cash flows of such Deferred Copper Beech Properties The purchase price for the exercise of this option is approximately $16.9 million In order to

exercise this option we must also exercise the option to acquire an additional 18.0% interest in the Initial Copper Beech Properties which is described below

The Amendment was accounted for as nonmonetary exchange The interests in the five properties transferred were accounted for by the Company as

investments under the equity method prior to the exchange No gain or loss was recognized as result of the transaction

The Amendment also amends our options to acquire additional interests in the Copper Beech Portfolio as follows

Beginning March 18 2014 through August 18 2014 we have the option to acquire an additional 18.0% interest in the Initial Copper Beech Properties

increasing our aggregate interest in such properties to 85.0% which will entitle us to 100% of the operating
cash flows of the Initial Copper Beech Properties

The aggregate purchase price for the exercise of this purchase option is approximately $93.5 million plus debt repayment of approximately $21.0 million

Through May 2015 we have the option to acquire an additional 3.9% interest in the Initial Copper Beech Properties and an additional 70.9% interest in

the Deferred Copper Beech Properties increasing our aggregate
interest in all 37 properties in the Copper Beech Portfolio to 88.9% which will entitle us to 100%

of the operating cash flows of the Initial Copper Beech Properties and the Deferred Copper Beech Properties The aggregate purchase price for the exercise of this

purchase option is approximately $100.7 million plus debt repayment of approximately $19.0 million
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Through May 2016 we have the option to acquire an additional 11.1% interest in the Copper Beech Portfolio increasing our aggregate
interest to 100%

The aggregate purchase price for the exercise of this purchase option is approximately $53.4 million

We do not have any obligation to exercise any of these purchase options If we elect to exercise any of the purchase options we are not obligated to exercise

any subsequent purchase options In the event we do not elect to exercise purchase option we will lose the right to exercise future purchase options If the first

purchase option is not exercised we will be entitled to 48.0% interest in all 37 properties in the CB Portfolio and will be entitled to 48.0% of operating cash

flows and 45.0% of the proceeds of any sale of any portion of the CB Portfolio If the first purchase option is exercised but the second purchase option is not

exercised we will be entitled to 75.0% interest in all 37 properties in the CR Portfolio and will be entitled to 75.0% of operating cash flows and 70.0% of the

proceeds of any sale of any portion of the CB Portfolio If the second purchase option is exercised but the third purchase option is not exercised we will retain our

88.9% interest in the CB Portfolio and will be entitled to 88.9% of both operating cash flows and the proceeds of any sale of any portion of the CB Portfolio

In connection with the Amendment in October 2013 the Sellers repaid the entire principal balance of $31.7 million outstanding under the loans previously

provided by us

Both we and the CB Investors hold joint approval rights for major decisions including those regarding property acquisition and disposition as well as

property operation As such we hold noncontrolling interest in the CB Portfolio and accordingly apply the equity method of accounting As of December 31

2013 we held 67% effective interest in 28 operating properties and two non-operating properties in the CB Portfolio

Toledo Ohio Acquisition

In March 2013 we acquired 100% of the ownership interests in Campus Crest at Toledo Ohio 382 unit and 629 bed property on the campus of the

lJniversity of Toledo for approximately $13.8 million The following table is an allocation of the purchase price in thousands

Land 2237

In-place leases 469

Buildings and improvements 10.114

Furniture and fixtures 102

Other 879

13.801

Montreal Quebec Acquisitions

In July 2013 we entered into joint venture DCV Holdings LP DCV Holdings with Beaumont Partners SA Beaumont to acquire a711 room 33-

stoty hotel in downtown Montreal Quebec Canada for approximately CAD 60.0 million The joint venture intends to convert the property into an upscale

student housing tower featuring mix of single and double Units serving McGill University Concordia University and LEcole de Technologie In Januaty 2014

DCV Holdings completed the acquisition of another hotel property which is planned to be converted into an upscale student housing property serving McGill

lJniversity

In December 2013 we and Beaumont formed holding company CSH Montreal LP CSH Montreal and DCV Holdings was subsequently contributed to

CSH Montreal LP such that CSH Montreal LP became the sole limited
partner

in DCV Holdings In addition following the insertion of CSH Montreal LP as the

holding company in the joint venture arrangement CSH Montreal LP acquired ownership of HIM Holdings LP HIM Holdings an entity formed to facilitate

the acquisition of the Holiday Inn property in Canada see Note 18 As of December 31 2013 we owned 20.0% interest in CSH Montreal the holding

company of DCV Holdings

Operating Property Acquisitions

In July 2012 we acquired the remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Moscow Idaho and The Grove at Valdosta Georgia for approximately $16.8

million and repaid the mortgage debt secured by these properties Prior to this transaction The Grove at Moscow Idaho was owned by HSRE-CampUs Crest

LLC of which we owned 49.9% and HSRE owned the remaining 50.1% and The Grove at Valdosta Georgia was owned by HSRE-Campus Crest IV LLC of

which we owned 20.0% and HSRE owned the remaining 80.0% Prior to this transaction we accounted for our ownership interest in the two properties under the

equity method In connection with recording our purchase of the remaining interests in the properties we recognized net gain of approximately $6.6 million

related to the re-measurement of our previously held equity interests in the properties at the acquisition date The gain is included in the gain on purchase of

previously unconsolidated entities in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss
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The following table is an allocation of the purchase price for The Grove at Moscow and The Grove at Valdosta in thousands

Land 3401

In-place leases
388

Buildings and improvements
4991

Furniture and fixtures
1.708

Other
974

Debt repaid at time of purchase
27299
29083

Less estimated fair value of interest owned prior to acquisition
12320

16763

In-place lease intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over the average remaining term of the underlying leases generally one year or less

Amortization expense was approximately $0.5 million $1.0 million and $0.9 million for the years
ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

The

amortization of intangible assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
and

comprehensive income loss

Acquisition of Properties Under Development

During the year ended December 31 2013 we acquired land at nine project
sites The purchase price for these nine sites totaled approximately $32.4 million

and were located in Philadelphia Peunsylvania Louisville Kentucky Greensboro North Carolina Ames Iowa as well as other locations in the United

States During 2013 we contributed our investment in the land development and construction in the Philadelphia Pennsylvania project to joint venture with

Brandywine and HSRE The project sites in Louisville Kentucky and Greensboro North Carolina were contributed in to joint venture with HSRE during

2013 The investment in Ames Iowa is development project in conjunction with Copper Beech

During the year
ended December 31 2012 we acquired land at three project sites The purchase price for these three sites totaled approximately $6.3 million

The project Sites are located in Muncie Indiana Pullman Washington and Indiana Pennsylvania During 2012 we contributed our investment in the land

development and construction in the Indiana Pennsylvania project to joint venture with HSRE see Note

Asset Dispositions

In December 2013 we sold to third party four unencumbered wholly-owned properties The Grove at Jacksonville Alabama The Grove at Jonesboro

Arkansas The Grove at Wichita Kansas and The Grove at Wichita Falls Texas for combined sales price of $51.0 million resulting in net proceeds
of

approximately $48.6 million after adjusting for credits prorations and transaction costs In connection with the disposition of these properties we recorded an

impairment
of $4.7 million which is presented

in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income

loss for the year ended December 31 2013 These properties were included in our student housing properties segment

Below isa summary of the results of operations for the properties through the date of disposition for all periods presented in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Revenue
9754 8993 8.599

Operating expenses
5354 5184 4960

Operating income 4.400 3809 3639

Depreciation and amortization 2672 3144 3566

Nelincome l72 665 73

Impairment on discontinued operations
4729

Income loss from discontinued operations
0ll 665 73

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

We have investments in real estate ventures with Copper Beech HSRE Beaumont and other joint venture partners that we do not consolidate These joint

ventures are engaged primarily in developing constructing owning and managing student housing properties Both we and our joint venture partners hold joint

approval rights for major decisions including those regarding properly acquisition and disposition as well as property operation As such we hold noncontrolling

interests in these joint ventures and account for them under the equity method of accounting
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We act as the operating member and day-to-day manager for ourjoint ventures with HSRE and are entitled to receive fees for providing development and

conatruction services as applicable
and management services We recognized revenues of approximately $5 million $54.3 million and $35 million in fees

for the
years

ended December 31 2013 2012 and 201 respectively for services provided to the ventures which are reflected in development construction and

management services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statementa of operations

In July 2013 we entered into joint venture DCV Holdings with Beaumont to acquire 711 room 33-story hotel in downtown Montreal Quebec

Canada for approximately CAD 60.0 million The joint venture intends to convert the
property into an upscale student housing tower featuring mix of single

and double units serving McGill University Concordia University and LEcole de Technologie In January 2014 DCV Holdings closed on another hotel

property which is planned to be converted in to an upscale student housing property serving McGill University Both of these projects are expected to be

delivered for the 2014-2015 academic year

In March 2013 we entered into joint venture agreement with HSRE HSRE-Campus Crest LLC HSRE to develop and operate additional

purpose-built student housing properties HSRE Xis currently building two new student housing properties with completion targeted for the 2014-2015 academic

year The properties located in Louisville Kentucky and Greensboro North Carolina are expected to have approximately 1200 beds and have an estimated cost

of $65.6 million We own 30% interest in this joint venture and affiliates of HSRE own the balance

We are the
guarantor

of the construction and mortgage debt of our joint ventures with HSRE and DCV Holdings Detail of our unconsolidated investments

at December 31 2013 is presented in the following table dollars in thousands

Ddt

wigbtod

N....bo of Pr port6/ Avgo
Or Your U.drr OrToI.t Amo..l Inftroot

UooooIidtd E.tit1oo Or.rhip Foondd Op.rtio DrvrIopmoI I.otmo.I O.totdit R.t M6/rity Dtel

USRECsmsC0000UC 499% 2006 10504 12104 261 V0 jwzota

IISRE.CampoCroo1 IV LLC 20.0 201 1915 16839 575 3/1/2014

FIaRE-Comimocooosy tiC 505% 2011 0990 49520 200 123552014 01/063011

l5SRE.ConpCrro1 VI LLC 20.0 2012 3562 32998 253 %1fl 5/08/2015 12/19/2015

liSR55-CsxsCresI0t ILC 400 2013 16040 966 231 ll 7525/2016

llSRE.CampoCro1XLLC 30.0% 2013 7783 Jo Jo

CBPr1fofl6 679 06 2013 25 260592 392455 500 6/0112014 15/01/2020

DCV Holdings LP 41 20.0 2013
5337 32881 3.72% 1/31/2014

05555 200% 2011 ________ ________ 1505 __________ n/s sit

Tolol UnconoIidoled Enlilir 38 324838 557.904 4.93

Variable interest rates

Comprised of one fixed rate loan In January 2014 we acquired the outstanding ownership of The Grove at Denton Texas

Comprised of fixed rate debt

In January 2014 DCV Holdings completed the acquisition of an additional re-development property
in Montreal Canada evo Sherbrooke at which time

our ownership percentage in CSH Montreal the holding company that owns DCV Holdings increased to 35% see Note 18 Effective December 31 2013

the debt previously held by the Company was assumed by an affiliate of the joint venture and refmanced in January 2014

We recorded equity in eamings losses from these joint ventures for the years ended December31 2013 2012 and 2011 of approximately $3.7 million

$0.4 million and $1.2 million respectively
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The following is summaiy of the combined financial position of our unconsolidated entities with HSRE and other non-Copper Beech joint venture partners

in their entirety not only our interest in the entities for the periods presented in thousands

As of December 31

2013 2012

Assets

Student housing properties net 289797 143108

Developtnentinproces 81994 31940

Otherassets 15341 8214

Total assets
387132 183.262

UablUties and Equity

Mortgage and construction loans 165445 92456

Other liabilitlea 58.948 33.402

Owners equity
162739 60404

Totalliabilities and owners equity
387132 183262

Compansthareofhorkalownersequitv 4t390 14.078

Preferred investment 16468 11828

Net diffrcnce in carrying value of investment versus net book

value of underlying net assets 5.568 3.35 Fl

Carrying value of investment in HSRE and other non-Copper Beech entities
63426 22555

96



As of December 31 2013 we had Class member interest in The Grove at San Angelo Texas The Grove at Indiana Pennsylvania and The Grove at

Conway Arkansas of approximately $2.7 million $2.7 million and $6.4 million respectively In 2013 we acquired additional Class member interests in

two joint venture properties with HSRE that are under construction with anticipated delivery for the 2014-2015 academic year At of December 31 2013

our interest in The Grove at Greensboro North Carolina and The Grove at Louisville Kentucky were approximately $2.7 million and $1.9 million

respectively As of December 31 2012 we had Class member interest in The Grove at San Angelo Texas The Grove at Indiana Pennsylvania and

The Grove at Conway Arkansas of approximately $2.7 million $2.7 million and $6.4 million respectively These preferred interests entitle us to 9.0%

return on our investment and do not change our effective ownership interest in these properties

This amount represents the aggregate difference between our historical cost basis and the basis reflected at the entity level which is typically amortized over

the life of the related asset The basis differential occurs primarily due to the difference between the allocated value to acquired entity interests and the

ventures basis in those interests and the capitalization of additional investment in the unconsolidated entity

ASC 323 Investments Equity Method and Joint Ventures and Article 4.08g of Regulation S-X requires sununarized financial information of material

investments accounted for under the equity method be provided of the investees financial position and results of operations including assets liabilities and results

of operations under the investees historical cost basis of accounting Notwithstanding the extensive efforts of the Company and Copper Beech to compile the

necessary financial information we have determined that the information needed for the preparation of historical financial statements of the CB Portfolio to

satisfy these requirements is not available or otherwise sufficiently reliable As result we have elected to present financial information on our investment in

Copper Beech on fair value basis as of December 31 2013 as we believe this information is reliable and relevant to the users of our financial statements

Further although we acknowledge that the information provided does not comply with all of the provisions of ASC 323 or Article 4.08g of Regulation S-X we

do not believe that the lack of the omitted disclosures or the fair value information provided results in material omission or misstatement of the Companys
consolidated financial statements taken as whole

The following is summary of the financial position of our investment in Copper Beech in its entirety for the 30 properties in the CR Portfolio at fair value

as of December 312013 in thousands

December 3t
2013

Assets

Student housing properties net 748.280

Intangible assess

Other assets 5.201

Total assets 790581

Liabilities and Equity

Mortgage and construction loans 42 1.239

Other liailities 13.112

Owners equity 356230

Total liabilities and owners equity 790581

Companys share of owners equity 244964

Net difference in carrying value of investment versus net book

value of underlying net assels 16628

Carrying value of investment in Copper Beech 261592

This amount represents the aggregate difference between our historical cost basis and the basis reflected at the entity level which is typically amortized over

the life of the related asset The basis differential occurs primarily due to the difference between the allocated value to acquired entity interests and the

ventures basis in those interests and the capitalization of additional investment in the unconsolidated entity

The following is summary of the combined operating results for our unconsolidated entities with HSRE and other non-Copper Beech joint venture entities

in their entirety not only our interest in the entities for the periods presented in thousands

Year Ended December31
20t3 2012 2011

Revenues 23422 17934 18089

Expenses

Operating expenses 17434 9665 9585

Interest expense 5.025 4962 6.671

Depreciation and amortization 6.304 4807 5056

Total expenses 28763 19.434 21.312

Net loss 5341 1500 3223

The following is summary of the operating results for our unconsolidated entity Copper Beech in its entirety not only our interest in the entity The

summary includes the results for 37 properties from March 18 2013 through September 30 2013 and the results for 30 properties from October 2013 through

lecember 31 2013 Included in the results are adjustments related to purchase accounting

Period from

March 182013
to December 31 2013

Revenues 67345

Fxpenses

Operating etpensea 28316

Interest expense 11852

Depreciation and amortization 56306

Total expenses 96274

Net lo 28729

Debt

The following is summary of our mortgage and construction notes payable the Credit Facility defined below Exchangeable Senior Notes defined

below and other debt in thousands

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

Fixed-rate mostgage loan 165393 16670
Variable-rate mortgage loans 12635

Construction loans 4I38 38996

Line of credit 108500 72000

Fxchangeable senior notes 96738

Other debt 2694 3375

413483 293112
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Mortgage and Construction Loans

Mortgage and construction loans are collateralized by properties and their related revenue streams Mortgage loans are not cross-defaulted or cross-

collateralized with any Other indebtedness Our mortgage loans generally may not be prepaid prior to maturity however in certain cases prepayment is allowed

subject to prepayment penalties Our construction note agreements contain representations warranties covenants including financial covenants upon

commencement of operations and other terms that are customary for construction financing Construction loans are generally secured by first deed of trust or

mortgage on each property primary UCC filings and an assignment of rents leases and profits from the respective property Mortgage and construction loans for

the periods presented consisted of the following in thousands

Principal Pnnripal

Octatanding Ontatanding
Interest

Face at at Stated Interest Rate at Matneity

monnl 12/31/2013 12/31/2012 Rate 12/31/2013 Date Smortionhon

onafrucUufl tpt
the Grose at Moocte 4567 2.237 LIBOR 225 bps 242 2015 Interest only

rim Grave at Poet Colltna 19073 17220 LIBOR 190 bps 2.07 7/13/2015 Interest Onty

rc Jroso at
Pn5ntan 10.516 0.673 LIBOR 220bps 237 912015 Interest Only

ThcGrovnntSlipltctyRock
BaoeRate-lIISbps/LIBOR

17.961
215bps 2.32% 6/21/2016 Inlere.stonly

ihe Grove nt Grattd Forks 16.916
LIBOR 1-200bps

17 25 201 tnlerest only

The Grove at Orono 10506
LIBOR 250 bps Interest only

be Grove itt Auhnm 1157 LIBOR 295 bps lntcrst only

Ike Grove Flagstaff

Prime 1-25bps LEBOR

15.331 230bps Inlereatonly

Iortg.te loans

TheGrovostMilledgcsille 16250 15847 6.041
6.I4 6.12% 10/1/2016 3Oves

lIe lirove it Catrolltn attd 16 Grove at Las
It

Cotces 20.790 29.052 2I458 13 I/I II 7016 10 years

Thc Grove at Athevitle 14.500 14500 14604
577 4/I t/20t7 50 ycoes

She Grove at Cllensbnrg 16125 16071 16.125 510 201$ 30 sear

TheoroveatNacogdnchen 17.100 17.100 17160
5.01% 5.01 9/1/2018 3oyears

The Grove at
Greeley 15.233 15.104 15.233

29 471 10/I 2018 30 years

Tite GoonO at Clatsvill 16350 16.350 16.350

403 4.03 7/1/2022 30 ymea

Gte Grove at Colotnhta 23.5 23.180 23.605
39 503 2022 10 years

TheGrove at Statsboro 10190 10100 10100
4.01% 4.01 1/1/2023 30years

rite Grove at Iontssllle 12135
LIBGR 250 bps Interest only

2053I 210.337

For the construction loans the maturity date is the stated maturity date in the respective loan agreements which can be extended for an additional one to two

years subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions depending on the loan

Loan was repaid in full during the year ended December 31 2013

Loans require interest only payments plus certain reserves and escrows that are payable monthly for period of five
years Monthly payments of prtncipal

and interest plus certain reserve and escrow amounts are due thereafter until maturity when all principal is due

Interest only for the first two years followed by 30 year
amortization

Loan requires interest only payments plus certain reserves and escrows payable monthly through August 2014 thereafter principal and interest plus
certain

reserves and escrows that are payable monthly until maturity

1- Loan requires monthly payments of principal and interest plus certain reserve and escrows until maturity when all principal is due

Line of Credit

In January 2013 we entered into the second amended and restated credit agreement the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement which provides

for $250 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility the Revolving Credit Facility and $50 million term loan the Term Loan together with the

Revolving Credit Facility the Amended Credit Facility Additionally under certain circumstances there is an accordion feature that allows us to request
an

increase in the total commitments of an additional $300.0 million to total commitment of $600.0 million The Second Amended and Restated Credit Facility

will mature in January 2017 and contains one-year
extension option subject to certain terms and conditions Amounts outstanding under the Second Amended

and Restated Credit Facility bore interest at floating rate equal to at our election the Eurodollar Rate or the Base Rate each as defined tn the Amended Credit

Facility plus spread The spread for borrowings Revolving Credit Facility ranges from 1.75% to 2.50% for Eurodollar Rate based borrowings and from 0.75%

so 1.50% for Base Rate based borrowings and the spread for the Term Loan
ranges

from 1.70% to 2.45% for Eurodollar Rate based borrowings and from 0.70%

to 1.45% for Base Rate based borrowings At December 31 2013 the interest rate on the Revolving Credit Faciltty borrowings
and Term Loan was 2.68% and

2.63%

We incur an unused fee on the balance between the amount available under the Revolving Credit Facility and the amount outstanding under the Revolving

Credit Facility of 0.30% per annum if our average borrowing is less than 50.0% of the total amount available or ii 0.25%
per

annum if our average borrowing

is
greater

than 50.0% of the total amount available

The amount available for us to borrow under the Amended Credit Facility is based on the sum of the lesser of 60.0% of the as-is appraised
value of

our properties that form the borrowing base of the Amended Credit Facility and ii the amount that would create debt servIce coverage
ratio of not less than 1.5

and 50% of the aggregate of the lesser ofi the book value of each of our development assets as such term is defined in the Second Amended and Restated

Credit Agreement and ii the as-is appraised value of each of our development assets subject to certain limitations in the Second Amended and Restated

Credit Agreement
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Our ability to borrow under the Amended Credit Facility is subject to its ongoing compliance with number of customaly financial covenants including

maximum leverage ratio of not greater than 0.601.00

minimum fixed charge coverage
ratio of not less than 1.501.00

minimum ratio of fixed rate debt and debt subject to hedge agreements to total debt of not less than 66.67%

maximum secured recourse debt ratio of not greater
than 20%

minimum tangible net worth of not less than the sum of $330788250 plus an amount equal to 75% of the net proceeds
of

any
additional equity

issuances and

maximum secured debt ratio of not greater than 50% through February 17 2013 and not greater than 45% on any date thereafter

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Credit Facility we may not pay distributions that exceed the greater ofi 95.0% of our funds from operations or ii

the minimum amount required for us to quality and maintain our status as REIT If default or event of default occurs and is continuing we also may be

precluded from making certain distributions other than those required to allow us to qualify and maintain our status as REIT

During 2013 we had several amendments to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement In Februaly 2013 we amended the Second Amended

Credit Facility to provide for certain exclusions related to our investments in joint ventures as well as the treatment of certain other investments within the

compliance calculation of our secured debt ratio and certain negative covenants

In April 2013 as result of the CB Portfolio Acquisition we received waiver from our lender group allowing for distributions up to and not to exceed

110.0% of our funds from operations for the remainder of 2013

In June 2013 in connection with our investment in our joint venture with Beaumont to acquire property in Montreal Quebec Canada see Note 16 we

received waiver from our lender group allowing us to guarantee debt incurred by our subsidiary Campus Crest at Montreal LLC to fund such investment

We and certain of our subsidiaries
guarantee

the obligations under the Amended Credit Facility and we and certain of our subsidiaries have provided

negative pledge against specified assets including real property stock and other interests

As of December31 2013 we had approximately $58.5 million outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility and $50.0 million outstanding under the

Term Loan The amounts outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan as well as outstanding letters of credit of $5.2 million will reduce the

amount that we may be able to borrow under this facility for other purposes As of December 31 2013 we had approximately $154.1 million in borrowing

capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility and amounts borrowed under the facility will be due at its maturity on January 2017 subject to one-year

extension which we may exercise at our option pursuant to certain terms and conditions including the payment of an extension fee

Exchangeable Senior Notes

In October 2013 the Operating Partnership issued $100.0 million of Exchangeable Senior Notes the Exchangeable Senior Notes which bear interest at

4.75% per annum Interest is payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year beginning April 15 2014 until the maturity date of October 15 2018 The

Operating Partnerships obligations under the Exchangeable Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company The Exchangeable Senior

Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Operating Partnership and rank equally in right of payment with all other existing and future senior unsecured

indebtedness of the Operating Partnership

The Exchangeable Senior Notes contain an exchange settlement feature which allows the holder under certain circumstances to exchange its Exchangeable

Senior Notes for cash shares of the Companys common stock or combination of cash and shares of common stock at the option of the Operating Partnership

based on an initial exchange rate of 79.602 shares of common stock
per $1000 principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes At the initial exchange rate the

Exchangeable Senior Notes are exchangeable for common stock at an exchange price of approximately $12.56 per share of common stock

The Exchangeable Senior Notes will be exchangeable by the holder under the following circumstances on or prior to July 15 2018 during any calendar

quarter beginning after December 31 2013 and only during such quarter if the closing sale price of the common stock $0.01 par
value

per share of Campus

Crest Communities Inc or Campus Crest is more than 130% of the then-current exchange price for at least 20 trading days whether or not consecutive in the

period of the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the previous calendar quarter ii during the five consecutive business-day period

following any
five consecutive trading-day period in which the trading price per $1000 principal amount of notes for each trading day during such five trading-

day period was less than 98% of the closing sale price of the common stock of Campus Crest or Campus Crest common stock for each trading day during such

five trading-day period multiplied by the then current exchange rate or iii upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions described in this offering

memorandum On or after July 15 2018 and on or prior to the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date the holder may exchange

their notes without regard to the foregoing conditions Following certain corporate transactions that occur prior to maturity of the notes and that also constitute

make-whole fundamental change the Operating Partnership will increase the exchange rate for holders who elect to exchange notes in connection with such

make-whole fundamental change in certain circumstances If specified fundamental changes involving us or Campus Crest occur holders may require the

operating partnership to repurchase the notes for cash at price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased plus any accrued and unpaid

interest to but excluding the repurchase date

The Operating Partnership may not redeem the Exchangeable Senior Notes prior to the maturity date At any time prior to July 15 2018 we may irrevocably

elect in our sole discretion without the consent of the holders of the Exchangeable Senior Notes to settle all of the future exchange obligation entirely in shares

of our common stock On or after July 15 2018 the Notes will be exchangeable at any time prior to the close of business on the second business day immediately

preceding the maturity date

In connection with the issuance of the Exchangeable Senior Notes we recorded approximately $96.6 million within line of credit and other debt on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet based on the fair value of the instrument at the time of issuance and approximately $3.3 million in additional paid-in

capital net of offering costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of changes inequity The difference between the $100.0 million face amount and the

$96.6 million will be amortized over the five
year period ended October 15 2018
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Other Debt

In June 2013 we entered into $33.4 million CAD 35.0 million unsecured note payable in connection with our acquisition of hotel in Montreal Quebec

Canada The note payable provided for interest-only payments at variable interest rate equal to the Canadian Dealer Offered Rate CDOR which was 1.22%

at December 31 2013 plus spread of 2.50% As of December 31 2013 this facility was assigned to and assumed by CSH Montreal LP an affiliate of DCV

Holdings LP We remain the guarantor on the facility

Schedule of Debt Maturities

Scheduled debt maturities for each of the five years subsequent to December 31 2013 and thereafter are as follows in thousands

2014 2437

2015 42845

2016 45.883

2017 124455

2018 146584

Thereafter 54521

416725

Debt discount
3242

Outstanding as of December 31 2013 net of debt diseount
413483

Amortization of deferred financing costs was approximately $1.8 million $2.8 million and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and

2011 respectively

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We use variable rate debt to finance our construction of student housing properties These debt obligations expose us to variability in cash flows due to

fluctuations in interest rates We use derivative instruments to limit variability for portion
of our interest payments and to manage exposure

to interest rate nsk

As of December 31 2013 and December 31 2012 the fair value of derivative contracts is recorded within other assets and other liabilities in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets The effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives designated and that qualif an cash flow hedges is

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income loss and is subsequently reclassified to earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction

affects earnings The ineffective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in earnings If

derivative is either not designated as hedge or if hedge accounting is discontinued all changes in fair value of the derivative are recorded in earnings

The following is summary of the derivative instruments we entered into for the periods presented in thousands

As of December 31 2013 December 312013 December 31 2012

Derivative Notional Receive Pay or Maturity

Agreement Amount Rate Strike Rate Date Asset Liability Asset Liability

Interest rate cap 100000 Month LIBOIt 250% January 204

Interest rate cap 50.000 Month LIBOR 2.50 January 2014

Interest rate cap 50000 Month LIBOR 2.50 Vs Januaty 2014

Interest rate cap 18762 Month LIBOR 1.25 April 2013

Intereat rate swap 18762 Month LIBOR 1.39 Vs April2013 _________ _________
73
73
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The table below details the location in the financial statements of the gain or loss recognized on interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges for

years ended December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively in thousands

Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

Amount of
gain loss recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income on rest sattderivatlves

effectiveportion
l4

Amount of gain loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into income as interest
expense

effective portion
58 216

Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage our
exposure

to interest rate movements and other identified risks but do not

meet the strict hedge accounting requirements Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded directly in earnings

We recorded an insignificant loss related to derivatives not designated in hedging relationships in earnings for both of the
years

ended December 31 2013 and

2012

10 Fair Value Disclosures

Fair value guidance for financial assets and liabilities that are recognized and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements on recurring basis and

nonfinancial assets on nonrecurring basis establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value The

three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows

Level Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets at the measurement date for identical unrestricted assets or liabilities

Level Other inputs that are observable directly or indirectly such as quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs which are observable either

directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability

Level Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which we make our own assumptions about how market participants would

price
the asset or liability

As of December 31 2013 and 2012 our financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value on recurring basis consisted of our interest rate caps and interest

rate swaps The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts or

payments and the discounted expected variable cash payments or receipts The variable cash payments or receipts are based on an expectation of future

interest rates forward curves derived from observable market interest rate curves We incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect our own

nonperformance risk and the respective counterpartys nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements In adjusting the fair value of derivative contracts for

the effect of nonperformance risk we consider the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements such as collateral postings thresholds and

guarantees

Interest rate caps and interest rate swaps measured at fair value for the periods presented are as follows in thousands

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets

for Identical Significant Other Significant

Assets and Observable Unobservable

Liabilities Inputs Inputs Balance at end of

Level Level Level Period

December31 2013

Other assets Interest rate
caps

December 31 2013

Other liabilities- Interest rate swaps 73 73
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instrument represents the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in current transaction between market participants

at the measurement date exit price other than in forced sale or liquidation In instances where inputs
used to measure fair value fall into different levels of the

fair value hierarchy the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety has been determined is based on the lowest level

input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety Our assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value measurement requires

judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability

Financial instruments consist primarily of cash cash equivalents restricted cash student receivables interest rate caps interest rate swaps accounts payable

mortgages construction loans Exchangeable Senior Notes the line of credit and other debt The canying value of cash cash equivalents restricted cash student

receivables and accounts payable are representative of their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments The estimated fair value of

our revolving line of credit approximates the outstanding balance due to the frequent market based re-pricing of the underlying variable rate index The estimated

fair values of our mortgages construction loans and Exchangeable Senior Notes were determined by comparing current borrowing rates and risk spreads to the

stated interest rates and risk spreads and considering the underlying collateral when relevant The weighted average interest rate for all borrowings was 4.23%

and 3.99% at December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

The following is summaly of the fair value of our mortgages construction loans payable other debt and Exchangeable Senior Notes aggregated by the level

in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall in thousands

Estimated Fair Value

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets

for Identical Significant Other Significant

Assets and Observable Unobservable

Liabilities Inputs Inputs

.n b... Level Level Level Carrying Value

Fixed-ratemortgageloans 161379 165393

Variable-rate mortgage loans

Construction loans 40258 40135

Exchangeable senior notes 98.547 96.758

Other Debt 2671 2694

December31 2012

Fixed-rate mortgage loans 172.228 166.706

Variable-rate mortgage loans 12620 12635

Construction loans 39494 38.996

Other Debt 2684 3375

All of our nonrecurring valuations made in connection with property acquisitions in Note and impairments in Notes and 18 used significant unobservable

inputs and therefore fall under Level of the fair value hierarchy

IL Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per
share is computed by dividing net income loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of our

common stock outstanding during the period All unvested stock-based payment awards are included in the computation of basic earnings per share The

computation of diluted earnings per
share includes OP Units and restricted OP Unita in the weighted average shares The conversion of Exchangeable Senior

Notes was not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the conversion is anti-dilutive Net income loss attributable to these

noncontrolling
interests is added back to net income loss available to common stockholders in the computation of diluted earnings per share unless the effect 01

their conversion is anti-dilutive in nature
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Computations of bssic and diluted income loss per
share for the periods presented are as follows in thousands except per share data

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December31 December31 December31
2013 2012 2011

Basic earnings

Income from continuingoperations 4619 10133 3708

Prethered stock dividends 6183 4114
Income from continuing operations

attributable to noncontrolling

interests 12 41 50

Income 6Dm contimsing operations attributable to common

stockholders-basic 1.552 5.918 3658

Income toss front discontinued operations 3001 665 73

Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to

noncontrolling interests 22
Income from discontinued operations attributable to common

stockholders- basic 2979 660 72

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders 4531 6638 3730

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 59984 34781 30717

Incremental shares front assumed conversion OP units 434 436 436

Diluted
60418 35217 31153

Basic and diluted earnings per share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to

common stockholders basic and diluted 0.03 0.17 0.12

Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to

common stockholders basic and diluted 0.05 0.02

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders basic

and diluted
0.08 0.19 0.12

12 Equity

Preferred Stock

Our 8.0% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock Series Preferred Stock ranks senior to our common stock with respect to dividend rights

and rights upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation dissolution or winding up of our affairs We pay cumulative dividends on the Series Preferred Stock

from the date of original issue at rate of 8.00%
per

annum of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share equivalent to the fixed annual rate of $2.00 per share

Dividends on the Series Preferred Stock are payable quarterly in arrears on or about the 15th day of Januaiy April July and October of each year

We may not redeem the Series Preferred Stock prior to February 2017 except in limited circumstances relating to our ability to qualii ass REIT On or

after February 2017 we may at our option redeem the Series Preferred Stock in whole or in part at any time or from time to time for cash at redemption

price of $25.00
per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends on such Series Preferred Stock to but not including the date of redemption The Series

Preferred Stock has no maturity date and is not subject to mandatory redemption or any sinking fund Holders of shares of the Series Preferred Stock will

generally have no voting rights except
for limited voting rights if we fail to

pay
dividends for six or more quarterly periods whether or not consecutive and in

certain other circumstances

In February 2012 we completed an underwritten public offering of approximately 2300000 shares of our Series Preferred Stock including approximately

300000 shares issued and sold pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters overallotment option in full to purchsse additional shares of the Series Preferred

Stock The shares of Series Preferred Stock were issued at public offering price of $25.00
per share resulting in net proceeds of approximately $54.9 million

after deducting the underwriting discount and other estimated offering expenses
of approximately $2.6 million We used the net proceeds to repay approximately

$48.9 million of indebtedness outstanding under two construction loans which had been used as partial funding for the four properties that were delivered for the

2011-2012 academic year We used the remaining proceeds
for general corporate purposes including funding properties currently under development

In October 2013 we reopened our Series Preferred Stock in an underwritten public offering of 3800000 shares including 400000 shares issued and sold

pursuant to the partial exercise of the underwriters option to purchsse sdditional shares of the Series Preferred Stock The shares of Series Preferred Stock

were issued at public offering price of $25061 per share resulting in net proceeds of approximately $91.3 million after deducting the underwriting discount

and other estimated offering expenses
of approximately $4.0 million We used the net proceeds as well as the net proceeds from our issuance of Exchangeable

Senior Notes see Note to repay approximately $46.8 million of indebtedness outstanding under three construction loans to pay down the Credit Facility and

br general corporate purposes
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Common Shares and OP Units

An OP Unit and share of our common stock have essentially the same economic characteristics as they share equally
in the net income loss and

distributions of the Operating Partnership An OP Unit may be tendered for redemption for cash or share of common stock however we have sole discretion and

must have sufficient amount of authorized common stock to exchange OP Units for shares of common stock on one-for-one basis

In March 2013 we completed an underwritten public offering of approximately 25.5 million shares of conunon stock including approximately 3.3 million

shares issued and sold pursuant to the lull exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional shares resulting in net proceeds of approximately $299.7

million The net proceeds were used to fund our investment in the CB Portfolio and related transactional costs including investment banking advisory fees

see Note and for general corporate purposes including the repayment of debt

In April 2013 the Board of Directors of the Company approved Articles of Amendment to the Companys Articles of Amendment and Restatement to

increase the number of authorized shares of the Company to 550000000 shares of stock consisting of 500000000 shares of common stock $0.01 par value per

share and 50000000 shares of preferred stock $0.01
par

value
per

share

In June 2013 we implemented an At-The-Market offering program under which we may sell at market price up to $100.0 million in shares of the

Companys common stock over the term of the program At December 312013 we had not issued and sold
any

shares under this program

In July 2012 we completed an underwritten public offering of approximately
7.5 million shares of common stock including approximately 1.0 million

shares issued and sold pursuant to the full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional shares resulting in net proceeds of approximately $72.2

million The net proceeds were used to acquire the remaining ownership interests in The Grove at Moscow Idaho and The Grove at Valdosta Georgia that

we did not already own and to
repay

the mortgage debt secured by these properties
and to reduce borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility

Remaining net proceeds were used for general corporate purposes

As of December 31 2013 there were approximately
64.9 million OP Units outstanding of which approximately 64.5 million or 99.3% were owned by us

and approximately
0.4 million or 0.7% were owned by other partners including certain of our executive officers As of December 31 2013 the fair market

value of the OP Units not owned by us was $4.1 million based on market value of $9.41
per unit which was the closing price per share of our common stock

on the New York Stock Exchange on December 31 2013

The following is summary of changes in the shares of our common stock for the periods shown in thousands

For the Year Ended

December3l2013 December3l2012

Conunon shares at beginning of period 38558 30710

Issuance of common shares 25.530 7.475

Issuance of restricted sharea 496 376

lorfeiture of restricted shares 82
Common shares at end of period

64502 38558

fhe following is summary of changes in the number of OP flits for the periods shown in thousands

For the Year Ended

December 31 2013 December31 2012

tP Units at beginning of period 436 436

Redemption of OP Units ________________ ________________

OPUnitsatendofperiod
434 436

Dividends and Distributions

For the years
ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 we declared dividends per common share and OP Unit of $0.66 totaling approximately $42.9

million $0.64 totaling approximately $22.6 million and $0.61 totaling approximately $19.9 million respectively
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For the years ended December 31 2013 and 2012 we declared dividends per share of Series Preferred Stock of $2.00 totaling approximately $6.5 million

and $2.00 totaling approximately $4.3 million

On October 22 2013 we announced that our Board of Directors declared fourth quarter 2013 dividend of $0.1 65 per common share and OP Unit The

dividend was paid on Januaiy 8201410 stockholders of record on December 23 2013 At December 31 2013 we accrued approximately $10.7 million related

to our common dividend in accounts payable and accnsed expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

On October 22 2013 the Board of Directors also declared cash dividend of $0.50 per
share of Seriet Preferred Stock for the fourth quarter of 2013 The

preferred share dividend was paid on January 15 2013 to stockholders of record on December 23 2013 At December 31 2013 we accrued approximately $3.1

million related to our preferred
dividend in accountt payable and accrued

expenses
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

The following is summasy of the taxable nature of our dividends for the periods shown

For the Years Ended December31

2013 2012 2011

Per Share Per Share Per Share

Common stock

Ordinary Dividend 0.097 14.8 0.018 2.8 0.093 15.3

QuatifledDividend 0008 1.2% 0.001 0.2% 0.0%

Capital Gain 0.0 0.0 0.0

Unrecaptured Sec 1250 0.019 29 0.0 0.0%

Return of Capital
0.531 81.1 0.621 97.0% 0.514 84.7%

Total
0.655 1000% 0.640 100.0% 0.607 100.0

Prefrrred Stock

Ordinary Dividend 1.565 78.3 1.272 92.7 0.0

Qualified Dwidend 128 64 0.100 7.3 0.0%

Capital Gain 0.0 0.0 0.0

Unrecaptured Sec 1250 0307 15 LO 0.0

Return of Capital 0.0 0.0 0.0

rotal
2.000 100.0 1.372 100.0% 0.0%

13 Incentive Plans

We have adopted the Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Compensation Plan the Incentive Plan which permits the grant of incentive awards to

executive officers employees consultants and non-employee directors The aggregate number of awards approved under the Incentive Plan is 2.5 million As of

December 31 2013 and December 312012 approximately 0.3 million and 1.2 million shares respectively were available for issuance under the Incentive Plan

Resin cied Stock Awards

Awards to executive officers and employees vest over three year period and are subject to restriction based upon employment in good standing with the

Company Awards to non-employee directors vest over three or five
year period and are subject to restriction based upon continued service on our Board of

Directors

At December 31 2013 total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock awards was approximately $6.9 million and is expected to be

recognized over remaining weighted average period of 1.3
years During the

year
ended December 31 2013 we recognized stock compensation expense

of

approximately $1.9 million net of vesting forfeitures of approximately $0.5 million and capitalized stock compensation expense of approximately $0.9 million

During the year ended December 31 2012 we recognized stock compensation expense
of approximately $1.0 million net of vesting forfeitures of approximately

$0.1 million and capitalized stock compensation expense
of approximately $0.6 million During the

year
ended December 31 2011 we recognized stock

compensation expense
of approximately $0.2 million net of vesting forfeitures of approximately $0.1 million

Restricted OP Units

At December 31 2013 we had no remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted OP Units During the year ended December 31 2013 we

recognized stock compensation expense related to the vesting of restricted OP Units of approximately $0.2 million and capitalized stock compensation expense
of

approximately $0.3 million During the year ended December 31 2012 we recognized stock compensation expense related to the vesting of restricted OP Units

of approximately $0.2 million and capitalized stock compensation expense
of approximately $0.4 million During the year ended December 31 2011 we

recognized stock compensation expense related to the vesting of restricted OP units of approximately $0.1 million and capitalized stock compensation expense
of

approximately $0.5 million.There were no vesting forfeitures related to restricted OP Units during 2013 2012 and 2011
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The following is summaly of our plan activity for the periods shown in thousands except weighted average grant price

Restricted Restricted Weighted

Common Restricted OP Average

Stock Units Total Grant Price

LJnvesredba1ancesatDecembcs3l2012 438 50 488 11.07

Granted 497 497 12.65

Vested 205 50 255 11.39

Forfeited 82 82 12.53

UnvestedbalancesatDecensber3l2013
648 648 11.97

14 Related Party Transactions

We lease aircraft from entities in which two of our executive officers have an ownership interest For each of the
years

ended December 31 2013 2012 and

2011 we incurred travel costs to these entities of approximately $0.2 million

We are party to an agreement with an initial term of five years with subsidialy of an entity affiliated with one of our directors pursuant to which we offer

our tenants program of insurance services and products Pursuant to the agreement we received an upfront payment of $100000 and will receive fees for each

tenant we refer that enrolls in the program The related party receives monthly fees with respect to each tenant referred by us during the tenants enrollment in the

program which amounted to $0.9 million for the
year

ended December 31 2013

In 2011 we engaged an entity affiliated with one of our board members to perform
certain information

technology
services The total contract value was

approximately
$0.4 million of which approximately $0.3 million was paid as of December 31 2012 and the remaining $0.1 million was paid in February 2014

There are no additional amounts outstanding under the terms of the agreement
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15 Segments

The operating segments in which management assesses performance and allocates resources are student housing operations and development construction

and management services Our segments reflect managements resource allocation and performance assessment in making decisions regarding the Company Our

student housing rental and student housing services revenues are aggregated
within the student housing operations segment and our third-party services of

development construction and management are aggregated within the development construction and management services segment

The following tables set forth our segment information for the periods presented in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31

2013 2012 2011

Student Housing Operations

Revenuesfromextemalcustomers 91250 74091 51110

Operating expense 62971 53476 39916

Income from wholly-owned student housing operations 28279 20615 11194

Equity in earnings losses of unconsolidated earnings
3.7271 361 1.164

Operating income 24552 20976 10030

Nonopersting expenses 10529 10246 5176

Net income 14023 10730 4854

Net income attributable to nonconimlling interest 136 106 61

Net income attributable to common stockholders 13887 10624 4793

Depreciatton and 22356 20377 16266

Capitalexpenditures
142167 111167 111135

iLtttk 71flc7

Fotal segment assets at end of period
719018 61 7.975 490.882

Development Construction and Management Services

Revenues from external customers 51069 54.295 35084

Intersegment revenues 102073 77937 88443

Total revenues 153142 132232 123527

Operating expenses
146458 128291 629

Operating income 6684 3941 7898

Nonoperating expenses
12 499

Net income 6684 3929 7399

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 64 38 74

Netincomcattributabletocommonstockholdera 6620 3891 7.325

Depreciation and amortization
234 103 90

Total segment assets at end of period 88515 51141 22818

Reconciliations

Total segment revenues 244392 206323 174637

Elimination of intersegment revenues 102.073 77917 88.443

Totalconaolidntedrevenues
142.319 128386 86.194

Segment operating income 1.236 249 17 17928

Interest expense 2969 .545 6888
Net unallocated

expenses
related to corporate overhead 15.789 9.027 10.747

Other income expense 1.414 410 720

Gain on purchase of previously unconsolidated entities 6554 3159

t..et income before income tax benefit expense 3892 10489 4172

total segment assets 1.132.371 691.671 534752

Unallocated corporate assets and eliminations 50308 4.649 5505

rotal assets at end of period
1.182.679 696.320 540.257
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16 Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

In the normal course of business we enter into various development and construction related purchase commitments with parties that provide development

and construction related goods and services In the event we were to terminate development or construction services prior to the completion of projects we could

potentially
be committed to satisfy outstanding or uncompleted purchase orders with such parties At December 31 2013 management did not anticipate any

material deviations from schedule or budget and did not anticipate having to terminate services for the development projects currently in progress

In the ordinary course of business certain liens related to the construction of the student housing real estate property may be attached to our assets by

contractors or suppliers Campus Crest Construction LLC is responsible as the general contractor for resolving these liens There can be no assurance that we will

not be required to pay amounts greater than currently recorded liabilities to settle these claims

We have properties that are subject to long-term ground leases Typically these properties are located on the campuses of colleges or universities We have

the right to encumber our leasehold interests with specific property mortgages for the purposes of constructing remodeling or making improvements on or to

these properties Title to all improvements paid for and constructed on the land remains with us until the earlier of termination or expiration of the lease at which

time the title of any buildings constructed on the land will revert to the landlord Should we decide to sell our leasehold interests during the initial or any renewal

terms the landlord hasa right of first refusal to purchase the interests for the same purchase price
under the same terms and conditions as contained in our offer to

sell our leasehold interests

We lease
space

for our corporate headquarters office Rent
expense

is recognized on straight-line basis Future minimum payments over the life of our

corporate
office lease and long-term ground leases subsequent

to December 31.2013 are as follows in thousands

2014 1.238

2015 1293

2016 1304

2017 1.320

2018 1309

ThercatIer 28148

Total future mininsutn lease payments
34612

We
guarantee

certain mortgage notes related to our unconsolidated entities see Note The Company has estimated the fair value of the guarantees to be

immaterial The Company does not expect that it will have to perform under the guarantees

Contingencies

In the normal course of business we are subject to claims lawsuits and legal proceedings In addition to the matter described below we are involved in

various routine legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business Although the outcomes of such routine legal proceedings cannot be predicted with

certainty in the opinion of management the ultimate resolution of such routine matters will not have material adverse effect on our financial position or results

of operations

On July 2012 we and certain of our subsidiaries were named in state lawsuit filed with the 250th Judicial District Court of Travis County in Austin

Texas The case arose from an accident at The Grove at Denton located in Denton Texas in which balcony of one of she units broke and three people were

seriously injured Also named as co-defendants in the case were the architect the structural engineer and certain of our subcontractors The plaintiffs allege

among other things negligence on the pars of the defendants in the design construction planning operation
and management of The Grove at Denton and seek

sctual and exemplary damages The plaintiffs
initial complaint did not specify the amount of damages sought however in recent filing the plaintiffs demanded

$20 million in damages The parties have participated in settlement discussions including mediation on two occasions but no resolution has been reached The

trial is currently scheduled to begin on May 2014 Although it is not possible to predict the outcome of the lawsuit we will continue to defend the case

vigorously Based on the totality of the circumstances including the existence of insurance coverage we do not believe that the lawsuit if adversely determined

would have material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations No amounts have been accrued as of December 31 2013

We are not aware of any environmental liability with respect to the properties that could have material adverse effect on our business assets or results of

operations However there can be no assurance that such material environmental liability does not exist The existence of any such material environmental

liability could have an adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations and cash flows
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17 Quarterly Financial Information tlnaudited

The information presented below
represents

the consolidated financial results for the periods presented The results below differ from previously disclosed

quarterly results due to certain reclassifications associated with discontinued operations during the periods presented The sum of the quarterly income loss per

share amounts may not equal the annual income per share amounts due primarily to changes in the number of common shares outstanding from quarter to quarter

in thousands except per share data

Three Months Ended

March31 June30 September30 December31
2013 2013 2013 2013

32998 36.526 37.811 34.984

4292 5.884 6.856 I.58$

2167 3.940 4853 9342
1006 2771 3677 ll985

0.02 0.04 0.06 0.18

Three Months Ended

March31 June30 September30 December31
2012 2012 2012 2012

Total revenues 30716 33186 32146 32338

Operating hscome 2601 2968 5014 5307

Net income loss 980 460 90$0 2268

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders 1635 676 7839 1110

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders
per

share basic and diluted 0.05 0.02 0.20 0.03

The purchase price allocation for our Copper Beech acquisition was finalized and all required adjustments are reflected in our fourth quarter information

18 Subsequent Events

Events occurring subsequent to the date of our consolidated balance sheet have been evaluated for potential recognition or disclosure in our consolidated

financial statements through the date our consolidated financial statements were available to be issued

In January 2014 we acquired from HSRE their 80% ownership interest in HSRE IV which we previously held 20% interest and which owned The Grove

at Denton Texas for approximately $7.7 million Prior to the acquisition of this interest we accounted for our ownership interest in the
property

under the equity

method The acquisition date fair value of the Companys equity interest in HSRE IV immediately before the acquisition of the remaining interest in HSRE IV

was $1.9 million In connection with evaluating our investment in HSRE IV for impairment as of December 31 2013 we recognized loss of approximately

$0.3 million for the other than temporary decline in value of our previously held equity interest in the properties at the acquisition date Subsequent to our

acquisition
of this interest we consolidated the results of

operations
of The Grove at Denton Texas

As of the date the financial statements were available to be issued the initial accounting and the related purchase price allocation has not yet been completed

Therefore the Company has not disclosed the amounts recognized as of the acquisition date for each major class of asset acquired and liability assumed or an

estimate of the financial effect on the Companys consolidated financial statements

On January 15 2014 through the newly formed HIM Holdings the joint venture partnership acquired the 488-room 22-story Holiday Inn Midtown in

MontrØal QuØbec for approximately CAD 65 million The joint venture intends to convert the
property

it into an upscale evo student housing tower near McGill

University In connection with the acquisition of the Holiday Inn property we increased our ownership interest from 20.0% to 35.0% in CSH Montreal the joint

venture that holds the newest evo property and the previously announced evo Square Victoria In addition we provided CAD 16.0 million of preferred equity in

connection with the acquisition of the Holiday Inn
property

If our preferred interest is not repaid in fill on or prior to September 2014 it will effectively

convert to common interest in the joint venture partnership

Total revenues

Openstissg income

Net income loss
Net income loss attributable to common stockholders

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders
per

share basic and diluted

109



In conjunction with the Holiday Inn acquisition CSH Montreal completed CAD 112.0 million note payable to help fund the conversion of both hotels into

upscale student housing towers The note payable provides for interest-only payments at variable interest rate equal to the Canadian Dealer Offered Rate

CDOR which was 1.22% at December 31 2013 plus spread of 3.50% through its maturity date on January 13 2016 This facility has one twelve-month

extension option subject to lender approval
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Schedule 111 Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31 2013

StmlleaaUatapea6n
The Grove at Asheville NC
maCrove atCoemlltotaGA

The Grove at Las Ceuces NM
seCrosa ntMW 449vl116 IS

The Grove
at Abilene TX

lseISmv6 Il6rsehrseWA

The Grove at oeeley CO

Thg Glow at MablOt

Th Grove at Naco0doohe TX

ThaGtaseatCl.esois WA
lite Grove

at Lobbouk TX

Th.QtoseStobgti4Ilg TX

The Grove at Troy AL

TheQrosoat WatOvV

The Grove at Moefreesboro TN

The Oror at San MaeuaeTX

The Grove
at Moscow ID

ThaQgovatfltatavtlaTX

The Grove
at Statesboro GA

Th6Crowa1 Clatkdvillg TN

Gte Grove
at Ames tA

The Glove at Peat Wayne 154

The Grove at Colombia MO

The Gtve at Vsldotta IA

The Grove at Achue AL

Th Oroygat9laaatalt AZ
The Grove at Naoo5doohes TX Phase It

Th6 Grove 01 Cease. ME

The Grove at Toledo

The t3tvg at PotS 2otIThsAX

The Geove at Munote IN

The Crow etPtdhano WA0t

The Grove at Flagstaff II

Total giesdIn6 k4ese068pee5eo4kc

Crot

Cspitalkond

Sabseqeani to St.de.t Year Plored

Develapme.t Hanoi.4 Aeanm Year iota Service

leitialCast orAuqeattion Land Properties Totalti Depe Enenosbrn.aao Canotenated orAaqoired

12604 708 51 13261 13.312 4904 4500 2005 2009

13296 1092 1194 13282 54394 49545 142000 2606 2094

6025 5522 1098 20449 21347 5215 14764 2006 3006

14343 1230 949 14658 I3.77 632845 5544 2006 2006

16962 619 1361 6220 17501 5437 21 2007 2007

20521 430 1463 19.774 2123 3.8143 816.011 2005 2081

19971 1279 1454 9796 21250 5335 15193 2007 2007

33990 951 630 33901 34.058 9.6061
101 2501 2501

8604 .253 1188 9.669 9057 5527 17150 2007 2007

10584 329 1.347 11.561 19808 49251 11 2808 2000

0229 453 .020 17162 8682 4908 2008 2008

17569 321 8.259 16171 17422 480 3004 2508

8240 630 .433 7450 8803 3101 21 2008 2008

17.564 09 1094 11.061 18133 55285 3044 2080

19994 585 2678 17901 20579 4156 2009 2009

24126 399 8791 22134 24325 52769 2049 2069

25731 143 .835 24035 25874 1128 2009 202

23444 249 3.157 21334 25.693 1.4885 45 2010 2911

25344 205 .621 33963 25604 1640 16101 200 2011

2500 320 1296 20041 23.143 5004 163505 2811 2111

22834 278 1919 21193 23112 1849 2011 2011

18840 561 044 35206 19850 16635 2511 2511

2455 36 36 21076 24687 1673 23180 20 20
29301 253 8362 26012 29934 1414 2011 2012

26267 47 4423 2199 2644 41142 2012 202

34125 2998 6970 56146 31186 1.312 2582 2082

7.718 94 40 74 7812 355 2012 202

20499 510 5.323 21396 29369 1211 28 212 2052

11564 2705 2237 12032 14269 728 2013 203

35.496 5678 75 33.354 35429 394 81.2250 2513 2483

24208 22 2408 22226 34686 20 3237 2013 203

12622 253 1842 13744 1463 118 186235 2963 2513

5407 3249 2155 5404 97 203 2013

691.560 34939 57.021 650464 716268 023048 2095315

Depreciable lives range
from 2-40

years

Property is collateral for our Amended Credit Facility

Property encumbered by ground lease

Property is under re-development See Note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

At December 31 2013 The Grove at Pullman Washington was partially operational due to the occurrence of July 2013 fire at the property while it

was under construction See Note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO SCHEDULE III

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated
Depreciation as of December 312013

The changes in our investment in real estate and related accumulated depreciation for each of the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 are as

follows in thousands

December 31
2013 2012 2011

Inveatiaesst Its real estate

Balancebeginningofyear 669387 512227 372.746

Ac4ssisitions 13801

Improvements and development expenditures 106806 158175 140866

Asset disposals 1.283 1.015 710
Disposition of student housing properties 67.702

Impairment of student housing prupetties 4724
Other Reclassificalions 675
l3alanceendofyear 716285 669.387 512227

Accumulated depreciatIon

Balance beginning of year 97820 76164 57463

Dcprecsauonfortheyear 2518 22472 18943

Asset disposals 933 865 242
Disposition of student housing propertiea 19714
Other Reclassifications 49

Balanceendofyear 102.35 97.820 76.14

Development in
process 91184 50781 45278

tnvestnsentigrealesjatenet 705113 622.348 481341
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Exhibit 10.14

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT this Anreement is made and entered into as of the 5th day of August 2013 the Effective Date by and

between Campus Crest Communities Inc the Company and Brian Sharpe an individual Employee the Company and Employee are hereinafter

sometimes collectively referred to as the Parties

RECITALS

The Company desires to employ Employee as Chief Facilities and Construction Officer of the Company on the terms and conditions hereinafter set

forth

Employee desires to accept such employment on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements of the Parties hereinafter set forth and for other good

and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged the Parties hereto intending to be legally bound hereby agree as

follows

Employment The Company hereby employs Employee as Chief Facilities and Construction Officer of the Company and Employee hereby accepts

such employment upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth Employee shall manage the construction and facilities operations of the Company and shall

have such other duties and authority as are customary
for such position and as shall from time to time be assigned to Employee by the Chief Executive Officer

and the Board of Directors Board of the Company in their discretion Employee shall faithfully and to the best of his ability fulfill such duties and shall devote

his Bill business time attention skill and efforts with undivided loyalty to the performance of such duties Employee shall abide by all of the rules regulations

and policies established or promulgated whether communicated in writing electronically or orally by the Company from time to time Employee agrees
that so

long as he is an employee of the Company he shall not without obtaining the express prior approval in writing of the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of

the Company engage in any employment consulting activity or business other than for the Company Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section

Employee is authorized to make and manage personal business investments of his choice including without limitation the management of family-owned

companies and investments subject to the limitations set forth in the Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement as defmed below and provided that such

activities do not materially interfere with the performance of the Employees duties under the Agreement

Compensation and Benefits During his employment under this Agreement Employee shall receive the compensation and benefits more particularly

described on Exhibit attached hereto and made part hereof In the event the Company terminates the Incentive Compensation Plan provided for in Exhibit

hereto the Company shall establish new plan or such other arrangement as shall be mutually agreeable to the Company and Employee which shall provide

Employee with substantially similar economic benefits to those provided under the Incentive Compensation Plan Furthermore no amendment or modification to

the Incentive Compensation Plan during performance cycle shall reduce the potential benefits to be provided thereunder as established at the beginning of such

performance cycle without the consent of Employee Any payments referenced hereunder shall be subject to applicable taxes and other withholdings

This Agreement shall be for an initial term of two years expiring on the second anniversary of the date hereof provided however it shall

automatically renew for additional one year terms on each anniversary date hereof unless notice of expiration is given in writing at least 90 days prior to

expiration of the then current term For the sake of clarity notification of non-renewal by the Company within the prescribed 90 day period shall not be

considered termination by the Company and as such shall not invoke the Payment Upon Termination provisions described in Section 3B below which are

only applicable for termination of employment occurring during the term

The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time for Cause or without Cause as defined below Employee may terminate this Agreement at any time

with or without Good Reason as defined below upon delivery to the Company of thirty 30 days written notice Termination of this Agreement shall terminate

completely Employees employment with the Company including but not limited to his role as an officer If Employee is serving as member of the Companys
Board Employee agrees to resign from the Board effective immediately upon termination of this Agreement



Termination Date The date which the Board of the Company designates as the termination date or if Employee terminates this Agreement the date

designated by Employee as stated in the writsen notice delivered to the Company shall be referred to herein as the Termination Date

Payment tjnon Termination

Termination By Employee In the event Employee terminates this Agreement the Company shall be
obligated to pay Employee that

pro-rata portion of his current semi-monthly Base Salary payment as adjusted for any increase thereto which is earned but unpaid as of the Termination Date

any earned but unpaid incentive compensation any accrued but unpaid paid time off IQdue to him through the Termination Date and any unreimbursed

expenses Employee will not be entitled to nor will he receive any type of severance payment unless he has Good Reason as defmed below to terminate this

Agreement If Employee has Good Reason then he shall receive the severance outlined in subsection BXiib below addressing Termination by the Company

without Cause subject to its requirements for receipt of such payment If Employee terminates Employees employment pursuant to this subsection Bi then

the Company at its option may require Employee to cease providing services during the thirty 30 day notice period required therein provided however for

purposes
of calculating payment upon termination under this Agreement Employee shall be treated as if he was employed during such thirty 30 day period

Good Reason shall mean material involuntary reduction in Employees duties authority reporting responsibility or function by the Company
material reduction in Employees compensation package other than as mutually agreed Employees involuntary relocation to principal place of work more

than thirty 30 miles from Charlotte North Carolina or material breach by the Company of its obligations hereunder provided that upon the occurrence of

any
of these acts or omissions Employee gives the Company notice of his belief that he has Good Reason to terminate this Agreement and the Company fails to

cure within thirty 30 business days of receipt of Employees notice and the Employee resigns within thirty 30 days after the end of such thirty 30 day cure

period

ii Termination By Comnanv

Cause The Company may terminate this Agreement for Cause effective immediately upon written notice to Employee stating the

facts constituting such Cause If Employee is terminated for Cause the Company shall be obligated to pay Employee that pro-rats portion of his current semi

monthly Base Salary payment as adjusted for any increase thereto which is earned but unpaid as of the Termination Date any earned but unpaid incentive

compensation any accrued but unpaid PTO due to him through the Termination Date and any unreimbursed expenses Employee will not be entitled to nor will

lie receive any type of severance payment The term shallmean Employees act of
gross negligence or misconduct that has the effect of injuring the

business of the Company or its
parent

subsidiaries or affiliates taken as whole in
any

material respect Employees conviction or plea of guilty or iolo

contendere to the commission of felony by Employee the commission by Employee of an act of fraud or embezzlement against the Company its parent

subsidiary or affiliates or Employees willful breach of any material provision of this Agreement or that certain Confidentiality and Noncompetition

Agreement between Employee and the Company which shall be entered into contemporaneously with this Agreement the Confidentiality and Noncompetition

Aereement

Without Cause The Company may terminate this Agreement without Cause effective immediately upon notice to Employee In the

event the Company terminates this Agreement without Cause the Company shall pay to Employee in addition to the amounts under the first sentence of

Subsection Bi above cash payment equal to two times the sum of Employees then current annual Base Salary as adjusted for any increase thereto and ii

an amount equal to the bonus paid to Employee for the prior year provided that if no incentive bonus was paid in the prior year
the amount shall be 50% of the

target amount as defined in the Companys Incentive Compensation Plan for the year in which notice is given Any amounts payable under this subparagraph

shall be paid in equal monthly installments over period of 24 months commencing no later than sixty 60 days following Employees Termination Date shall

be subject to applicable withholdings and shall be subject to Employee signing Release as defined below on or before the sixtieth 60th day following

Employees Termination Date and all revocation periods applicable to such Release having expired on or prior to the sixtieth 60th day following Employees

Termination Date Such payments will commence within sixty 60 days following Executives termination with the exact commencement of payments to be

determined in the sole discretion of the Company provided that if such sixty 60 day period commences in one calendar year and ends in the next the payments

will commence in the second calendar
year

with the first payment to include all payment that would have otherwise been made but for the provisions of this

sentence For the avoidance of doubt Employee shall not be entitled to any severance and bonus payments if the Employee has not signed the Release and if all

revocation period applicable to the Release have not expired on or prior to the sixtieth 60th day following Employees Termination Date In addition the

severance and bonus payments outlined in this Section are contingent on Employee fully complying with the terms of the Confidentiality and Noncompetition

Agreement signed contemporaneously herewith If Employee fails to so comply Employee agrees
that the Company has the right to cease making the payments

described in this Section and that the Company is entitled to recover from Employee any payments it has already made to Employee



iii Change in Control In the event within 24 months following Change in Control of the Company Employee is terminated

without Cause by the Company or Employee terminates his employment for Good Reason in lieu of the severance payment outlined in above Employee

will receive in addition to the amounts under the first sentence of Subsection Bi above cash payment equal to two times the sum of Employees then

current Base Salary as adjusted for any increase thereto and ii an amount equal to Employees previous years Incentive Compensation Plan payment In the

event Employee did not receive an Incentive Compensation Plan payment the previous year the incentive amount shall be 50% of the target amount as defined

in the Companys Incentive Compensation Plan for the year
in which termination occurs Any amounts payable under this subparagraph shall be paid in lump

sum within 60 days of the Termination Date subject to subsection 3C hereof shall be subject to applicable withholdings and shall be subject to Employee

signing Release on or before the sixtieth 6Oth day following Employees Termination Date and all revocation periods applicable to such Release having

expired on or prior to the sixtieth 60th day following Employees Termination Date Such payments will commence within sixty 60 days following Executives

termination with the exact commencement of payments to be determined in the sole discretion of the Company provided that if such sixty 60 day period

commences in one calendar year and ends in the next the payments will commence in the second calendar year with the first payment to include all payment that

would have otherwise been made but for the provisions of this sentence For the avoidance of doubt Employee shall not be entitled to any severance and bonus

payments if the Employee has not signed the Release and if all revocation period applicable to the Release have not expired on or prior to the sixtieth 60th day

following Employees Termination Date Change in Control means change in the ownership of the corporation change in effective control of the

corporation or change in the ownership of substantial portion of the assets of the corporation within the meaning of Section .409A-3i5 of the Treasury

Regulations The payments to Employee outlined in this Section are contingent on Employee fully complying with the terms of the Confidentiality and

Noncompetition Agreement signed contemporaneously herewith If Employee fails to so comply Employee agrees that the Company has the right to cease

making the payments described in this Section and that the Company is entitled to recover from Employee any payments it has already made to Employee

In the event it shall be determined that any payment or distribution to or for the benefit of Employee under this subsection iii or the

acceleration thereof the Triererine Payment would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

the Code or any interest or penalties with respect to such excise tax collectively such excise tax together with any such interest or penalties the Excise

Tax all such payments and benefits including any cash severance payments payable pursuant to any other plan arrangement or agreement hereinafter referred

to as the Total Payments then after taking into account any reduction in the Total Payments provided by reason of Section 280G of the Code in such other

plan arrangement or agreement the cash severance payments shall be reduced to the extent necessary so that no portion of the Total Payments is subject to the

Excise Tax but only ifA the net amount of such Total Payments as so reduced and after subtracting the net amount of federal state and local income taxes on

such reduced Total Payments and after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to such reduced Total

Payments is greater than or equal to the net amount of such Total Payments without such reduction but after subtracting the net amount of federal state and

local income taxes on such Total Payments and the amount of Excise Tax to which Employee would be subject in respect of such unreduced Total Payments and

after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to such unreduced Total Payments All determinations

required to be made under this subsection iii shall be made in writing within ten 10 business days of the receipt of notice from Employee that there has been

Triggering Payment by the independent accounting finn then retained by the Company in the ordinary course of business which firm shall provide detailed

supporting calculations to the Company and Employee and such determinations shall be final and binding on the Company and Employee Any fees incurred as

result of work performed by any independent accounting firm hereunder shall be paid by the Company



iv In the event of termination by the Company without Cause ii termination by Employee for Good Reason iii

Change in Control or iv the voluntary retirement of the Employee subsequent to reaching the age
of 63 occurring prior to Employee fully vesting

in any

options or restricted equity then the vesting schedule shall be accelerated so that Employee will be deemed flilly vested with respect to such options or restricted

equity

Disability The Company may terminate Employees employment upon Employees total disability Employee shall be deemed to

be totally disabled for purposes
of this Agreement if he is unable to perform his essential job duties under this Agreement by reason of mental or physical illness

or condition lasting for period of 120 consecutive days or more inking into consideration any reasonable accommodations under the Americans with

lisabilities Act if applicable
The determination as to whether Employee is totally disabled shall be made by licensed physician selected by the Company

Whether Employee is entitled to receive his Base Salary during the period he is unable to work prior to termination hereunder is contingent on other Company

policies and the amount of leave Employee has available to him under those policies Upon termination by reason of Employees disability the Companys sole

and exclusive obligation will be to pay Employee that pro-rain portion
of his current semi-monthly Base Salary payment as adjusted for

any
increase thereto

which is earned but unpaid as of the Termination Date any earned but unpaid bonus and any accrued but unpaid PlO due to him through the Termination Date

vith This Agreement shall terminate immediately and without any action on the part of the Company if Employee dies In such

an event Employees estate shall receive from the Company ina single lump sum an amount equal to that pro-rain portion of his current semi-monthly Base

Salary payment as adjusted for any increase thereto which is earned but unpaid as of the date of Employees death unless earlier terminated due to disability as

set forth in subsection 3Bv above and ii any bonus compensation earned by Employee but unpaid prior to Employees death plus other death benefits if any

generally applicable to the Companys employees

The following rules shall apply with respect to the distribution of payments and benefits if any to be provided to Employee under Section

of this Agreement as applicable

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein no payments shall be made to Employee upon Employees termination

of employment from the Company under this Agreement unless such termination of employment is separation from service within the meaning of Section

409A of the Code For
purposes

of determining the timing of payments under this Section only Termination Date shall be deemed to mean the date on which

Employee experiences separation from service within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code

ii It is intended that each installment of the payments and benefits provided under this Section 3BiiXb if any shall be treated as

separate payment for
purposes

of Section 409A of the Code

iii Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary in the event that Employee is deemed to be specified employee for purposes

of Section 409Aa2BXi of the Code any payments to Employee hereunder that are subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Code shall not be made

prior to the six-month anniversary of Employees Termination Date Thereafter any payment that would otherwise have been made during the six-month period

beginning on Employees Termination Date will be paid together with interest at an annual rate compounded monthly equal to the federal short-term rate as in

effect under Section 1274d of the Code on the termination date to Employee immediately following such six-month anniversary and no later than thirty 30
days following such anniversary



iv The amount of taxable expenses eligible for reimbursement during one calendar year shall not affect the expenses eligible for

reimbursement during any subsequent calendar year Reimbursement of
expenses for given calendar year

shall be made on or before the last day of the

immediately following calendar year The right to reimbursement hereunder is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit

Release Employee agrees that payment by the Company of the amounts Set out above in the event of termination by the Company Without Cause

termination by Employee for Good Reason or due to Change in Control is contingent upon Employee executing mutual release acceptable to the Company

and Employee the gJwhich shall recite that such payment is in full and final settlement of any and all actions causes of actions suits claims demands

and entitlements whatsoever which Employee has or may have against the Company or which the Company may have against Employee their respective

affiliates and any of their respective directors officers employees shareholders representatives successors and assigns arising Out of Employees hiring his

employment and she termination of his employment or this Agreement

Expenses The Company shall reimburse Employee for all
necessary

and reasonable out-of-pocket travel and other business
expenses

incurred by

Employee which relate to Employees duties hereunder in accordance with the Companys relevant policies in effect from time to time

Survival Of Certain Provisions Any provisions hereof that by their nature would survive the termination hereof shall not be discharged or dissolved

upon but shall survive the termination of the employment of Employee with the Company

Representations And Warranties Of Employee As of the date hereof and at all times during the term hereof Employee represents and warrants to the

Company that Employee has not entered into and is not bound by any agreement understanding or restriction including without limitation any covenant

restricting competition or solicitation or agreement relating to trade secrets or confidential information with
any

third party that in any way limits restricts or

would prevent the employment of him by the Company under this Agreement or the full and complete performance by him of all his duties and obligations

hereunder and the execution of this Agreement by him and the employment of him by the Company under this Agreement will not result in or constitute

breach of any term or condition of any other agreement instrument arrangement or understanding between him and any third party or constitute or with notice

or lapse
of time or both would constitute default breach or violation of any such agreement instrument arrangement or understanding or which would

accelerate the maturity of any duty or obligation of him thereunder

Indemnity Employee acknowledges that the Company has relied upon the representations contained in Section hereof Employee agrees to

indemnifj and hold the Company its directors officers employees agents representatives affiliates parent subsidiary and related companies representatives

and consultants and their insurers and attorneys harmless against any
and all claims liabilities losses damages costs fees or

expenses including without

limitation reasonable legal fees and costs incurred by the Company its directors officers employees agents representatives affiliates parent subsidiary and

related companies representatives and consultants and their insurers by reason of an alleged violation by Employee of any of the representations contained in

Section hereof

Notices All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given upon receipt if delivered

personally or when sent if mailed by registered or certified mail retum receipt requested to the Parties at the following addresses or at such other address for

party as shall be specified by like notice



if to the Company Campus Crest Communities Inc

2100 Rexford Road Suite 414

Charlotte NC 28211

Attention Donald BobbiE Jr

With copy to Dawn Sharff Esq

Bradley Arant Boult Cummings LLP

One Federal Place

1819 Fifih Avenue North

Birmingham AL 35203

If to Employee Brian Sharpe

addressj

10 Enforceability and Reformation Severability The Parties intend for all provisions
of this Agreement to be enforced to the flillest extent permitted by

law Accordingly in the event that
any provision or portion of this Agreement is held to be illegal invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part for any reason

under present or ftiture law such provision shall be severable and the remainder thereof shall not be invalidated or rendered unenforceable or otherwise adversely

affected Without limiting the generality of the foregoing
if court or arbitrator should deem any provision of this Agreement to create restriction that is

unreasonable as to scope duration or geographical area the Parties agree that the provisions
of this Agreement shall be enforceable in such scope for such

duration and in such geographic area as such court or arbitrator may determine to be reasonable

II The rights obligations and interests of Employee hereunder may not be sold assigned transferred pledged or hypothecated Employee shall

have no right to commute encumber or dispose of the right to receive payments hereunder which payments and the right thereto are non-assignable and non-

transferable and any attempted assignment or transfer shall be null and void and without effect This Agreement and its obligations shall inure to the benefit of

and be binding and enforceable by the successors and assigns of the Company including without limitation any purchaser of the Company regardless of

whether such purchase takes the form of merger purchase of all or substantially all of the Companys assets or purchase of majority of the outstanding

capital stock of the Company

12 Disnute Resolution All controversies claims issues and other disputes collectively Disnutes arising out of or relating to this Agreement or

Employees employment hereunder shall be subject to the applicable provisions of this Section

Arbitration Except for actions seeking relief for violations of the Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement all Disputes shall be settled

exclusively by final and binding arbitration in Charlotte North Carolina before neutral arbitrator in an arbitration proceeding administered by the American

Arbitration Association according to the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes of AAA or alternatively upon mutual agreement

to an arbitrator selected by Employee and the Company Any dispute regarding whether Dispute is subject to arbitration shall be resolved by arbitration

Interstate Commerce The Parties hereto acknowledge that they have read and understood the provisions
of this Section regarding arbitration and

ii performance of this Agreement will be in interstate commerce as that term is used in the Federal Arbitration Act U.S.C et seq and the parties

contemplate substantial interstate activity in the performance of this Agreement including without limitation interstate travel the use of interstate phone lines

the use of the U.S mail services and other interstate courier services

Waiver of Jury Trial If any Dispute is not arbitrated for any reason the parties desire to avoid the time and expense relating to jury trial of such

Dispute Accordingly the parties for themselves and their successors and assigns hereby waive trial by jury of any Dispute The Parties acknowledge that this

waiver is knowingly freely and voluntarily given is desired by all Parties and is in the best interests of all Parties

___________________________________________________________________



13 Amendment This Agreement may not be amended modified or changed in whole or in part except by written instrument signed by duly

authorized officer of the Company and by Employee

14 No failure or delay by either of the Parties in exercising any right power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate aa waiver thereof

nor shall
any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or she exercise of any other right power or privilege

IS Access To Counsel Employee acknowledges that he has had full opportunity to review this Agreement and has had access to independent legal

counsel of his choice to the extent deemed
necessaiy to interpret

the
legal

effect hereof

16 Governing Law This Agreement shall be interpreted construed and governed according to the laws of the State of North Carolina For any
claims

for relief which are excepted from the arbitration provision as Set out above the Parties submit to the service and exclusive personal jurisdiction of the federal or

state Courts of Charlotte North Carolina and irrevocably waive all defenses inconsistent with the terms of this Section

17 Fees And Costs If either Party initiates any action or proceeding whether by arbitration or court proceeding to enforce any of its rights hereunder or

to seek damages for any violation hereof then the Parties shall bear their respective costs and
expenses

of any such action or proceeding provided that in

addition to all other remedies that may be granted the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys fees and all other costs that it may

sustain in connection with such action or proceeding Ifs dispute is arbitrated all costs and fees of the arbitrators shall be paid by the Company

18 Qff The Company shall have the right to offset against any sums payable to Employee any amounts owing to the Company ass result of expense

account indebtedness failure to return Company property or other advances or debts due

19 Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together

shall constitute one and the same instrument Execution and delivery by facsimile shall constitute good and valid execution and delivery unless and until replaced

or substituted by an original executed instrument

20 Interpretation The language used in this Agreement shall not be construed in favor of or against either of the Parties but shall be construed as if both

of the Parties prepared this Agreement The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties to
express

their mutual

intent and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any such Party

21 Execution of Further Documents The Parties covenant and agree that they shall from time to time and at all times do all such further acts and

execute and deliver all such further documents and assurances as shall be reasonably required in order to fully perform and carry Out the terms of this Agreement

22 Successors and Assigns This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company its successors and assigns including

without limitation any entity which may acquire all or substantially all of the Companys assets and business or into which the Company may be consolidated or

merged and Employee his heirs executors administrators and legal representatives Employee may not assign any of his obligations under this Agreement

23 Entire Agreement This Agreement and the Exhibit attached hereto
represent

the entire
understanding

and
agreement between the Parties with respect

to the subject matter hereof and shall supersede any prior agreements and understanding between the Parties with respect to that subject matter

24 Compliance with Section 409A of the Code This Agreement is intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from Section 409A of the Code
and any regulations and Treasury guidance promulgated thereunder and all ambiguities shall be interpreted in manner consistent with such intent



WITNESS WHEREOF each of the Parties has executed this Agreement as of the date first above written

CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC

By Is Donald Bobbitt Jr

Name Donald Bobbitt Jr

Title CFO

EMPLOYEE

Is Brian Sharpe

BRIAN SHARPE



Exhibit

Compensation and Benefits

Employees employment with the Company shall become effective on January 12013

Employee shall initially receive base salary of $250000 per year as such base salary may hereafter from time to time be adjusted as provided

herein the Base Salary Thereafter Employees Base Salary shall be reviewed annually by the Companys Compensation Committee and the Board of the

Company and may be adjusted upward in its sole discretion The Base Salary shall be paid during the period of employment by direct deposit according to the

Companys current standard pay practice of 26 pay periods per year semi-monthly or in accordance with the Companys relevant policies and practices in effect

from time to time including normal payroll practices and shall be subject to all applicable employment and withholding taxes

In addition to the Base Salary Employee is eligible to participate in the Companys Incentive Compensation Plan the with an initial target

potential
bonus equal to seventy five percent 75% of his Base Salary with the potential to achieve one hundred percent 100% of Base Salary if stretch

performance targets are achieved This plan shall be approved annually by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board of the Company which may

include adjustment
in the

target
and stretch performance bonus amounts Employees eligibility for or entitlement to any payments under the Plan shall be subject

to the terms of the Plan

In accordance with its terms Employee is eligible to participate in the Companys Equity Incentive Compensation Plan the EICP with an annual

target equity award with value equal to seventy
five

percent 75% of his Base Salary with the potential to achieve one hundred percent 100% of Base Salary

if stretch performance targets are achieved The annual
target

shall be adjusted annually by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board of the

Company Employees eligibility for or entitlement to any payments under the EICP shall be subject to the terms of the EICP

Employee shall receive monthly car allowance of $1000 and shall be reimbursed for the costs of reasonable repairs operating expenses
and gas

Subject to and in accordance with their terms Employee shall be entitled to participate in any plans insurance policies or contracts maintained by

the Company relating to retirement health disability auto and other related benefits as they may be amended from time to time These currently include health

dental and life insurance and 40 1K Employees rights and entitlements with respect to any such benefits shall be subject to the provisions of the relevant plans

contracts or policies providing such benefits In addition Employee shall accrue vacation and other paid time off benefits in accordance with the terms of the

applicable Company policy as it may be amended from time to time Nothing contained herein or in any employment offer shall be deemed to impose any

obligation on the Company to maintain or adopt any such plans policies or Contracts or to limit the Companys right to modity or eliminate such plans policies or

contracts in its sole discretion

Employee hereby acknowledges and agrees that except as set forth in this Exhibit he shall not be entitled to receive
any

other compensation

payments or benefits in Connection with his employment under this Agreement



Exhibit 10.19

CONFIDENTIALITY AND NONCOMPETITION AGREEMENT

This CONFIDENTIALITY AND NONCOMPETITION AGREEMENT this Agreement is made and entered into as of the 5th day of August 52013

the Effective Date by and between Campus Crest Communities Inc Campus Crest and Brian Sharpe an individual the Executive the Company

and the Executive are hereinafter sometimes collectively referred to as the

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS the Company and Executive have entered into an employment agreement the Employment Aareement on date even herewith and

WHEREAS the Company as condition of entering into the Employment Agreement with Executive desires to obtain certain restrictive covenants

from Executive as described below and Executive is willing to
agree

to such restrictive covenants in consideration of the employment compensation and

benefits set forth in the Employment Agreement

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt

and sufficiency of which is mutually acknowledged the Company and Executive
agree

as follows

Section Definitions

shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company

shall have the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement

Change in Control shall have the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement

Competitive Activities shall mean any business activities involving the development construction acquisition sale marketing or

management of facilities whose primary function and purpose is student housing and/or the provision of third pasty student housing services

to providers of student housing

Confidential Information shall have the meaning set forth in Section hereof

Developments shall have the meaning set forth in Section hereof

Good Reason shall have the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement

Restricted Period shall mean the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the second anniversary of the

termination of Executives employment

Company shall mean Campus Crest and any parent subsidiary or affiliated companies of Campus Crest

Section Reasonableness of Covenants

Executive acknowledges and agrees that the agreements
and covenants contained in this Agreement are reasonable and valid in geographical

and temporal scope
and in all other respects and ii essential to protect the value of the Companys business and assets and by his employment with the

Company Executive will obtain specialized and confidential knowledge contacts know-how training and experience at significant expense to the Company and

there isa substantial probability that such knowledge know-how contacts training
and experience could be used to the substantial advantage of competitor of

the Company and to the Companys substantial detriment



Section Confidential Information

At any time during and after the end of Executives employment with the Company without the prior written consent of the Board except to the

extent required by an order of court having jurisdiction or under subpoena from an appropriate government agency in which event Executive shall use his best

efforts to consult with the Board prior to responding to any such order or subpoena and
except as required in the performance of his duties under the Employment

Agreement Executive shall not disclose any confidential or proprietary trade secrets customer lists drawings designs information regarding product

development marketing plans sales plans manufacturing plans management organization information operating policies or manuals business plans financial

records packaging design or other financial commercial business or technical information relating to the Company or that the Company may receive

belonging to suppliers customers or others who do business with the Company Confidential Information Executives obligation under this Section shall not

apply to any information which is known publicly ii is in the public domain or hereafter enters the public domain without the breach of the Executive of this

Section iii is known to Executive prior to his receipt of such information from the Company as evidenced by Executives written records oriv is disclosed

after termination of Executives employment to Executive by third party not under an obligation of confidence to the Company

Section Non-Competition

Executive covenants and
agrees

that during the Restricted Period in any State of the United States of America in which the Company conducts

business has purchased or is under contract to purchase real estate to conduct business or has identified specific sites as potential future development

opportunities Executive shall not directly or indirectly engage in Competitive Activities whether individually or as principal partner officer director

consultant contractor employee stockholder or manager of any person partnership corporation limited liability company or any
other entity or own

interests in student housing properties that are competitive directly or indirectly with
any

business carried on by the Company Notwithstanding the foregoing

Executive may directly or indirectly own solely as an investment securities of any entity engaged in Competitive Activities which are publicly traded on

national or regional stock exchange or on the over-the-counter market provided that Executive is not controlling person of or member of group which

controls such entity and does not directly or indirectly own 2% or more of any class of securities of any such entity

Section Non-Solicitation Non-Interference

During the Restricted Period Executive shall not directly or indirectly for his own account or benefit or for the account or benefit of any other

individual or entity nor shall he directly or indirectly assist any person or entity to encourage solicit or induce or in any manner attempt to solicit or induce

any person employed by as agent of or as service provider to the Company to terminate such persons employment agency or service as the case may be with

the Company or ii divert or attempt to divert any person concern or entity from doing business with the Company or attempt to induce any such person

concern or entity to cease being customer or supplier of the Company

Section Return of Documents

In the event of the termination of Executives employment for any reason Executive shall deliver to the Company all ofi the
property

of the

Company and ii the documents and data of
any

nature and in whatever medium of the Company its customers suppliers investors or other third parties who

entrusted such documents or data to the Company and he shall not take with him any such property documents or data or any reproduction thereof or any

documents containing or pertaining to any Confidential Information



Section Works for Hire

Executive agrees
that the Company shall own all right title and interest including patent rights copyrights trade secret rights mask work rights and

other rights throughout the world in any inventions works of authorship mask works ideas or information discovered created made conceived or reduced to

practice in whole or in part by Executive either alone or with others during the Term of Employment that relate to the Companys business activities the

Developments provided however that the Company shall not own Developments for which no equipment supplies facilities trade secret information or

Confidential Information of the Company was used and which were developed entirely off of Company premises and on Executives own personal time and

which do not relate to the business plans or affairs of the Company or to the Companys actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development

Excluded Developments Executive agrees to assign and hereby does assign to the Company all
right

title and interest in and to any and all of these

Developments with the sole exception of those that Executive demonstrates are Excluded Developments Executive agrees to assist the Company at the

Companys expense to further evidence record confirm effect enable and perfect such assignments to Company and to perfect obtain maintain enforce and

defend all rights title and interest specified to be so owned or assigned To the extent permissible by law Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints

the Company and its agents as attorneys-in-fact to act for and on Executives behalf to execute and file any document and to do all other lawfully permitted acts

to further the purposes of the foregoing with the same legal force and effect as if executed by Executive In addition and not in contravention of any of the

foregoing
Executive acknowledges that all original works of authorship which are made by him solely or jointly with others within the scope

of employment

and which are protectable by copyright shall to the extent possible under U.S law be considered works made for hire as that term is defined in the United

States Copyright Act 17 USC Sec lOt Further to the extent that Company is not considered the author and original owner of any Developments Executive

agrees
to waive and hereby does waive any

and all interests or rights in the nature of paternity integrity disclosure and withdrawal and any other rights or

interests that may be known as or referred to as moral rights under the law of any jurisdiction To the extent Executive retains any such moral rights or other

rights or interests under applicable law consents to any action consistent with the terms of this Agreement with respect thereto in each case to the full extent of

such applicable law Executive will confirm any such waivers and consents from time to time as requested by the Company

Section Enforceability ana tceurmauou nevraurnIy

The Parties intend for all provisions of this Agreement to be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law Accordingly in the event that
any

provision or portion
of this Agreement is held to be illegal invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part for any reason under present or future law such

provision
shall be severable and the remainder thereof shall not be invalidated or rendered unenforceable or otherwise adversely affected Without limiting the

generality of the foregoing if court should deem
any provision of this Agreement to create restriction that is unreasonable as to scope duration or

geographical area or otherwise the Parties agree that the court may modity or blue pencil the provisions of this Agreement and that the provisions
shall be

enforceable in such scope for such duration and in such geographic area as any court having jurisdiction may determine to be the longest period and/or greatest

size permissible
and reasonable under the law

Section Injunctive
Relief

Without intending to limit the remedies available to the Company Executive acknowledges that breach of
any

of the covenants contained in this

Agreement may result in material irreparable injury to the Company for which there is no adequate remedy at law that it will not be possible to measure damages

for such injuries precisely and that in the event of such breach or threat thereof the Company shall be entitled to obtain temporary restraining order and/or

preliminary or permanent injunction without the necessity of proving irreparable
harm or injury ass result of such breach or threatened breach of this Agreement

restraining Executive from engaging in activities prohibited by this Agreement or such other relief as may be required specifically to enforce
any

of the covenants

in this Agreement Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary the Restricted Period shall be tolled during any period of violation of any of the covenants

in Section or Section hereof and during any other period required for litigation during which the Company seeks to enforce this covenant against Executive if

it is ultimately determined that Executive was in breach of such covenants



Section 10 Fees And Costs

If either Party
initiates

any
action or proceeding to enforce any of its rights hereunder or to seek damages for any violation hereof then the Parties

shall bear their respective costs and expenses of any such proceeding nrovided that in addition to all other remedies that may be granted the prevailing Party

shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys fees and all other costs that it may sustain in connection with such action or proceeding

Section II Successors and Assigns

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by and may be assigned by the Company to any purchaser of all or substantially all

of the Companys business or assets any successor to the Company or any assignee thereof whether direct or indirect by purchase merger consolidation or

otherwise

Section 12 Waiver and Amendments

Any waiver alteration amendment or modification of
any

of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in writing
and signed by the

parties hereto provided however that any
such waiver alteration amendment or modification is consented to on the Companys behalf by the Board No waiver

by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder shall be deemed to constitute waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions

hereunder unless such waiver specifically states that it is to be construed as continuing waiver

Section 13 Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina without giving effect to the choice of

law principles thereof applicable to contracts made and to be performed entirely within such state

Section 14 Section Headings

The headings of the sections and subsections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part thereof

or affect the meaning or interpretation
of this Agreement or of any term or provision

hereof

Section 15 Entire Agreement

This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the panics hereto regarding the subject matter hereof This Agreement

supersedes all prior negotiations discussions correspondence communications understandings and agreements between the parties relating to the subject matter

of this Agreement

Section 16 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts
each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together shall

constitute one and the same instrument The execution of this Agreement may be by actual or facsimile signature



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written

CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC

By Is Donald Bobbitt Jr

Name Donald Bobbitt Jr

Title CFO

EMPLOYEE

/s Brian Sharpe

BRIAN SHARPE



Exhibit 12.1

CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC AND
CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES PREDECESSOR

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS
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Our initial public offering was completed October 19 2010

Includes non-cash gain of approximately $6.6 million recognized in connection with the acquisition of our joint venture partners interest us The Grove at

Moscow and The Grove at Valdosta which if excluded would result in ratio of earnings to fixed charges of 1.11

Includes non-cash gain of approximately $3.2 million recognized in connection with the acquisition of our joint venture partners
interest in The Grove at

Huntsville and The Grove at Statesboro which if excluded would result in ratio of earnings to fixed charges of l.03x

Includes non-cash gain of approximately $0.6 million recognized in connection with the acquisition of our joint venture partners interest in The Grove at San

Marcos which if excluded would result in ratio of earnings to fixed charges of 0.33x

Represents an estimate based on the Companys and the Predecessors established depreciation policies and an analysis of capitalized interest

We issued preferred stock in February 2012 and October 2013

The shortfall of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends for Campus Crest Communities Inc for the period October 19 2010

through December 31 2010 was approximately $1.0 million and for Campus Crest Communities Predecessor for the period January 12010 through October

18 2010 and for the year
ended December 312009 was approximately $17.8 million and $13.8 million respectively



Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF CAMPUS CREST COMMUNITIES INC

Name

Campus Crest Communities GP LLC

Campus Crest Communities LP LLC

Campus Crest Communities Operating Partnership LP

Campus Crest Group LLC

Campus Crest at Asheville LLC

Campus Crest at Carrollton LLC

Campus Crest at Las Cruces LLC

Campus Crest at Milledgeville LLC

Campus Crest at Abilene LP

10 Campus Crest at Ellensburg LLC

Ii Campus Crest at Greeley LLC

12 Campus Crest at Jacksonville AL LLC

13 Campus Crest at Mobile LLC

14 Campus Crest at Mobile Phase II LLC

IS Campus Crest at Nacogdoches LP

16 Campus Crest at Cheney LLC

17 Campus Crest at Jonesboro LLC

18 Campus Crest at Lubbock LP

19 Campus Crest at Stephenville LP

20 Campus Crest at Troy LLC
21 Campus Crest at Waco LP

22 Campus Crest at Wichita LLC

23 Campus Crest at Wichita Falls LP

24 Campus Crest at Murfreesboro LLC

25 Campus Crest at San Marcos LP

26 Campus Crest GP LLC

27 The Grove Student Properties LLC

28 Campus Crest Construction LLC

29 Campus Crest Development LLC

30 Campus Crest Lease LLC

31 Campus Crest at San Marcos GP LLC

32 Campus Crest Properties
LLC

33 Campus Crest Ventures Ill LLC

34 HSRE-Campus Crest LLC

35 Campus Crest Springing Member LLC

36 Campus Crest Milledgeville Manager LLC

37 Campus Crest at Lawrence LLC

38 Campus Crest at Moscow LLC

39 Campus Crest at Statesboro LLC

40 Campus Crest at Conway LLC
41 Campus Crest at Huntsville LP

42 Campus Crest at San Angelo LP

43 HSRE-CC Huntsville GP LLC

State and Form of Organization

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

North Carolina Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Alabama Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

North Carolina Limited Liability Company

North Carolina Limited Liability Company

North Carolina Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

North Carolina Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company



Name

44 HSRE-Campus Crest GP LLC
45 The Grove Student Properties Inc

46 Campus Crest Construction Inc

47 Campus Crest Development Inc

48 Campus Crest Asheville Mansger LLC

49 Campus Crest Carroliton Manager LLC
50 Campus Crest Las Cruces Manager LLC

51 Campus Crest at Orono LLC
52 Campus Crest at Denton LP

53 Campus Crest at Clarksville LLC
54 Campus Crest at Fort Collins LLC

55 Campus Crest at Fort Wayne LLC

56 Campus Crest at Valdosta LLC
57 Campus Crest at Ames LLC
58 Campus Crest Springing Member II LLC

59 Campus Crest GP II LLC

60 Campus Crest Springing Partner LLC
61 Campus Crest Troy Lessor LLC

62 Campus Crest Cheney Lessor LLC

63 Campus Crest Murfreesboro Lessor LLC
64 Campus Crest Jonesboro Lessor LLC

65 Campus Crest Wichita Lessor LLC
66 Campus Crest Wichita Falls Lessor LLC

67 Campus Crest Waco Lessor LLC
68 Campus Crest Stephenville Lessor LLC

69 Campus Crest TRS Holdings Inc

70 HSRE-Campus Crest IV LLC
71 HSRE-Campus Crest Denton GP LLC
72 Campus Crest at Columbia LLC

73 CCC California LP

75 Campus Crest at San Angelo II LP

76 Campus Crest at San Angelo II GP LLC

77 Campus Crest at Auburn LLC
78 Campus Crest at Flagstaff LLC

79 Campus Crest at Flagstaff II LLC
80 Campus Crest at Huntsville LP

81 Campus Crest at Huntsville II LP

82 Campus Crest Springing Member Ill LLC
83 CCP NEWCO LLC
84 Campus Crest at Huntsville GP LLC

85 Campus Crest at Huntsville II GP LLC
86 HSRE-Campus Crest LLC

87 Campus Crest at Fayetteville LLC
88 Campus Crest at Stiliwater LLC

89 Campus Crest at Laramie LLC

90 Campus Crest Aviation LLC
91 HSRE-Campus Crest VI LLC

92 HSRE-Campus Crest IX LLC

State and Form of Organization

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Corporation

Delaware Corporation

Delaware Corporation

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Corporation

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited
Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

North Carolina Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company



Name

93 Campus Crest at Indiana LLC

94 Campus Crest at State College LLC
95 Campus Crest at Norman LLC

96 Chestnut Venture LLC

97 Campus Crest at Ames II LLC

98 Campus Crett at California LLC
99 Campus Crest at Grand Forks LLC

100 Campus Crest at Muncie LLC

101 Campus Crest at Philadelphia LLC

102 Campus Crest at Pullman LLC
103 Campus Crest at Pullman Il LLC

104 Campus Crest at Slippery Rock LLC

105 Campus Crest at State College 11 LLC

106 Campus Crest at Statesboro II LLC
107 Campus Crest at Tempe LLC

108 CC PA Holdco LLC

109 CC Philadelphia GP LLC

110 CC Philadelphia LP LLC

Ill Campus Crest at Nacogdoches II LP

112 Campus Crest at San Marcos 11 LP

State and Form of Organization

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Liability Company

Delaware Limited Partnership

Delaware Limited Partnership



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors

Campus Crest Communities Inc

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-3 as amended Nos 333-177648 333-177646 333-188144 and 333-

192413 and on Form S-8 No 333-169958 of Campus Crest Communities Inc of our reports dated March 32014 with respect to the consolidated balance

sheets of Campus Crest Communities Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive income loss changes in equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2013 and related financial

statement Schedule 111 real estate and accumulated depreciasion and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 which

reports appear
in the December 31 2013 annual report on Form 10-K of Campus Crest Communities Inc

/s KPMG LLP

Charlotte North Carolina

March 32014



Exhibit 31.1

By IsI Ted Rollins

Ted Rollins

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Certification Of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant To Section 302 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

Ted Rollins certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Campus Crest Communities Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or Omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements

made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present
in all material respects the financial

condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this
report

The registrants
other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls anti procedures as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-l5e and 15d-l5e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-l5f and 15d-l5f for the registrant

and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes
in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants
disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness ol

the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report

based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal

quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report

that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the

registrants
auditors and the audit committee of the registrants Board of Directors for persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process
summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the registrants
internal control over

financial reporting

Dated March 32014 _______________________________________________________________



Exhibit 31.2

Certification Of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant To Section 302 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

Donald Bobbifi Jr certifi that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Campus Crest Communities Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements

made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the penod covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the fmancial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present
in all material respects the financial

condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifiing
officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-l 5f and 5d- 151 for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to

provide
reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness ot

she disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants
internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal

quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certitying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the

registrants
auditors and the audit committee of the registrants Board of Directors for

persons performing the equivalent
functions

All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process
summarize and report

financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the registrants
internal control over

financial reporting

Dated March 2014 By Is Donald Bobbits Jr

Donald Bobbitt Jr

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant To 18 U.S.C Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Campus Crest Communities Inc the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31 2013 as

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report the undersigned officers of the Company certil pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 18 U.S.C Section 1350 that

the Report fuliy complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date March 2014 By 1sf Ted Rollins _________

Name Ted Rollins

Title Chief Executive Officer

By 1sf Donald Bobbiti Jr

Name Donald Bobbitt Jr

Title Chief Financial Officer
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Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio

Unaudited Combined Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses

For the Period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013

in thousands

Revennear

Student housing rentals 65969

Student housing services 5026

Total revenues 70995

Certain expenscs

Student housing operations
27087

Geneesi and administeation 218

Interest expense
21949

Totalcertalnexpenaea 51219

Revenues in excess of certain expenses
19776

See accompanying notes to the unaudited combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain expenses



Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio

Notes to Unaudited Combined Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses

For the Period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013

NOTE 1- ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Organization

Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio the CB Portfolio consists of group of student rental townhome communities As of December 31

2013 Campus Crest Communities Inc Campus Crest has acquired an equity interest or has an option to acquire an equity interest in the individual entities that

own the townhome communities Each townhome community is held in separate entity with varied ownership and ownership percentages Certain entities own

and consolidate special-purpose entities that were formed to facilitate borrowings under their respective loans The CB Portfolio also includes entities that own

the corporate headquarters
and provide management and administrative services to the properties All of the CB Portfolio entities are under common

management

Campus Crest has the option to acquire all of the ownership of the CB Portfolio by March 2016 through
series of

step acquisitions

Description of Business

The CB Portfolio consists of student rental townhome communities in eighteen geographic markets in the United States spanning thirteen states The CR

Portfolio comprises approximately 6200 rentable units with spproximately 16700 rentable beds located close to college campuses As of December 31 2013 the

CIt Portfolio included developments in the following markets of which certain markets are served by multiple properties

Educational Institution Initial Year in Market

State College PA Penn State University 1996

Harrisonburg VA James Madison University 2000

Indiana PA Indiana University of Pennsylvania 2000

Radford VA Radford University
2002

West Lafayette IN Purdue University 2003

Bloomington IN Indiana University 2005

Mt Pleasant Ml Central Michigan University 2005

Bowling Green OH Bowling Green State University
2005

Fresno CA California State University Fresno 2006

Allendale Ml Grand Valley State University 2006

Columbia MO University of Missouri 2006

Kalamazoo Ml Western Michigan University
2007

Columbia SC University of South Carolina 2007

Statesboro GA Georgia Southern University 2007

Greenville NC East Carolina University
2008

Morgantown WV West Virginia University 2009

Auburn AL Auburn University
2009

San Marcos TX Texas State University 2010

During 2013 all of the properties were operating during the entire
year

with the exception of two property expansions that were under construction during

the year and opened in August 2013 Another student rental townhome community was started in Ames Iowa in 2013 and is expected to be in operation in 2014

The Ames development is jointly owned by the CR Portfolio 33% and Campus Crest 67% and is under common management with the other entities in the CB

Portfolio

-2-



Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio

Notes to Unaudited Combined Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses Continued

For the period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013

NOTE 2-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain
expenses

for the period from March 182013 to December 31 2013 was

prepared for the purpose of inclusion in the Form 10-K of Campus Crest to comply with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange

Commission The combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain expenses is not intended to be complete presentation
of the actual operations of the

CB Portfolio for the period presented as certain expenses have been excluded such as depreciation and amortization and certain owner expenses that are not

attributable to Campus Crest and the ongoing operations of the CB Portfolio Management is not aware of any material factors relating to the properties that

would cause the reported financial information not to be indicative of future operating
results

As of December 31 2013 the CB Portfolio consists of entities in which Campus Crest has an ownership interest or an option to acquire an ownership

interest Before Campus Crest acquired its ownership interests in 2013 all of the CR Portfolio entities were under common management and control The

accompanying combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain expenses includes the accounts of the CB Portfolio and all significant intercompany

activity among the combined and consolidated entities have been eliminated

Aside from the CB Portfolios strategic focus in the student rental market there are no material concentrations of tenants throughout the properties

Use of Estimates

The preparation of combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain
expenses

in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of combined and consolidated revenue and certain expenses Actual

results could differ from those estimates

Revenue Recognition

Tenants primarily students are required to execute lease contracts with monthly payment schedules Rental revenue is recognized on straight-line basis

over the term of the respective leases Generally each executed lease is required to be accompanied by signed parental guaranty Service revenue is recognized

when eamed

Student Housing Operating Expenses

Student housing operating expenses represent the direct expenses
of operating the properties and consist primarily of payroll utilities repairs and

maintenance insurance property taxes and other operating expenses

Certain costs such as interest property taxes and insurance are capitalized during the construction period Upon the property being placed
in service for

tenant use any such subsequent costs are recorded as operating expenses in the period in which they are incurred

Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims assessments litigation fines penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable that

liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably estimated Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed

as incurred

Management is not aware of any other material litigation nor to managements knowledge is any material litigation currently threatened against the CB

Portfolio other than routine litigation claims and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business



Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio

Notes to Unaudited Combined Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses Continued

For the period from March 18201310 December 31 2013

NOTE 3- LONG-TERM DEBT AND INTEREST EXPENSE

The CB Portfolios combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain expenses includes interest expense of approximately
$21.9 million for the

period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013 Loans with carrying amount of $482.1 million are outstanding at December 31 2013 These loans are

typically
secured by the underlying properties The loans earsy

various maturity dates and fixed and variable interest rates ranging from 2.8% to 6.3%

Also included in interest
expense

in the CB Portfolios combined consolidated statement of revenues and certain expenses is approximately $0.2 million

resulting
from three lines of credit totaling $6.5 million with variable interest rates ranging from 3.6% to 4.3% as of December 31 2013 Approximately $0.3

million of these lines was unused and available for borrowing at December 31 2013

The following summarizes the key elements of the long-term debt expected to remain within the CB Portfolio

in thousands

March 18 2013 December 31 2013

Entity Maturity Carrying Amount _ying amount Interesi

CBI 02/2016 5109 5055 5.61%

CR2 08/2019 8.642 8.561 5.97%

CB1tI 10/2020 5.716 5655 4.99%

CBTC3 06/2014 6.443 6.443 5.02%

CBTC4 10/2015 6.066 6004 5.90/o

CBTC7 11/2016 12.207 12.096 5.99%

CBTC1O 10/2015 18890 18639 5.24%

BTCl 10/2014 14.406 14.406 5.23%

cBTCI2 10/2016 10690 10596 6.22%

CBTCI3 10/2015 18.757 18518 5.47%

CBTCI5 10/2015 12.596 12461 5.63%

CBTCI6 10/2016 23388 23.172 5.98%

CBTC2O 10/2016 24132 23920 6.22%

cBrC2l 10/2017 10.843 30.568 5.81%

BTC23 10/2017 30296 30.026 5.81%

CBTC24 09/2017 11.831 11.734 6.27%

cBTC25 09/2017 36.730 6.432 6.27%

CBFC27 10/2020 8.044 7.959 5.68%

CBTC3O 09/2020 47878 47402 5.34%

CBTC3I open ended 1.500 1.500 Prime

CBTC32 08/2020 6080 6012 5.14%

CBTC36 11/2014 9.401 LIBOR plus 25%

12.7953% at December31 2013

CBTC38 02/2015 9.817 LIBOR plus 2.5%

2.7953% at December 3l 2013

CBCA 05/2014 162 50 IBOR plus 3%

3.2953% at December 31 2013

Various 06/2016 117.257 116.018 645%

Various 06/2016 9771 9668 5.45%

467433 482.112

The CBTC3 loan is from member of that entity
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Copper Beech Townhome Communities Portfolio

Notes to Unaudited Combined Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses Continued

For the period from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013

NOTE 4- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The CD Portfolio pays
certain aircraft expenses to an affiliate for amounts associated with the use of an aircraft Such

expenses
for the period from March 18

2013 to December 312013 totaled approximately $0.2 million

NOTES-TAXES

The entities comprising the CB Portfolio are primarily organized as pass-through entities partnerships and limited liability companies for income tax

purposes As such no provision for income taxes is recognized for these entities in the combined consolidated statement These entities owners are responsible to

report their allocable shares of taxable income and losses on their respective tax returns

Management evaluates the uncertainties of tax positions taken or expected to be taken based on the probability of whether it is more-likely than-not the

positions will be sustained upon audit based on technical merit for open tax years Management concluded that there are no material uncertain tax liabilities to be

recognized or disclosed The policy is if
necessary

to account for interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions as component of general and administrative

expense

CB-Carnpus Crest Services LLC was established by the CB Portfolio with Campus Crest in 2013 as Taxable REIT Subsidiary TRS The ownership of the

TRS is Consistent with the ownership of the CD Portfolio The IRS is used to capture costs associated with certain activities that benefit the CB Ponfolio and are

then billed back to the operating
entities to preserve

real estate investment trust REIT status The income taxes attributable to the TRS are not significant for the

period
from March 18 2013 to December 31 2013

NOTE 6- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Events occurring through February 28 2014 have been evaluated for potential recognition or disclosure in the combined consolidated statement of revenues

and certain expenses the date the combined consolidated financial statement was available to be issued No events requiring
disclosure in or adjustment to the

combined consolidated financial statement were noted


